# Retinal stem cells: expansion and progeny characterization

by

Tahani Baakdhah

A thesis submitted in conformity with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Graduate Department of the Institute of Medical Science in the University of Toronto

© Copyright by Tahani Baakdhah 2021

#### Retinal stem cells: expansion and progeny characterization

### PhD Thesis by Tahani Baakdhah Institute of Medical Science, University of Toronto, 2021

#### Abstract

Growing retinal stem cell (RSC) clonal spheres in traditional static culture is associated with low expansion rate and poor survival attributed to loss of cells during the enzymatic dissociation steps. Another problematic issue is the difficulty to mimic *in vivo* stem cell niche conditions. Using our traditional lab protocol, only 0.2% of the pigmented ciliary epithelium cells (CE) give rise to floating RSC clonal spheres in serum free conditions. These issues have hindered our ability to study the signaling pathways governing RSC proliferation and expansion *in vitro*.

To overcome these limitations, I used microcarriers (MCs) in a suspension stirring bioreactor (SSB) to help achieve sufficient numbers suitable for differentiation and transplantation. Using this new protocol, I achieved a significant (10-fold) enrichment of RSC yield compared to conventional static culture techniques using a combination of FACTIII MCs and relative hypoxia (5%) inside the bioreactor. My work showed that hypoxia (5% O<sub>2</sub>) was associated with better RSC expansion across all platforms which was attributed to hypoxia-induced boosting survival and/or symmetric division of stem cells.

RSC spheres were thought to be unvaried and were randomly picked and placed on laminin extracellular matrix (ECM) in static plates. In my work, I found noticeable variance in the pigment distribution between RSC spheres which led me to categorize them into three different groups according to their pigmentation, I also noted that this variance in pigment level and distribution was associated with contrasting differentiation potentials. RSCs were classified into three morphological groups: heavily pigmented (HP), lightly pigmented (LP) and centrally pigmented (CP) spheres. Unlike the other two sphere types, CP spheres were capable of producing highly proliferative progenitors (producing large number of cobblestone-like cell lawns) in adherent culture that differentiate into retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) cells. I found that the individual stem cells that (clonally) formed the three sphere types appear homogeneous, but it is their downstream progenitors that are different. I showed that CP spheres contain a population of early RPE progenitors that respond to proliferative signals from the surrounding non-pigmented neural retinal cells while The HP and LP spheres do not respond to these signals.

### Acknowledgements

The most important thing I learned during my PhD journey was resilience. It taught me not to let difficulties and failures overcome my passion for science and to stand back up stronger than before after every setback. The work in this thesis would not have been possible without the inspiration, support and cooperation of some of the most extraordinary people around; my thanks and appreciation to all of them for being part of this journey and making this thesis possible.

Foremost, I would like to express my deep and sincere gratitude to my advisor Prof. Derek van der Kooy for the continuous support of my PhD study and research, for his patience, motivation, enthusiasm, and immense knowledge. His dynamism, vision, sincerity and motivation have deeply inspired me. His guidance helped me in all the time of research and writing of this thesis. I will not forget him visiting my craft market show, supporting my science artwork, sharing motivational science craft articles and criticizing my crochet work whenever I reach out for his opinion. I could not have imagined having a better advisor and mentor for my PhD study.

Next to my advisor, I would like to thank the rest of my thesis committee: Prof. Valerie Wallace and Prof. Peter Zandstra for their encouragement, insightful comments, and, sometimes, hard questions!

This thesis work is dedicated to my husband, Wael, who has been a constant source of support and encouragement during the challenges of graduate school and life. Wael: my deepest gratitude. Your encouragement when the times got rough are much appreciated. You supported me without any complaint or regret and enabled me to complete my PhD thesis.

I would like to thank my kids Maria, Ahmad and Hashim for their patience, love and encouragement. Their little words and innocent smiles were the fuel for me to do my best. To Maria the flower that bloomed during my PhD, your smiling face always made me happy and inspired me. To Hashim thank you son for always being my best friend and for listening to me whenever I needed. Your love and care meant a lot to me. To Ahmad for all the laughs, fun and happy moments.

I am extremely grateful to my parents Waheeb and Amal for their love, prayers and support throughout my life. Thank you both for giving me strength to reach for the stars and chase my dreams. Words can not express how grateful I am to my mother-in law, sister-in-law and brothers-in-law. Your support, love, encourgment.and prayers were what sustained me thus far.

For my grandma uncle and brother in law, I did not have the chance to say goodbye. May Allah rest your souls in peace.

My completion of this project could not have been accomplished without the support of my lab members and classmates, To all the van der Kooy (old and new) lab members, your support and encouragement during breakfast club, stemmies meetings, retinoid meetings, journal club, and Medicine by Design retinal meetings was worth more than I can express in writing. Thanks for the great discussion and the constructive feedback. Special thanks to our lab manger Brenda Coles for training me on retinal dissection and for assisting with lab experiments. Thanks, Brenda, for listening to me whenever I needed to vent. I would like also to thank Dionne White from the FACS facility for sharing her expertise and helping me in sorting my cells.

I am grateful for the online science communication community, their motivation, inspiration and energy are contagious. Big thanks for my lab mate Samantha Yammine for introducing me to this amazing community and for supporting my shy few first steps in scicomm. Thanks to Scicomm Toronto group for encouraging me to use my crochet skills in science communication. I crocheted the retina and attended many events explaining my research using these models. Sciart became part of my life and I hope to create more models and publish more books in the future. I am thankful for Nika Shakiba for giving me the chance to crochet "Stem cell talk" speakers' gift and for Krista Lamb for always challenging my crochet skills with complex designs.

My journey at the IMS is unforgettable. At the IMS, I always felt surrounded by family. I got support whenever I needed it, everyone within the institute was willing to listen, guide and help to the best of their ability. Even during the most difficult days in my PhD, they got my back and kept me standing. I will not forget when they featured my science art crochet work on their website or when they invited me to crochet the IMS 50 speaker's gift, a special moment motivated inspire others. that me keep doing better and to Finally, I thank God for always being with me.

"Everything is theoretically impossible, until it is done." – Robert A. Heinlein.

V

### Contributions

## Chapter 2

Tahani Baakdhah and Derek van der Kooy designed the experiments. Tahani Baakdhah preformed the experiments and analyzed the data. Tahani Baakdhah wrote the manuscript and Derek van der Kooy revised the manuscript.

### Chapter 3

Tahani Baakdhah and Derek van der Kooy designed the experiments. Tahnai Baakdhah. performed the experiments. Brenda Coles assisted in the dissection for the data presented in Figure 3.4, A-12, A-13,A-14 and A-15. Tahani Baakdhah analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. Derek van der Kooy and van der Kooy's lab members revised the manuscript.

# Table of contents

| Abstract  | II            |
|---|---------------|
| Acknowledgements  | IV            |
| Contributions   | VI            |
| Table of contents   | VII           |
| List of Figures   | X             |
| List of Tables  | XI            |
| List of Appendices  | XI            |
| List of Abbreviations   | XII           |
| Chapter 1: General introduction   | 1             |
| 1.1 Eye development   | 2             |
| 1.2 The retina  | 8             |
| 1.3 Retinal stem cells  | 14            |
| 1.4 Heterogeneity of retinal stem cells and progenitors                       | 17            |
| 1.5 Development and Differentiation of Retinal Pigment Epithelium             | 23            |
| 1.6 Static culture  |               |
| 1.7 Bioreactors   |               |
| 1.8 Microcarriers   | 35            |
| 1.9 Aim and research summary  |               |
| Chapter 2: Expansion of Retinal Stem Cells and their Progeny Using Cell Micro | carriers in a |
| Bioreactor  |               |
| 2.1 Abstract  |               |
| 2.2 Introduction  | 41            |
| 2.3 Materials and Methods   |               |
| 2.3.1 Mouse Strain  |               |
| 2.3.2 Primary cell isolation and culture                                      |               |
| 2.3.3 Bioreactor preparation  |               |
| 2.3.4 Tertiary RSC Clonal Sphere Assays                                       | 45            |
| 2.3.5 Cells counts and viability  | 45            |
| 2.3.6 Flow cytometry  | 45            |
| 2.3.7 Microcarrier Surface Screening  | 45            |
| 2.3.8 Continuous versus intermittent Agitation                                |               |
| 2.3.9 Low versus High Seeding Density   |               |
| 2.3. 10 1xTryplE versus 10x TryplE  | 47            |
| 2.3.11 RSC Differentiation and Immunostaining                                 | 47            |

| 2.3.12 Statistics   | 47         |
|---|------------|
| 2.4 Results and discussion  | 48         |
| 2.4.1 A lower agitation rate increased the yield of RSCs by 8 times over faster agita   | tion48     |
| 2.4.2 Hypoxia (5% $O_2$ ) increased the survival and the symmetric division of RSCs was no effect on proliferation rate                               | with<br>51 |
| 2.4.3 A specific cell microcarrier resulted in a 5-fold increase in clonal RSC spheres compared to SSB alone and a 10-fold compared to static culture | s<br>57    |
| 2.4.4 Bioreactor derived RSCs differentiate effectively to rod photoreceptors using Retinoic acid and Taurine   | 62         |
| 2.5 Conclusion  | 62         |
| Chapter 3: A Subset of Clonal Retinal Stem Cell Spheres is Biased to RPE Differentiation  | on 64      |
| 3.1 Abstract  | 65         |
| 3.2 Introduction  | 66         |
| 3.3 Methods   | 66         |
| 3.3.1 Mouse and human eyes source   | 67         |
| 3.3.2 Clonal RSC spheres assay  | 67         |
| 3.3.3 RSC sphere type identification and characteristics  | 68         |
| 3.3.4 Sphere Sections   | 68         |
| 3.3.5 FACS Sorting  | 68         |
| 3.3.6 RSC Differentiation and Immunostaining  | 69         |
| 3.3.7 RNA Extraction and Q-PCR  | 69         |
| 3.3.8 Knockdown of claudin-1  | 70         |
| 3.3.9 Statistics  | 70         |
| 3.4 Results and discussion  | 71         |
| 3.4.1 All RSC clonal sphere types are derived from the same parent stem cell  | 74         |
| 3.4.2 Cobblestone morphologies are observed only with differentiated CP spheres   | 74         |
| 3.4.3 Cobblestone cells express RPE markers   | 75         |
| 3.4.4 Early RPE progenitors proliferate in response to extrinsic signals received from NR cells   | m<br>78    |
| Chapter 4: General discussion   | 82         |
| 4.1 Expansion of retinal stem cells   | 83         |
| 4.1.1 Why do we need to expand RSCs?  | 83         |
| 4.1.2 Rational and challenges   | 83         |
| 4.2 Methods of RSC expansion  | 85         |
| 4.2.1 Effect of mitogens on RSC expansion   | 85         |
| 4.2.2 Gene knockout   | 85         |

| 4.2.3 Retinal organoids                             | 86  |
|---|-----|
| 4.3 Stem cell niche and its effect on RSC expansion |     |
| 4.3.1 Definition of stem cells niche                |     |
| 4.3.2 Structure of the niche                        |     |
| 4.3.3 Niche factors                                 | 89  |
| 4.3.4 RSC niche                                     | 90  |
| 4.3.5 Effect of oxygen on stem cell expansion       | 93  |
| 4.4 Conclusion                                      | 94  |
| 4.5 Future direction                                | 96  |
| Appendix A  |     |
| References  | 117 |

# List of Figures

| <b>C1</b> |   |   |
|-----------|---|---|
| ( 'hanter |   | ٠ |
| Chapter   | т | ٠ |
| 1         |   |   |

| 1   |   |
|---|---|
| Figure 1.1: Embryonic eye development                                     |   |
| Figure 1.2: Network of transcription factors that establish the eye field |   |
| Figure 1.3: Retinal cells distribution throughout the retina              | 9 |
| Figure 1.4: Localisation of retinal stem cells in various vertebrates     |   |
| Figure 1.5: RSCs mode of division.  |   |
| Figure 1.6: Different roles the RPE cells play to support the retina      |   |
| Figure 1.7: Growth-factor signaling and secretion in the RPE              |   |
| Figure 1.8: Stirring suspension bioreactor system                         |   |
|   |   |

Chapter 2:

| Figure 2.1: Viability of RSCs and their progeny in spinning suspension (50 rpm and 80 rp   | )m) |
|--|-----|
| vs stationary cultures.  | 50  |
| Figure 2.2: Tertiary clonal RSC sphere assays  | 52  |
| Figure 2.3: Growth Kinetics of RSCs grown in hypoxic and normoxic SSB, and static          |     |
| conditions   | 54  |
| Figure 2.4: Effects of hypoxia on RSCs (symmetrical division rather than proliferation)    | 56  |
| Figure 2.5: Microcarrier screening and testing under different agitation and oxygen tensio | n.  |
|  | 59  |
| Figure 2.6: Comparison between RSCs expansion in static, SSB and MC cultures               | 61  |

Chapter 3:

# List of Tables

# Chapter 1:

| Table 1.1: Temporal order of generation of mammalian retinal cell types and       |      |
|---|------|
| Transcription factors required for the development of specific retinal cell types | . 19 |
| Table 1.2: Different types of bioreactors and their applications.                 | . 34 |

# Chapter 2:

Table 2.1: Retinal stem cell growth compared using three different microcarrier types. ...... 57

# List of Appendices

| Appendix A.                    |    |
|--------------------------------|----|
| List of supplementary figures. | 99 |

### List of Abbreviations

AIF Apoptosis-inducing factor BDNF Brain-derived neurotrophic factor BMP Bone morphogenetic protein BrdU Bromo-deoxyuridine Casz1 castor **CB** Ciliary body CE Ciliary epithelium CER1 Cerberus 1 CGZ Circumferential germinal zone Chx10 Ceh-10 homeodomain containing homolog, also known as Vsx2 CKIs Cyclin kinase inhibitors CMZ Ciliary marginal zone CNS Central nervous system CNTF Ciliary neurotrophic factor CP Centrally pigmented CRABP Retinaldehyde-binding protein CSF Cerebrospinal fluid Crx Cone-rod homeobox DMEM Dulbecco's modified eagle medium E Embryonic EB Embryoid body EGF Epidermal growth factor EM Electron microscopy ERG Electoretinography ESC Embryonic stem cell eGFP Enhanced green fluorescent protein eYFP Enhanced yellow fluorescent protein FACS Fluorescence-activated cell sorting FBS Fetal bovine serum FGF Fibroblast growth factor FITC Fluorescein isothiocyanate GCL Ganglion cell layer GFP Green fluorescent protein GMEM Glasgow minimum essential medium H Heparin Hes Hairy and enhancer of split HIF Hypoxia-inducible factor hMSCs Human müller glia stem cells HP Heavily pigmented HSC Hematopoietic stem cell IGF Insulin-like growth factor Ikzf1 Ikaros INL Inner nuclear layer IPL Inner plexiform layer iPSC Induced pluripotent stem cell IRBP Interphotoreceptor retinoid binding protein LEDGF Lens epithelium-derived growth factor LEF Lymphoid enhancer factor Lhx2 LIM Homeobox 2 LP Lightly pigmented

LP Lens placode LRAT Lecithin retinol transferase m Mouse Mab21 Male-abnormal 21 **MCs** Microcarriers MerTK MER proto-oncogene tyrosine kinase Mitf Microphthalmia-associated transcription factor NR Neural retina Nrl Neural retina-specific leucine zipper OC Optic cup OFL Optic fiber layer ONL Outer nuclear layer OPL Outer plexiform layer **OS** Optic stalk Otx2 Orthodenticle Homeobox 2 **OV** Optic vesicle P Postnatal day PAR Polarity protein Pax6 Paired box gene 6 Pax2 Paired box gene 2 **PBS** Phosphate-buffered saline PCM Pigmented ciliary margin PDGF Platelet-derived growth factor PC Primordial germ cell PEDF Pigment epithelium-derived factor **PRs** Photoreceptors RA Retinoic acid RAR Retinoic acid receptor Raldh Retinaldehyde dehydrogenase **Rb** Retinoblastoma **RDH** Retinol dehydrogenase **RNA** Ribonucleic acid **RPCs** Retinal progenitor cells **RPE** Retinal pigmented epithelium **RSC** Retinal stem cell **RT-PCR** Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction **RXR** Retinoid X receptor Rx/Rax Retina and anterior neural fold homeobox SEM Standard error of the mean sFRP Frizzled-related protein Shh Sonic hedgehog Six3 SIX Homeobox 3 Sox SRY-box containing gene SSB Stirring suspension bioreactor TCF T-cell factor TGF Transforming growth factor TIM Tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloprotease TNF Tumor necrosis factor VEGF Vascular endothelial growth factor Wnt Wingless-related MMTV integration site YFP Yellow fluorescent protein ZO Zonula occludens

# **Chapter 1: General introduction**

#### **1.1 Eye development**

The vertebrate eye is formed through coordinated interactions between neuroepithelium, surface ectoderm and extraocular mesenchyme which originates from two sources: neural crest and mesoderm (Cvekl & Tamm, 2004; Gage, Rhoades, Prucka, & Hjalt, 2005; Sevel, 1981). After the establishment of the three germ layers during gastrulation, the notochord induces the formation of neural tube within the overlying ectoderm. The neuroepithelium undergoes massive nonuniform cell proliferation, which establishes the three primary brain vesicles, the forebrain (prosencephalon), midbrain (mesencephalon), and hindbrain (rhombencephalon). In the forebrain, eye development begins as a single eye field located in the anterior neural plate which then splits into two lateral fields through the activation of the sonic hedgehog gene (Shh) by the prechordal plate and the ventral midline of the diencephalon which, in turn, down regulate Pax6 (The paired box gene) expression in the midline and the single eye field splits into two separate eye fields, located on either side of the diencephalon (Adelmann', 1929; Chow & Lang, 2001; Loosli, Köster, Carl, Krone, & Wittbrodt, 1998; Sinn & Wittbrodt, 2013). As the lateral walls of the diencephalon begin to bulge out during neurulation, the eye primordium becomes grossly identifiable as the optic pit around E8.5 in mouse (day 22 of gestation in human). By E9 (day 24 of gestation in human), the optic pits will enlarge to form the optic vesicles (OV) which is connected to the brain by a thinner optic stalk (OS). The distal end of the optic vesicle will finally induce the non-neural ectodermal surface to form the lens and cornea (Chow & Lang, 2001; Grainger, 1992; Henry et al., 2002). This early induction signal to the non-neural ectoderm operates to induce the lens placode (LP), which in turn reciprocally induces the OV to invaginate and transform into optic cup (OC) as well as to form the lens vesicle starting at E10 (30 days' gestation in human). The outer layer of the bi-layered OC will form the retinal pigmented epithelium (RPE), the inner layer forms the neural retina (NR) (Hirashima, Kobayashi, Uchikawa, Kondoh, & Araki, 2008; Kagiyama et al., 2005). The transitional area between the two regions forms the ciliary body (CB) and iris (Gilbert, 2011; Graw, 2010; Kaufman, 1992) (Figure 1.1). However, this is not always the case, as was shown by a study using three-dimensional culture of mouse embryonic stem cell aggregates to derive hollowed spheres of neuroepithelium containing Rax-positive domains. Many of these regions spontaneously invaginated to form the OC in the absence of a lens or ectodermal tissue (Eiraku et al., 2011). Conversely, the apposition of the LP and the OV appears to be important for placode invagination and lens formation (Chauhan et al., 2009; Graw, 2010; Streit, 2007).



Figure 1.1: Embryonic eye development.

Normal eye development proceeds through several steps: at E 8.5 the diencephalon evaginates to form the optic vesicle. The optic vesicle then contacts the lens placode (E 9). The lens vesicle begins to invaginate at E 10 concomitantly with the distal tip of the optic vesicle. Later the optic vesicle will invaginate, forming the optic cup (E 10.5).

A set of transcription factors has been first identified in Xenopus that defines the eye field within the anterior neural plate (Zuber, Gestri, Viczian, Barsacchi, & Harris, 2003) but these factors were found to be highly conserved throughout vertebrates (Achberger, Haderspeck, Kleger, & Liebau, 2018; Lee et al., 2006; Mellough et al., 2019; K. B. Moore, Mood, Daar, & Moody, 2004; Zaghloul, Yan, & Moody, 2005) (Figure 1.2). These factors include: Otx2, Sox2, Rax, Lhx2, Pax6 and Six3.



Figure 1.2: Network of transcription factors that establish the eye field.

The neural ectoderm transcription factors Sox2 and Otx2 activate Rax expression in the prospective eye field, which is located in the ventral forebrain. Rax is required for the up regulation of the EFTFs Lhx2, Pax6, and Six3 in the eye field. Lhx2 coregulate the expression of Rax, Pax6, and Six3 in the eye field. The EFTFs then coordinate the cell's intrinsic and extrinsic signaling pathways that regionalize the optic vesicle along its axes.

The homeodomain transcription factor Otx2 is required for the specification of the forebrain, and allows the neural plate to become competent for eye development by coordinating the expression of eye field initiators Six3, Rax, and Pax6 (Chow & Lang, 2001; Chuang & Raymond, 2002; Danno et al., 2008; Loosli et al., 1998; Satou et al., 2018; Sinn & Wittbrodt, 2013; Zagozewski, Zhang, & Eisenstat, 2014; Zuber et al., 2003). Together with Sox2 they activate the Rax gene during early retinal development (Danno et al., 2008). Afterward, Rax will downregulate Otx2 expression in the developing optic vesicle (Furukawa, Kozak, & Cepko, 1997; Muranishi et al., 2011). Otx2 will then regulate RPE specification (Martinez-Morales, Signore, Acampora, Simeone, & Bovolenta, 2001) and photoreceptor and bipolar cell (BP) differentiation and maturation (Koike et al., 2007; Nishida et al., 2003; Sato et al., 2007). After birth, Otx2 expression in photoreceptor cells is significantly downregulated when retinal BP cells begin expressing Otx2 in the postnatal retina (Muranishi et al., 2011), Otx2expression will be maintained in RPE and BP cells throughout life (Fossat et al., 2007). Mutations of this gene in humans have been linked to ocular malformation including retinal dystrophy and photoreceptor degeneration, pituitary defects and mental retardation (Abdalla-Elsayed, Schatz, Neuhaus, & Khan, 2017; Béby et al., 2010).

Sox2 - a member of the SoxB1 family of transcription factors is initially expressed in the anterior neural plate and optic vesicle. Its expression in the OV is eventually restricted to the progenitor cells of the neural retina and then to amacrine cells and Müller glial cells (Lin, Ouchi, Satoh, & Watanabe, 2009). During early eye field specification phase, *Sox2* works synergistically with *Otx2* to activate the *Rax* gene (Danno et al., 2008; Pevny & Placzek, 2005; Van Raay et al., 2005). Next, *Sox2* antagonizes canonical WNT signaling to maintain neurogenic fate in the mouse OC where its expression will be restricted to the presumptive NR (Heavner, Andoniadou, & Pevny, 2014). Ablation of *Sox2* in OC progenitor cells resulted in loss of neural competence and cell fate conversion of the NR to CE primordium accompanied by an increase in WNT signaling but no retinal dystrophy phenotype observed (Matsushima, Heavner, & Pevny, 2011). *Sox2* mutations are associated with anophthalmia (absent eye) and account for 10 to 20% of cases of severe bilateral ocular malformation, including microphthalmia (small eye) (Fantes et al., 2003; Ragge et al., 2005).

The retinal homeodomain transcription factor Rx/Rax is a master key regulator in eye field development that is conserved among all vertebrates (Andreazzoli, Gestri, Angeloni, Menna, & Barsacchi, 1999; Kennedy et al., 2004; Mathers, Grinberg, Mahon, & Jamrich, 1997a). Once activated by Sox2 and Otx2 (Danno et al., 2008), Rax will promote the expression of other key regulators of early eye formation such as Lhx2, Pax6, Mab2112, and Six3 to control retinal progenitor cells (RPCs) specification in the optic vesicle. Rax participates in suppressing the canonical Wnt pathway with the help of Six3 to prevent the induction of posterior fates of the anterior neural plate in-order to activate Shh signalling in the ventral midline and facilitate midline division and the formation of bilateral visual field (Fuhrmann, 2008a). It also promotes noncanonical Wnt signaling that controls morphogenetic movements of ocular cells and works in different pathways to promote the formation and/or maintenance of the eye field (Martínez-Morales et al., 2003; Maurus, Héligon, Bürger-Schwärzler, Brändli, & Kühl, 2005). Null or hypomorphic Rx alleles display anophthalmia in humans (RAX), mouse (Rax), frog (Rx1), zebrafish (Rx3/chokh), and medaka (eyeless), indicating that *Rax* genes are essential for early eye development (Harding & Moosajee, 2019; Loosli et al., 2003; Tucker et al., 2001; Voronina et al., 2004).

Lhx2 (LIM homeobox transcription factor) is required in the early optic vesicle development for specification into both neural retina and RPE and to regulate optic cup formation (Porter et al., 1997; Roy et al., 2013; Zuber et al., 2003). Lhx2 has many roles including: 1) regulating OV regionalization, patterning, and lens formation (Sanghee Yun et al., 2009). 2) it is important for the expression of certain EFTFs (such as, *Rax, Pax6*, and *Six3*) at the anterior

neural plate stage and the expression of regional retinal markers like Mitf, Chx10 and Pax2 (S. Yun et al., 2009; Zuber et al., 2003). 3) initiating expression of *Bmp4* and *Bmp7* in the optic vesicle (Hägglund, Dahl, & Carlsson, 2011). Bmp4 is expressed in the distal OV, whereas Bmp7 is enriched in surface ectoderm and the dorsal OV (Dudley & Robertson, 1997; Furuta & Hogan, 1998; Müller, Rohrer, & Vogel-Höpker, 2007). Distal OV-enriched Bmp4 is especially crucial for lens induction, and Bmp7 is essential in facilitating OV-LP interaction for eye morphogenesis. Bmp4 expression requires maintained Lhx2 expression in the eye committed progenitor cells whereas Bmp7 expression appears to not be dependent on maintained *Lhx2* expression (Hägglund et al., 2011). 4) promoting the expression of Wnt and Bmp signaling antagonist Cerberus 1 (CER1) in the optic cup to regulate the neural differentiation (Hou et al., 2013; S. Yun et al., 2009). 5) promoting maintenance of stem cells and progenitors and preventing premature differentiation (Gordon et al., 2013; Hägglund et al., 2011). 6) Lhx2 is required for Six6 expression initiation in the optic vesicle. Lhx2 and Pax6 are genetically required for Six6 expression and can cooperate to trans-activate the Six6 gene synergistically (Tétreault, Champagne, & Bernier, 2009). During embryonic development Lhx2 was found to be expressed in most, if not all, RPCs within the neuroblast layer of the retina, as well as in the retinal pigment epithelium. Postnatally, expression was maintained in müller glia and a subset of amacrine cells (de Melo et al., 2018, 2016). In Lhx2 mouse mutants, expression of other eye field transcription factors initiates normally, but eye development arrests at the optic vesicle stage, and the lens fails to form (Porter et al., 1997; Tétreault et al., 2009; S. Yun et al., 2009), a more detailed analysis revealed that expression of optic vesicle regional patterning markers is severely disturbed, for example, the expression of *Mitf*, *Chx10* is never initiated, while expression of Pax2 and Rax is initiated but not maintained (S. Yun et al., 2009).

The progression from the optic vesicle to the optic cup requires the expression of *Lhx2* and the action of retinoic acid. Retinoic acid (RA) signaling is required for the optic cup morphogenesis and ventral invagination of the optic cup. This step is controlled by Retinaldehyde dehydrogenases (Raldh1, 2, 3) where both mediate the final step of retinoic acid synthesis. *Raldh2* is present in the mesenchyme and *Raldh3* is expressed in the RPE (Duester, 2008; Molotkov, Molotkova, & Duester, 2006). At later stages, *Raldh1* expressed in dorsal neural retina and *Raldh3* expressed in ventral neural retina (Molotkov et al., 2006). In the developing OC the relationship between Chx10 and Mitf defines the boundaries between NR and RPE (Horsford, 2004; Nguyen & Arnheiter, 2000) while the relation between Pax2

and Pax6 establish the boundary between the optic stalk and the NR (Heavner & Pevny, 2012; Morcillo et al., 2006).

NR/RPE margin is established through the initial expression of *Mitf* throughout the dorsal OV, but *Mitf* becomes down-regulated distally upon the expression of *Chx10* (Nguyen & Arnheiter, 2000). The function of Mitf in boundary formation is supported by the observation that mice with loss-of-function mutations in *Mitf* show a conversion from RPE to NR (Bumsted & Barnstable, 2000; Nguyen & Arnheiter, 2000). *Mitf* is then down regulated by *Chx10* (the earliest marker of neural retina). It becomes first expressed in the inner layer of the optic cup (I. S. Liu et al., 1994). *Chx10* homozygous mutation produces the ocular retardation mouse mutant, which shows greatly decreased progenitor proliferation resulting in a hypocellular neural retina (Burmeister et al., 1996). Double Chx10/Mitf mutants have a less severe phenotype than each individual mutant, it is thought that Chx10 represses Mitf to specify the neural retina (Horsford, 2004; Rowan, Chen, Young, Fisher, & Cepko, 2004).

OC differentiation is also controlled by signals from the surrounding tissue. The inner layer of the optic cup is in close contact with extraocular mesenchyme, which secretes TGFß signaling factors to maintain RPE identity (Fuhrmann, 2010a). The outer layer of the optic cup will undergo extensive proliferation to produce the neurons and glia of the neural retina. FGF signaling from the overlying surface ectoderm directs the acquisition of a neural retinal fate (Pittack, Grunwald, & Reh, 1997; Shulei Zhao, Thornquist, & Barnstable, 1995). Removal of extraocular mesenchyme in chick embryos causes upregulation of neural retinal markers and downregulation of RPE markers in the outer prospective RPE. Removal of surface ectoderm causes an analogous, inappropriate gene expression pattern (Fuhrmann, 2010a; Hyer, Mima, & Mikawa, 1998).

The exogenous influences are not absolutely required for mouse eye development. Eiraku et al. in 2011 demonstrated the formation of optic cups and well-organized neural retinae containing all mature retinal cell types *in vitro* from mESCs in the absence of exogenous influences (Eiraku et al., 2011).

OV dorsal-ventral and proximal-distal patterning is mainly controlled by *Shh* gene which is secreted from the ventral forebrain (X. M. Zhang & Yang, 2001). *Shh* is essential for the bilateral separation and proximal-distal patterning of the OV (Amato, Boy, & Perron, 2004; W. K. Jin & Lemke, 2006) as well as for specification of the ventral and proximal optic vesicle structure and for the inhibition of dorsal-distal fate (i.e., NR and RPE). *Shh* promotes expression of *Pax2* (optic stalk marker) and represses expression of Pax6 (retinal marker) (Amato, Boy, et al., 2004; Ekker et al., 1995; Macdonald et al., 1995). *Pax2* and *Pax6* 

transcriptionally repress each other, forming a precise boundary between the retina and the optic stalk (Heavner et al., 2014; Morcillo et al., 2006; Schwarz et al., 2000). The optic vesicles receive two antagonistic signals: *Shh* from the ventral midline and *Bmp4* from the dorsal part of the optic vesicle. These molecules act in coordinated manner to pattern the eye along the D–V axis, repressing each other (Ohkubo, Chiang, & Rubenstein, 2002).

Similar EFTF expression pattern has been demonstrated in human induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) derived retinal organoid (Akhtar et al., 2019a; Fligor et al., 2018a; Quinn, Buck, Ohonin, Mikkers, & Wijnholds, 2018; Manuela Völkner et al., 2016).

## 1.2 The retina

The retina is a highly conserved structure in vertebrates, having almost identical anatomical and physiological characteristics in multiple taxa. All vertebrates have a three-layered retina consisting of a photoreceptor layer containing rod and cone photoreceptors, an inner nuclear layer containing the cell bodies of processing neurons, and a ganglion cell layer containing the cell bodies of ganglion cells (Stenkamp, 2007).

The different cell types in the retina are organized in distinct laminae that are divided into nuclear and plexiform layers. The cell bodies are located in the nuclear layers and the axons and dendrites reside in the plexiform layers. The layers are termed the outer nuclear layer, the outer plexiform layer, the inner nuclear layer, the inner plexiform layer, the ganglion cell layer and the optic fibre layer (Figure 1.3). Together they form an elaborate neuronal network that accomplishes the tasks of image detection, processing, and transmission in a similar way to other parts of the central nervous system.



Figure 1.3: Retinal cells distribution throughout the retina.

The outer nuclear layer contains the rod and cone photoreceptors, which are responsible for converting light into electrical signals. Cone are active in bright light conditions and are responsible for high-resolution perception that discriminates colors and visual details. There are three types of cone photoreceptors in the retina. Each cone has a specific photo pigment that can absorb light of a specific wavelength, which in turn makes the cone able to detect colors. Rod photoreceptors, on the other hand, are extremely sensitive to light and are important for dim light vision. The Inner nuclear layer contains the cell bodies of müller cells, horizontal cells, bipolar cells and amacrine cells. Horizontal cells are a class of interneurons that are involved in enhancing contrast between light and dark regions. They act by integrating and modulating the output from PRs to BPs by means of inhibitory synapses. Bipolar cells act as relay stations for visual signals, which means that they relay information from photoreceptors to the ganglion cells. Amacrine cells integrate and modulate the signals from bipolar cells of the retina, they support the retinal structure and regulate retinal homeostasis. The Ganglionic cell layer contains ganglion cells. Ganglion cells are the last

neurons in the retina to receive the visual signals and their function is to convey the information to the brain.

In amphibians and teleost fish, the growth of the retina is coordinated with the overall growth of the eye. They continuously add new neurons and glia to the retina throughout life. Undifferentiated precursor cells are located in the most peripheral part of the retina, termed the ciliary marginal zone (CMZ), a transitional region between the neural retina and the iris/ciliary epithelium (Perron & Harris, 2000; Reh & Levine, 1998), while more centrally are situated committed proliferative neuroblasts, followed by differentiating precursors and finally postmitotic neurons (Figure 1.4) (Hollyfield, 1968; Johns, 1977) and as the retina grows in size, new cells are added in concentric rings with cells situated more peripherally being younger than central ones (Hollyfield, 1971; Straznicky & Gaze, 1971). Progenitors in the CMZ maintain expression of early eye field transcription factors (Perron, Kanekar, Vetter, & Harris, 1998). By comparison, most of the retina in birds is generated in ovo during early stages of development. In the chicken, for example, at least 90% of the retina is produced more than one week before hatching, by the time of hatching, chicks will have fully functional retinae capable of detecting images and conveying visual information to higher visual centers in the brain (A. J. Fischer, 2005).

In fish, the retina increases in size throughout adulthood by three mechanisms (Johns, 1977). The first mechanism is one of balloon-like expansion of existing retina and enlargement of existing retinal cells. The second mechanism is the addition of new retinal tissue at the retinal periphery, generated by a circumferential germinal zone (CGZ). The third mechanism is the insertion of additional rod photoreceptors into the existing sheet of photoreceptors in the outer nuclear layer. In contrast to the amphibian retina, in which retinal precursors generate all retinal cell types, fish rod photoreceptors are generated during embryogenesis in a secondary wave of neurogenesis by specialized rod precursors situated in the ONL. Similarly, in the postembryonic fish, rods are not produced together with the other retinal cell types at the ciliary margin (Otteson & Hitchcock, 2003). Consequently, the newly generated ONL that is close to the ciliary margin contains only cone photoreceptors. More centrally, the photoreceptor layer contains cones, rods and dividing rod precursors. It has been shown that rod precursors derive from a mitotic population of fusiform cells in the underlying INL that migrate to the ONL (Johns & Fernald, 1981; Julian, Ennis, & Korenbrot, 1998). These elongated progenitors have a restricted lineage as they only generate rods. They probably derive from a slow dividing population of spherical cells that have been found in the inner part of the INL (Otteson, D'Costa, & Hitchcock, 2001). These cells have some stem cell characteristics, i.e. they self renew and divide asymmetrically. Regeneration studies have demonstrated that the INL stem cell population consists of multipotent cells. Indeed, removing part of the retina by surgical lesion triggers a regenerative response in the INL and the ONL with the formation of a regenerative blastema made of radially elongated cells that surround the lesioned area (Hitchcock, Myhr, Easter, Mangione-Smith, & Jones, 1992). This blastema behaves like a ciliary margin and fills the space generated by the lesion (Hitchcock et al., 1992; Otteson & Hitchcock, 2003). This experiment demonstrated that INL stem cells that normally generate only rod cells could, following injury, give rise to other retinal neurons.

In amphibians (Xenopus), CMZ has been divided into four principal zones. Gene expression in these different zones recapitulates the sequential expression occurring in retinoblasts during embryonic development (Dorsky, Rapaport, & Harris, 1995; Harris & Perron, 1998; Locker et al., 2006). Retinal stem cells reside in the first zone, while committed retinoblasts and differentiating neurons are found from the second zone onwards. These stem cells are able to self-renew and differentiate to all retinal cell types. Labeling the frog CMZ cells with a tracer and analyzing their lineages showed that retinal stem cells generate large clones containing all cell types including glial and pigmented cells (Amato, Arnault, & Perron, 2004a). Stem cells in the CMZ participate in the regeneration process after retinal injury (Henningfeld, Locker, & Perron, 2007; Keefe, 1973; Reh & Nagy, 1987; Yoshii, Ueda, Okamoto, & Araki, 2007). Yoshii et al., 2007 showed that NR and lens regenerate following the surgical removal of these tissues in the anuran amphibian, *Xenopus laevis*, even in the mature animal. The NR is regenerated from both, the RPE cells (by transdifferentiation) as well as the stem cells in the CMZ (by differentiation) (Yoshii et al., 2007).

In the bird, mitotic CMZ precursors persist only for the first few weeks after hatching but Fischer and Reh have demonstrated that a subgroup of cells in the CMZ of adult birds (4.5 months of age) exists in a pattern similar to that seen in the eyes of younger chicks, less than 30 days of age. These precursors may not be multipotential, as only a subset of retinal neurons appears to be produced including bipolar and amacrine cells only (A. J. Fischer & Reh, 2000). In chicken postnatal retina, no retinal regeneration has been detected after acute injury and even those proliferated in response to exogenous factors did not show functional recovery (A. J. Fischer & Reh, 2003). Regeneration was only detected during early embryonic chick development from the transdifferentiation of the RPE cells (Araki, 2007; A. J. Fischer & Reh, 2003). In embryonic chicks (stage 22–24) such a transdifferentiation process can occur only if some neural retina is left behind. If all neural retina is removed, regeneration occurs only by

treatment with b-FGF (Guillemot & Cepko, 1992; Park & Hollenberg, 1989; Pittack et al., 1997). FGF, therefore, must be the most important factor in the induction of transdifferentiation and neural retina regeneration.

In mouse and other mammals, multipotent RSCs are present in the central part of the inner layer of the optic cups and have the ability to generate all retinal cell types (Marquardt & 2002). In mammals RSCs were identified in the pigmented ciliary Gruss, epithelium. Interestingly, the location of the pigmented ciliary epithelium is topographically analogous to the CMZ in the lower vertebrates (Amato, Arnault, & Perron, 2004b; Kubo & Nakagawa, 2008). When adult mouse RPE, NR and CE were dissociated and cultured as single cells, the only proliferative population was found in the CE (Tropepe et al., 2000). Similar cells have been isolated from this region in embryonic (P. Yang, Seiler, Aramant, & Whittemore, 2002) and adult human eye (Coles, Angenieux, et al., 2004). No stem cell proliferation can be detected within the mammalian retina postnatally in vivo, hence no new cells are being produced in healthy retina or following disease or injury (Ahmad, Tang, & Pham, 2000; Tropepe et al., 2000). These adult RSCs are localized in the pigmented ciliary margin and not in the central or peripheral RPE. This suggested that the cells might be homologous to the germinal zone of lower vertebrates which is part of a bigger analogy that exists between the pigmented epithelium of the CB and the CMZ of lower vertebrates, in which the adult germinal zone lies. While the ciliary CMZ consists of undifferentiated neuroepithelium, the pigmented epithelium of the CB is a mature, differentiated epithelial monolayer. It is physically distinct from the retina and lies anterior to the ora serrata (Ballios & van der Kooy, 2010).

RSC colonies were both self-renewing and multipotential, generating all retinal cell types and thus were named retinal stem cells (Ahmad et al., 2000; Tropepe et al., 2000). The generation of retinal cells is often divided into an "early phase" when ganglion cells, horizontal cells and cone photoreceptors are born, and a "late phase", when bipolar cells, rod photoreceptors and müller cells are born. The amacrine cells are generated in between these phases (Prada, Puga, Pérez-Méndez, López, & Ramírez, 1991; Venters, Mikawa, & Hyer, 2015).





Schema illustrating the position of stem cells in Xenopus tadpole, fish, post-hatched chick and adult mouse retinae. Multipotent retinal stem cells are found in the most peripheral zone of the ciliary marginal zone of Xenopus, zebrafish and chick retinae. Stem cells specialized in rod production may be present in the inner nuclear layer of fish retina. In the adult mouse retina, cells with stem cell properties when cultured in vitro are found in the pigmented ciliary epithelium. CMZ, ciliary marginal zone; GCL, ganglion cell layer; INL, inner nuclear layer, IPL, inner plexiform layer; ONL, outer nuclear layer, OPL, outer plexiform layer; PCM, pigmented ciliary margin; RPE, retinal pigment epithelium. Adapted from (Amato, Boy, et al., 2004).

#### **1.3 Retinal stem cells**

Each OV consists of RSCs that give rise to all the neuroectoderm-derived cells of the eye. RSC patterning occurs along the dorso distal/proximal–ventral axis of the OV prior to optic cup formation. The RSCs of the OV are capable of producing NR, RPE, or OS when provided with the appropriate combination of signals (Hodgkinson et al., 1993; I. S. C. Liu et al., 1994; Nornes, Dressler, Knapik, Deutsch, & Gruss, 1990). Early during development, RSCs tend to divide symmetrically to increase the pool of progenitors in the newly formed optic cup. Upregulation of *Pax6, Chx10*, and *Sox2* may be important for sustaining the proliferative capabilities of these early RPCs, and mutations in these genes can result in proliferation defects characterized by small or absent eyes (Graw, 2019; Hill et al., 1991; Mathers, Grinberg, Mahon, & Jamrich, 1997b; Taranova et al., 2006). Other transcription factors as Notch1, Hes1and Hes5 were found to be expressed during the same period (Czekaj et al., 2012).

Following this early expansive phase of RPC proliferation, RSCs begin to divide asymmetrically producing one daughter cell that differentiates and a second daughter cell that continues to divide as a stem cell. Importantly, individual RSCs display a considerable amount of heterogeneity across development in relation to their patterns of cell division and this may hint at either, a stochastic component of RSC proliferation, or a considerable intrinsic heterogeneity of RSCs (Dyer & Cepko, 2001).

In general, stem cells are undifferentiated cells that are present in the embryonic, fetal, and adult stages of life and give rise to differentiated cells that are the building blocks of tissue and organs (Kolios & Moodley, 2013). In adult tissue these cells are usually rare, quiescent cells and live within certain compartments in their specific organ or tissue called the niche (Chagastelles & Nardi, 2011). They are responsible for replenishing cells that die within a given organ, either due to physiological wear and tear, disease or following injury (Chagastelles & Nardi, 2011). These cardinal properties describe the stemness of any stem cell. Stemness can be: 1) categorical (an intrinsic property of a stem cell, independent of its environment), 2) dispositional (an intrinsic property of a stem cell that emerges only in the right environment), 3) relational (an extrinsic property induced in a cell that would otherwise be a non-stem cell by its microenvironment) or 4) systemic (an extrinsic property of a system such as tissue, rather than an individual cell) (Laplane & Solary, 2019).

Stemness in RSCs is both, an intrinsic trait, as well as a dispositional property that emerges only in the proper environment. In the adult eye, RSCs are quiescent (they do not proliferate to give new cells nor to replace lost cells in case of disease or injury) as a result of factors secreted from other cells in their niche (Balenci, Wonders, Coles, Clarke, & van der Kooy,

2013; Ballios, Clarke, Coles, Shoichet, & van der Kooy, 2012; Tropepe et al., 2000). On the other hand, when cultured at a clonal density in vitro away from the inhibitory signals, RSCs form clonal spheres within 7 days exhibiting the cardinal stem cell properties of self renewal and multipotentiality (Tropepe et al., 2000). These inhibitory factors were found to be secreted from cornea and lens and include: BMP2, BMP4 and Frizzled-related protein (sFRP). The combination of Inhibiting BMP signaling through Noggin as well as functionally blocking sFRP2 restores RSC stemness by antagonizing the effects of inhibitory signals from the cornea and lens (Balenci et al., 2013). In chapter two of this thesis, I will work on achieving better stem cell expansion by culturing RSCs in vitro in an adjustable environment devoid of nichespecific inhibitory signals.

Progenitor cells (including RPCs) are descendants of stem cells that differentiate further to create specialized cell types. When compared to stem cells, progenitor cells have a limited ability to self-renew. Additionally, the cell potency of progenitor cells is more restricted. While some progenitor cells are multipotent, other progenitor cells are unipotent and only capable of differentiating into one cell type.

#### Some studies have proposed that the RSC population does not represent a true stem

cell population (Cicero et al., 2009; Gualdoni et al., 2010). Rather, the observed multipotentiality is claimed to be the result of transdifferentiation of a pigmented ciliary epithelial cell by induction of stem/progenitor markers in response to growth factors in the culture media. Transdifferentiation implies differentiation of a single cell without proliferative divisions to another cell type, which is not the case with RSCs derived from the ciliary epithelium, the multipotency of the RSC and its ability to differentiate into various retinal cell types, including photoreceptors, has been corroborated by a number of independent reports (Ahmad et al., 2000; Ballios et al., 2012; Tropepe et al., 2000). Depletion of pigmented RPE in mice with blocked Mitf (a highly expressed pigmented cell transcription factor) led to an increased (instead of decreased) number of produced RSC spheres, a point of argument against the transdifferentiation hypothesis (Coles, Horsford, McInnes, & van der Kooy, 2006). RSCs are rare cells embedded within the pigmented CE and posses defined characteristics making them possible to distinguish from vast majority of other pigmented CE cells. RSCs can be prospectively isolated from the ciliary epithelium, they tend to be comparatively larger and be the most heavily pigmented cells in the CE (Ballios et al., 2012; Tropepe et al., 2002).

In addition to adult CE, Other sources of RSCs include pluripotent stem cells i.e. embryonic stem cells (ESCs) and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPCs) (Takahashi et al., 2007; Takahashi & Yamanaka, 2006; Thomson, 1998; Yu et al., 2007). ESCs and iPSCs were successfully used

to differentiate retinal cells including: RPE cells (Brandl, 2019; Choudhary et al., 2017; García Delgado et al., 2019; Kharitonov, Surdina, Lebedeva, Bogomazova, & Lagarkova, 2018; Kuroda, Ando, Takeno, Kishino, & Kimura, 2019; Regent et al., 2019; Uygun, Sharma, & Yarmush, 2009), photoreceptor cells (Barnea-Cramer et al., 2016; Gonzalez-Cordero et al., 2017; S. Zhou et al., 2015; J. Zhu et al., 2018), and ganglion cells (Ji & Tang, 2019; Ohlemacher et al., 2019; Tanaka et al., 2015; S. Wu, Chang, Nahmou, & Goldberg, 2018).

ESC isolated from the inner cell mass of the preimplantation blastocyst can give rise to differentiated cell types of all three germ layers of the organism and rapidly expand in culture, providing a potentially unlimited starting population for cell therapy (Thomson, 1998). iPSCs, which have all of the characteristics of ES cells, can be generated by introducing four genes called as Yamanaka factors (Oct4, Sox2, Klf4, c-Myc) into somatic cells (Takahashi et al., 2007; Takahashi & Yamanaka, 2006). These somatic cells include adult fibroblasts, among other tissues such as liver and stomach. iPSCs benefit from being immune compatible as a result of their derivation from adult somatic cells of the same patient, and they overcome many of the ethical issues faced by the derivation and use of ES cells. While ES and iPSCs can be differentiated into cells of any of the three germ layers of the adult organism, they are inefficient in differentiation along a particular lineage and their uncontrolled proliferative ability is a safety concern in clinical application (Shah, 2016). There are other significant limitations around the use of iPSCs in cellular therapy. Heterogeneity among reprogrammed cell populations has made it difficult to understand this reprogramming. For example, researchers recently hypothesized that adult cells may retain memory of their original fates after reprogramming, favouring their differentiation back into lineages related to the original iPS colony-forming cell, through harbouring residual DNA methylation signatures characteristic of their somatic tissue of origin (Kim et al., 2010; Nashun, Hill, & Hajkova, 2015; Noguchi, Miyagi-Shiohira, & Nakashima, 2018).

Müller glial cells have been shown to be able to undergo a reprogramming process to reacquire a stem/progenitor state, allowing them to proliferate and generate new neurons for repair following retinal damage (Hamon, Roger, Yang, & Perron, 2016). Although müller glia–dependent spontaneous regeneration is remarkable in some species such as fish, it is extremely limited and ineffective in mammals. MG in the injured fish retina, produce not only rods but also other neurons that have been lost, suggesting that they are multipotent (Bernardos, Barthel, Meyers, & Raymond, 2007; Fausett & Goldman, 2006). Müller glia also can proliferate in the chick retina after injury or following activation by growth factor infusion (A. J. Fischer, McGuire, Dierks, & Reh, 2002; A. J. Fischer & Reh, 2001). Similarly, mammalian müller glia will proliferate in response to injury in the rodent retina, but few neurons are generated without the addition of soluble factors that are needed for the expression of transcription factors that drive differentiation (Ooto et al., 2004; Osakada et al., 2007; Wan, Zheng, Xiao, She, & Zhou, 2007). Humans have not been shown to display endogenous regeneration from this cell source. However, studies done *in vitro* have identified a population of human müller glial cells that display stem cell characteristics (hMSCs) and a relative capacity to generate retinal neurons, including rod photoreceptor cells (Giannelli, Demontis, Pertile, Rama, & Broccoli, 2011; Roesch et al., 2008). Furthermore, on transplantation into a rodent model of photoreceptor degeneration, hMSC-derived photoreceptor-like cells were able to migrate and integrate into the host outer nuclear layer, leading to an improvement in photoreceptor function as assessed by electroretinography (ERG) (Bhatia, Singhal, Lawrence, Khaw, & Limb, 2009; Giannelli et al., 2011; Jayaram et al., 2014). iPSC-derived müller glia were able to differentiate toward retinal fate and generate retinal pigmented epithelial cells (Slembrouck-Brec et al., 2019).

#### 1.4 Heterogeneity of retinal stem cells and progenitors

Since the discovery of RSCs in 2000 (mouse) and 2004 (human), RSC clonal spheres were thought to be similar in their proliferation and the type of progenitors they produce as well as their differentiation potential (Ahmad, Das, James, Bhattacharya, & Zhao, 2004; Ahmad et al., 2000; Ballios et al., 2012; Coles, Inoue, et al., 2004; Das et al., 2005; Tropepe et al., 2000). Researchers studied the heterogeneity of retinal stem cells and progenitors on the cellular level but not on clonal sphere level. Many studies showed that the division of RSCs is heterogeneous; they undergo a variable number of divisions producing clones with different sizes and cell type compositions. The apparent randomness of clonal size and cell fate distribution suggested a strong element of stochasticity (Cayouette, Barres, & Raff, 2003; Cepko, 2014; Fekete, Perez-Miguelsanz, Ryder, & Cepko, 1994; Harris, 1997; He et al., 2012; Trimarchi, Stadler, & Cepko, 2008; Turner & Cepko, 1988; Wetts & Fraser, 1988). RPCs will pass through a series of competence states to produce all retinal cell types. There are, however, conserved patterns in cell birth with ganglion cells born first and müller glial cells born last (Bassett & Wallace, 2012; Cepko, 2014; Dyer & Cepko, 2001; Prada et al., 1991; Wong & Rapaport, 2009; Young, 1985a, 1985b). Researchers have also observed this heterogeneity even among cells isolated from the same developmental time point. Some clones were found to have multiple types of retinal neurons and some were restricted to one type of retinal neurons (e.g. cone photoreceptors, horizontal cells (HCs)) (Alexiades & Cepko, 1997; Buenaventura, Ghinia-Tegla, & Emerson, 2018; Schick, McCaffery, Keblish, Thakurdin, & Emerson, 2019; Trimarchi et al., 2008).

Birth dating of retinal cells can be determined by exposing the cells to a radioactive nucleotide analog (thymidine) or bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) for a period of time (Alexiades & Cepko, 1996). Another method involves injecting a developing retina with a low titer retrovirus expressing a reporter, such as GFP, or a fluorescent dye to allow visualization. Investigations of progenitor lineages demonstrated that retinal progenitor cells are multipotent throughout development and capable of generating multiple kinds of cells including neurons and glia (McFarlane, Zuber, & Holt, 1998; Turner & Cepko, 1988).

The likelihood of a progenitor cell producing one cell type over another could be determined by intrinsic factors (the genes expressed by that progenitor cell), extrinsic factors (signals contributed by the progenitor's environment), combination of the two or stochastic mechanisms that may operate within each of these models. Intrinsic hypothesis states that: RPCs must follow an intrinsic program controlled by gene expression and transcription factors with stepwise changes in competence to produce one cell type at a time in a conserved order (Table 1.1). Several studies have confirmed this hypothesis and showed that early RPCs produce cells with early fates when transplanted into (J. N. Kay, Link, & Baier, 2005) late retinal environment (Belliveau & Cepko, 1999), and late RPCs produce cells with late fates even when placed in an early environment (Belliveau, Young, & Cepko, 2000). Similarly, RPCs produced cells with temporally appropriate fates when isolated in culture (Austin, Feldman, Ida, & Cepko, 1995; Gomes et al., 2011) and heterochronic mixing experiments (in which cells derived from different developmental stages are co-cultured) also showed that intrinsic factors contribute to proliferation and the timing of the onset of differentiation (Morrow, Belliveau, & Cepko, 1998; Watanabe & Raff, 1992). Table 1.1: Temporal order of generation of mammalian retinal cell types and Transcription factors required for the development of specific retinal cell types.

In mice from around embryonic day (E) 10.5 onward, retinal progenitor cells generate retinal neurons in a temporal order conserved among many species: retinal ganglion cells first, Müller glia last. Ganglion cells, amacrine cells, cone photoreceptors, and horizontal cells differentiate at relatively early stages, while bipolar cells and rod cells are mainly generated at later stages. Combinations of multiple transcription factors, such as bHLH-type and homeobox-type factors, are required for proper specification of retinal cell types.

| Cell type          | Birthdate (developmental | Transcription factor        |
|--------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------------|
|                    | age in mouse)            |                             |
| Ganglion cells     | E 11 – P 0               | Math5 – Bm3b – Pax6 –       |
|                    |                          | Atoh7 - Pou4F1/2/3 - 1s11 - |
|                    |                          | Neurod1                     |
| Horizontal cells   | E 10 – E15               | Prox1 – ptf1a – Foxn4 –     |
|                    |                          | Lhx1 – Pax6 – Neurod4 –     |
|                    |                          | six3                        |
| Amacrine cells     | Е 11 – Р 3               | Neurod1/2/4/6 – ptf1a –     |
|                    |                          | pax6 – six3 – Foxn4 –       |
|                    |                          | Bhlhb5 – Barhl2 – lsi1 –    |
|                    |                          | Nr492 – Satb2               |
| Cone               | E 11 – E18               | Crx – Otx2 – TRB2 –         |
|                    |                          | Neurod1 – Mash1 – ASCl1     |
|                    |                          | - Rorb - PRdm1 - Sall3 -    |
|                    |                          | Pias3 – Thrb – Rxrg – Rora  |
|                    |                          | – Nr2f 1/2                  |
| Rod                | Е 12.5 – Р 10            | Neurod1 – CRX – Otx2 –      |
|                    |                          | Nrl – Nr2e3 – ASCl1 –       |
|                    |                          | Rorb – Prdm1 – Pias3 –      |
|                    |                          | Chx10                       |
| Bipolar cells      | E 18 – P 9               | Otx2 – Neurod4 – ASCl1 –    |
|                    |                          | Irx5 – BHLHB5               |
| Müller glial cells | E 18 – P 7               | Hes1 – Hes5 – Hesr2 - Rx    |

It is likely that transcription factors also contribute to the temporal progression of cell fates. The zinc finger transcription factor *Ikzf1* (*Ikaros*) is a vertebrate homologue of Hunchback, a transcription factor that is required for the specification of early fates in the D. melanogaster ventral nerve cord (Elliott, Jolicoeur, Ramamurthy, & Cayouette, 2008). More recently, the ortholog of Drosophila castor, Casz1, was found to function as a mid/late temporal identity factor that is negatively regulated by *Ikzf1* (Mattar & Cayouette, 2015). *Ikzf1* represses *Casz1* expression in the early RPCs, whereas Casz1 is de-repressed by the loss of Ikzf1 in late progenitors. These factors are both necessary and sufficient to drive their respective cell fates in the developing retina, much like they are in *Drosophila* neuroblast lineages, suggesting a conservation of the temporal cascade from invertebrates to vertebrates (Mattar & Cayouette, 2015). Ikaros-deficient retinae exhibit a transient decrease in proliferation at embryonic day E13 and a permanent reduction of most early born cell types (ganglion cells, amacrine cells, and horizontal cells) but interestingly, not cones, which is not accompanied by an increase in late-born types. Accordingly, ectopic expression of Ikaros in late-stage progenitors is sufficient to promote development of most early born retinal neurons but again, not cones alongside late-born neurons (Mattar & Cayouette, 2015). The fact that cones are not affected by the gain or loss of Ikaros suggests that different regulatory mechanisms control the timing of cone production. Notably, Ikaros overexpression also causes a slight reduction of bipolar cells and prevents müller glia formation, suggesting that loss of Ikaros is required for the progression to a late temporal state (Javed & Cayouette, 2017). Ikzf1 also contributes to the establishment of the temporally restricted cell fates in the developing mouse neocortex, suggesting that Ikzf1 might have a role as an intrinsic temporal identity factor in other progenitor contexts (Alsiö, Tarchini, Cayouette, & Livesey, 2013).

Extrinsic hypothesis on the other hand, suggests that progenitor cells are controlled by environmental cues, which would direct their choice of cell fate. In the developing retina, however, even though extrinsic signaling has been shown to alter progenitor output, these factors are thought to mostly control proliferation and act as negative feedback inhibition to refine the size of certain population, rather than regulate temporal identity in retinal progenitors (Cepko, 2014; Mattar & Cayouette, 2015). Some of these factors include: Shh, FGF2, Ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) and (Goetz, Farris, Chowdhury, & Trimarchi, 2014).

For example, 1) blocking all *Shh* family activity with the drug cyclopamine led to a complete inhibition of retinal neurogenesis in the zebrafish, while deletion of *Shh* from the mouse retina resulted in a premature induction of photoreceptors and an overproduction of ganglion cells

(Neumann & Nuesslein-Volhard, 2000; Y. Wang, Dakubo, Thurig, Mazerolle, & Wallace, 2005). These observations suggest a key role for Shh in retinal cell-fate acquisition. 2) FGF signaling: Injection of the mutant FGF receptor into Xenopus resulted in a 50% loss of amacrine cells and photoreceptors with a corresponding increase in müller glia (McFarlane et al., 1998). This effect appears to be specific to these cell fates since no alterations in either cell death or cell proliferation were observed in this system (McFarlane et al., 1998). On the other hand, overexpression of FGF2 in Xenopus increased ganglion cells by 35% while decreasing müller glia by 50% (Patel & McFarlane, 2000). Additionally, FGF2 changed the relative proportions of rods and cones, but did not alter the overall number of photoreceptors (Patel & McFarlane, 2000). 3) in vitro treatment of retinae with CNTF led to a decrease in rod photoreceptor cells, a slight increase in amacrine cells and müller glia and a substantial increase in bipolar cells (Ezzeddine, Yang, DeChiara, Yancopoulos, & Cepko1, 1997). Furthermore, removal of the CNTF receptor yielded the opposite result of additional rod photoreceptors being produced (Ezzeddine et al., 1997). 4) In the chick retina, a decrease in Notch levels led to a corresponding increase in retinal ganglion cells produced (Austin et al., 1995; Silva, Ercole, & McLoon, 2003). Conversely, retroviral introduction of a constitutively active form of Notch decreased the number of ganglion cells (Austin et al., 1995). Introduction of activated Notch into newborn rat retinae led to a block in differentiation of all cell types (Bao & Cepko, 1997; Furukawa, Mukherjee, Bao, Morrow, & Cepko, 2000). Similar experiments performed in Xenopus and zebrafish showed either a similar block in differentiation or an increase in müller glia (Dorsky et al., 1995; Scheer, Groth, Hans, & Campos-Ortega, 2001).

Even though extrinsic signaling has been shown to alter progenitor output as mentioned above, these factors are thought to mostly control proliferation and act as negative feedback inhibition signals to refine the size of a specific neuronal population, rather than regulate temporal identity in retinal progenitors (Bassett & Wallace, 2012; Cepko, 2014).

Many extrinsic and intrinsic factors that we have discussed influence the cell cycle in addition to cell fate. One well-studied factor that is critically involved in the regulation of cell cycle exit is the retinoblastoma tumor suppressor protein (Rb) (Weinberg, 1995). Conditional knockout mice where Rb is deleted from the retina do in fact show a defect in the ability of progenitor cells to exit the cell cycle ((J. Zhang et al., 2004). Interestingly, loss of Rb also leads to the production of fewer rod photoreceptors specifically (J. Zhang et al., 2004). This cell-fate phenotype occurs only in rod photoreceptors and is separate from the effect of Rb loss on the cell cycle. Instead, transcription factors that are important for rod development, such as Nrl, are absent in Rb-deficient retinae (J. Zhang et al., 2004). The cyclin kinase inhibitors (CKIs), can block the cell cycle at several places and, in some contexts, promote differentiation. Overexpression of a CKI from Xenopus (p27<sup>Xic1</sup>) inhibits retinal progenitor cell proliferation, but also shows a specific cell-fate effect. Müller glia are increased, while bipolar cells are decreased (Ohnuma, Philpott, Wang, Holt, & Harris, 1999). All of these experiments point to the precise regulation of intrinsic factors in response to extrinsic cues leading to a coordinated exit from the cell cycle and the acquisition of specific retinal cell fates.

Mathematical modeling combined with live microscopy to visualize late rat RPCs in cell culture showed that these RPCs randomly choose between three modes of division - two daughter progenitor cells (PP), a progenitor and a differentiating daughter cell (PD) and two differentiating daughter cells (DD) in a stochastic manner, and as development progresses, RPCs shift from a PP to PD bias (He et al., 2012) (Figure 1.5). These experiments were further supported by lineage tracing experiments in zebrafish, where an inducible photoconvertible fluorescent protein was used to monitor the progression of individual RPCs through the cell cycle. Developmental program in which a wave of symmetrical proliferation (PP) followed by asymmetrical (PD) and then terminal (DD) differentiative divisions spreads around the retina. However, if all RPCs at 24 hpf went through exactly the same program (e.g., two rounds of PP to produce four P cells, followed by one round of PD to produce four D and four P cells, followed by one round of DD), all clones would end up being exactly the same size, i.e. 12 differentiated cells. This would generate a retina of approximately the right total number of cells. However, such a stereotypical pattern of RPC lineage progression is not consistent with the large variability in clone sizes of 24 hpf RPC (He et al., 2012). The type of cells generated, with the exception of a few outliers, fits a stochastic model of cell behavior where the probability of generating a particular cell type is the same as the frequency of that cell type in the mature retina. Thus, with every cell division, there is a higher probability of generating a rod than a bipolar cell because the frequency of rods is greater than the frequency of bipolar cells (Bassett & Wallace, 2012; Gomes et al., 2011).





In vertebrate retinogenesis, there is no predefined order of modes of cell division. RPCs stochastically choose one of three modes of division (PP, PD and DD). As retinogenesis progresses, RPCs shift from mostly PP divisions to PD and DD divisions. (PP): two daughter progenitor cells; (PD): progenitor and a differentiating daughter cell; (DD): two differentiating daughter cells. Adapted from (Goetz et al., 2014).

In chapter 3 of this thesis, I am going to investigate the intrinsic and extrinsic factors controlling heterogeneity, proliferation and distribution of pigmented cells in clonally derived RSC spheres.

### 1.5 Development and Differentiation of Retinal Pigment Epithelium

RPE is a monolayer of pigmented cells situated between the neuroretina and the choroid. The RPE is of neuroectodermal origin and is therefore considered to be part of the retina. RPE is specified at the early optic vesicle stage, long before pigmentation is observed.

Two key players in RPE specification are the transcription factors Mitf and Otx2. Mitf is a key regulator of pigment cell development in the RPE and neural crest; it transactivates crucial genes for terminal pigment differentiation (e.g., *Dct*, *Tyrp1*, and tyrosinase). *Otx2* is expressed in the eye field and expression appears to persist until the late optic vesicle stage when it is downregulated in the presumptive retina. *Otx2* is required for *Mitf* expression and it transactivates expression of pigment genes in cooperation with Mitf (Martínez-Morales et al., 2003; Martínez-Morales, Rodrigo, & Bovolenta, 2004; Martinez-Morales et al., 2001). In the following model suggested by Martinez-Morales et al. (2004), the RPE induction is triggered by *Pax6* and *Otx1/Otx2* combined activity, *Pax6* and *Wnt* signaling induces expression of *Mitf*
which plays an important role in the development of melanin-containing cells, melanocytes, and RPE, it can support the further formation of RPE together with Otx proteins, according to Baumer and co-authors, expression of *Mitf* is controlled by the redundant activities of *Pax6* and *Pax2. Pax6* activity seems to be sufficient to induce RPE formation (Bäumer et al., 2003), and in mature RPE it is downregulated, remaining in the epithelia of the lens, cornea, conjunctiva, iris, amacrine cells and ganglion cells (Gruss & Walther, 1992).

Presumptive RPE progenitors control the initial proliferation and establishment of RPE in the optic vesicle. After proliferation in the presumptive RPE ceases, definitive RPE progenitors will control the expansion step leading to the formation of a single layer of cuboidal cells that become pigmented (Cechmanek & McFarlane, 2017). As development proceeds, a period of differentiation and further maturation follows that results in dramatic morphological, structural, and functional changes of the RPE tissue such as formation of tight junctions, expansion of apical microvilli and invagination of the basal membrane, establishment of polarity and retinoid recycling machinery (Burke & Hjelmeland, 2005; Marmorstein, 2001; Marmorstein, Finnemann, Bonilha, & Rodriguez-Boulan, 1998a; Rizzolo, 2007; Strauss, 2005). In Chapter three of this thesis I will characterize two RPE progenitor populations. Both populations are the product of the same mother stem cell and contribute to the formation of immature and mature RPE cells.

The RPE fate in the optic cup is maintained through several pathways that include: Shh, retinoic acid, BMP and Wnt/b-catenin pathways. In chick and mouse, reduced *Shh* signaling may not affect RPE specification but results subsequently in loss of RPE marker expression, increased proliferation of RPE and transdifferentiation into retina (S. Huh, Hatini, Marcus, Li, & Lai, 1999; X. M. Zhang & Yang, 2001). RPE differentiation defects are also observed in frog, when *Shh* signaling is downregulated (Perron et al., 2003).

Retinoic acid signal transduction occurs via the retinoic acid receptors (RARa, b, g) that bind to retinoid X receptor (RXR) and form heterodimers when bound to the RA response element in target genes. RAR mutants display a range of severe eye defects, including microphthalmia and transdifferentiation of RPE into NR (Cvekl & Wang, 2009; Lohnes et al., 1994; Matt, Ghyselinck, Pellerin, & Dupé, 2008). Furthermore, disruption of BMP signaling by overexpression of the BMP antagonist noggin caused transdifferentiation of the ventral RPE (Adler & Belecky-Adams, 2002).

Wnt/b-catenin pathway also controls differentiation of the RPE in the optic cup. In brief, activation of the Wnt/b-catenin pathway results in cytoplasmic stabilization of b-catenin,

ultimately converting T-cell factor/lymphoid enhancer factor (TCF/LEF transcription factors) from repressors into activators (Fuhrmann, 2010a). Interference with Wnt/b-catenin signaling in chick and mouse RPE of the optic cup causes loss of TCF/LEF reporter activation and severe eye defects such as microphthalmia and transdifferentiation of the RPE into NR (Fujimura, Taketo, Mori, Korinek, & Kozmik, 2009; Westenskow, McKean, Kubo, Nakagawa, & Fuhrmann, 2010; Westenskow, Piccolo, & Fuhrmann, 2009).

Mature RPE cell exhibits an apical-basal polarity characteristic of a transporting epithelium, with apical tight junctions binding neighbouring RPE cells together to form the outer bloodretinal barrier (Rizzolo, 1997) (Figure 1.6). This barrier induces transcellular transport and in conjunction with asymmetrical membrane protein distribution, allows directional transport of glucose, retinol (Vitamin A) and fatty acids to the photoreceptors. Equally important, this active transport process removes ions, metabolic waste products and water from the subretinal space (Strauss, 2005). The removal of water from the subretinal space to the choroidal circulation is vital for photoreceptor health (la Cour & Tezel, 2006). The photoreceptors, neurons and glial cells have a high metabolic turn-over rate leading to production of metabolic water which accumulates in the retina. In addition, intraocular pressure drives the movement of water from the anterior eye towards the retina where it accumulates. Water is eliminated from subretinal space by active transport via the RPE through Cl<sup>-</sup> transport that is driven by the activity of the apically localized Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase (Hu, Gallemore, Bok, Lee, & Frambach, 1994). Water transport is light-dependent, the light-dependent hyperpolarisation of the apical membrane reduces the transport rate of Na<sup>+</sup>/HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> co-transporter which in turn leads to intracellular acidification. In the dark cGMP-gated cation channels are open in the outer segments of photoreceptors. The influx of Na<sup>+</sup> and Ca<sup>2+</sup> through these channels is counterbalanced by an outflow of K<sup>+</sup> at the inner segment. These ionic currents represent the so called dark current (Baylor, 1996). When light falls onto photoreceptor outer segments, the cGMP-dependent cation channels are closed and the K<sup>+</sup> outflow at the inner segment becomes smaller. At the same time  $Na^+/K^+$ -ATPase at the inner segment takes up  $K^+$  into the photoreceptor. This results in a reduction of the K<sup>+</sup> concentration in the subretinal space. This decrease is compensated for by the RPE. The mechanism is based on the fact that the ion conductance of the apical membrane of the RPE is dominated by a K<sup>+</sup> conductance (la Cour, 1985). The light-induced decrease in the subretinal  $K^+$  concentration leads to hyperpolarization of the apical RPE membrane. This in turn leads to activation of inward rectifier K<sup>+</sup> channels generating an efflux of K<sup>+</sup> into the subretinal space, and to an increase of the subretinal  $K^+$  concentration back to normal values (la Cour, 1985). Furthermore, the

highly folded basal membrane of the RPE helps to increase the surface area required for absorption and secretion (Strauss, 2005).

Mature RPE are also important for maintaining good retinal and photoreceptor function through different roles. Functional interaction of both the pigmented cell and the photoreceptor cell is essential for visual function (Bok, 1993; Sparrrow, Hicks, & Hamel, 2010; Steinberg, 1985; Strauss, 2005). Starting from the period of embryonic development, the functional differentiation of the photoreceptor layer and RPE depend on each other (Marmorstein, Finnemann, Bonilha, & Rodriguez-Boulan, 1998b; Rizzolo, 1997). The RPE cells extend apical microvilli into the subretinal space surrounding the photoreceptor outer segments. The apically localised transmembrane integrin,  $\alpha V\beta 5$ , mediates retinal adhesion and promotes circadian-controlled phagocytosis of shed outer segments (Nandrot, Anand, Sircar, & Finnemann, 2006). Once engulfed, the segments are broken down by lysosomal activity within the RPE cell. This process is integral to the visual cycle, allowing the regeneration of the Vitamin A-based chromophore, trans-retinol, using the RPE-specific cytoplasmic isomerohydrolase, RPE65 (Strauss, 2005). The chromophore, oxidised to 11-cis-retinal, is bound to the cellular retinaldehyde-binding protein (CRALBP), before being released by the RPE cells to be taken up by the photoreceptors. Mutations in the phagocytic signalling protein MER proto-oncogene tyrosine kinase, commonly referred to as MerTK, the cytoplasmic RPE65, or the binding protein CRALBP induce significant pathology of the photoreceptors, as seen in retinitis pigmentosa (Travis, Golczak, Moise, & Palczewski, 2007). I will investigate the relation between RPE and photoreceptors in this thesis (chapter 3) and how it affects the proliferation and survival of RPE.





Adapted from (Lehmann, Benedicto, Philp, & Rodriguez-Boulan, 2014).

Light transduction starts with the absorption of photons by the chromophore of rhodopsin, 11cis retinal (Baylor, 1996; Baylor & Burns, 1998; Okada, Ernst, Palczewski, & Hofmann, 2001). After absorption of photons, 11-cis retinal will change its conformation into all-trans retinal. All-trans retinal is metabolized into all-trans retinol and transported to the RPE. After uptake into the RPE all-trans retinol is transferred to CRBP (cellular retinol binding protein) which delivers all-trans retinol to a protein complex of several enzymes. This complex consists of LRAT (lecithin retinol transferase), RPE65 (RPE protein with 65 kDa) and RDH5 (11-cisretinol dehydrogenase). The three enzymes catalyze the three-step reaction from all-trans retinol to 11-cis retinal: esterification of retinol by adding an acyl-group (LRAT), reisomerisation to 11-cis using the energy from ester-hydrolysis (RPE65) and oxidation to 11cis retinal (RDH5). The reaction is accelerated by CRALBP (cellular retinaldehyde-binding protein) which is also part of the enzyme complex and to which 11-cis retinal is immediately transferred. From CRALBP, 11-cis retinal is released to interphotoreceptor retinoid binding protein (IRBP) and is transported back to photoreceptors. All-trans retinal needs to be reisomerized to ensure a sufficient delivery of 11-cis retinal for all visual needs and proper visual function (Lamb, Collin, & Pugh, 2007; Lamb & Pugh, 2004). Since photoreceptors do not express a re-isomerase for all-trans retinal, the re-isomerization takes place in the RPE. For this purpose, all-trans retinal is delivered to the RPE, re-isomerised to 11-cis retinal and delivered back to photoreceptors. This process is called the visual cycle of retina. Thus, the RPE plays a crucial role in visual function and light adaptation. RPE65 plays a double crucial role in the visual cycle (M. Jin, Li, Moghrabi, Sun, & Travis, 2005; Strauss, 2011). On one hand it catalyses the re-isomerization reaction at light conditions. In the dark it functions as a retinol binding protein and represents an important retinol pool for the visual cycle. RPE65 combines both essential functions for adaptation of the visual cycle: storage as well as enzyme reaction (Strauss, 2011).

The melanin granules within the RPE cytoplasm help to absorb radiant energy focused by the lens onto the retina, which is beneficial to visual acuity by preventing light reflection and dispersed light from interfering with the signal received by the photoreceptors (Boulton & Wassell, 1998). RPE also play an important role in maintaining the structural integrity of the retina by an efficient defense against free radicals, photo-oxidative exposure and light energy (Beatty, Koh, Phil, Henson, & Boulton, 2000; Obana, 2010).

The RPE is made of specialized epithelial cells that interact and support photoreceptors on one side (apical) and also interact with different types of cells on the basal (blood) side, such as endothelial cells and cells of the immune system. In order to communicate with the neighboring tissue, the RPE is able to secrete multitude of factors and signaling molecules (figure 1.7).



Figure 1.7: Growth-factor signaling and secretion in the RPE.

ATP, Adenosine triphosphate; CFH, complement Factor H; CNTF, ciliary neurotrophic factor; FASL, CD95 apoptosis receptor ligand; FGF, fibroblast growth factor; IL, interleukin; IGF-1, insulin-like growth factor-1; LPS, lipopolysaccharides; PEDF, pigment epithelium-derived factor; PDGF, platelet-derived growth factor; TIMP3, tissue inhibitor of metallo matrix proteases; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; TGF- $\beta$ , transforming growth factor- $\beta$ . Receptors: FGF-R, fibroblast growth factor receptor; IGF-R, insulin-like growth factor receptor; IL-R, interleukin receptor; MCP-1, monocyte chemotactic protein 1; TNF-R, tumor necrosis factor receptor; Toll-R, toll-like receptors; VEGF-R, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor. Adapted from (Strauss, 2009). It secretes ATP, fast-ligand (fas-L), fibroblast growth factors (FGF-1, FGF-2, and FGF-5), transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ), insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), lens epithelium-derived growth factor (LEDGF), members of the interleukin family, tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloprotease (TIMP) and pigment epitheliumderived factor (PEDF) (Strauss, 2005). In the healthy eye some of these factors are constantly released and help to maintain the structural integrity of the neighboring tissues. PEDF is for example a neurotrophic factor which is secreted to the apical/retinal side of the RPE to stabilize the neuronal retina by prevention of apoptosis (Becerra et al., 2004; Cayouette, Smith, Becerra, & Gravel, 1999; Ogata et al., 2001). VEGF and TIMP are secreted to the basolateral side of the RPE and are required to stabilize the fenestrated structure of the endothelium of the choroid (Witmer, Vrensen, Van Noorden, & Schlingemann, 2003). Photoreceptor and vasculature health are maintained by polarized secretion of various trophic factors by the RPE. In particular, the secretion of VEGF and PEDF by the RPE has been implicated in the maintenance of photoreceptor health, immune privilege and the integrity of the surrounding vasculature (C. N. Kay, Ryals, Aslanidi, Min, & Ruan, 2013; Strauss, 2005).

RPE cells are connected at their basal side through adherence junctions and through tight junctions at their apical side. The tight junctions enable the epithelium to form a barrier by joining neighboring cells together and regulating transepithelial diffusion through the paracellular spaces. Tight junctions help establish epithelial polarity and maintain different protein compositions of the apical and basolateral membranes (Zahraoui, Louvard, & Galli, 2000). Tight junctions also act as a "fence" to retard intermixing of the phospholipids of the apical and lateral membranes. Number of tight junction-associated proteins have been identified and cloned, including PAR3, ZO-1, -2, and -3, claudin, and occludin (Rizzolo, 2007).

Occludin has a domain that binds to both ZO-1 and -2, which in turn bind to the cytoskeleton. The extracellular domain of occludin binds to another occludin molecule on an adjacent cell, forming the tight junction responsible for the permeability barrier (Hartsock & Nelson, 2008; McNeil, Capaldo, & Macara, 2006).

The claudin family of transmembrane proteins has also been identified as a critical component of the barrier function of tight junctions which plays a key role in maintaining tissue integrity and morphology of RPE cells (Hartsock & Nelson, 2008; Rahner, Fukuhara, Peng, Kojima, & Rizzolo, 2004; Rizzolo, Peng, Luo, & Xiao, 2011). In mouse, RPE appeared to express mRNA for claudins AL, 1, 2, 5, 11 and 12. Rahner et al. showed that claudin-1 increased 1000-fold

between E7 and E18, claudins 2 and AL increased only 10- and 60-fold, respectively (Rahner et al., 2004). On E18, claudin-1 represented approximately 83% of the total claudin mRNA (Rahner et al., 2004).

Adherens junctions bind to a continuous belt of actin filaments (the adhesion belt), where they function to hold neighboring cells together through the family of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent cell-cell adhesion molecules known as cadherins (Halbleib & Nelson, 2006; Nose & Takeichi, 1986; X. Yang, Chung, Rai, & Esumi, 2018). There are many members of the classic cadherin family, but E-cadherin in epithelial tissue is the best studied member in the context of stable adhesion (L. Xu, Overbeek, & Reneker, 2002). To function, cadherins must form complexes with cytoplasmic plaque proteins called catenins and with the actin cytoskeleton (N. Wang, Tytell, & Ingber, 2009). In this thesis, I will show how the expression of certain tight junction proteins in early RPE progenitors affect the distribution of RPE progenitors in clonal RSC spheres.

#### 1.6 Static culture

Test tubes, T-flasks and well-plates are traditional means of facilitating static cultures (Ramlogan, 2010). Conventional 2D cell culture relies on adherence to a flat surface, typically a petri dish of glass or polystyrene, to provide mechanical support for the cells. Cell growth in 2D monolayers allows for access to a similar amount of nutrients and growth factors present in the medium, which results in homogenous growth and proliferation (Edmondson, Broglie, Adcock, & Yang, 2014). The advantages of 2D cultures are: simple and low-cost maintenance of the cell culture and ease of performing functional tests. (Hickman et al., 2014; Kapałczyńska et al., 2018).

However, 2D cultures are associated with several disadvantages like suboptimal expansion of cells in these monolayer culture systems as well as being labour intensive, requiring increased handling that can produce unintended cell loss and carry a bigger risk of contamination (D. Huh, Hamilton, & Ingber, 2011). Furthermore, culture conditions are suboptimal due to lack of monitoring and control over the cultivation (D. Huh et al., 2011; Kapałczyńska et al., 2018). Also, in terms of logistics and costs, expansion of stem cells in 2D systems is unfavoured as this will require extra costs for the labour needed to transport and passage the cells in research laboratory. The majority of 2D tissue culture systems are grown statically without any mixing. These static systems have limitations that arise from their non-homogeneous nature. Without mixing, concentration gradients of pH, nutrients, toxins, gases and growth factors will occur in the culture medium (Collins, Nielsen, Patel, Papoutsakis, & Miller, 1998). This will give

rise to different cell behaviour in different spatial locations in the culture and will also reduce culture reproducibility.

To expand stem cells in a controlled, reproducible, cost reducing and more efficient way, more and more research is being performed on the development of controlled bioreactors for both tissue engineering and cell therapy applications (King & Miller, 2007).

These dynamic systems offer distinct advantages: superior rates of oxygen transfer, waste removal and nutrient supply, achieving homogeneity of nutrient concentration, temperature profiles and pH equilibrium (Ellis, Jarman-Smith, & Chaudhuri, 2005).

In the next section I will compare static culture to stirring bioreactor systems and demonstrate why bioreactors are the preferred method for cell expansion. In chapter two of this thesis I will apply this comparison to our RSCs culture.

#### **1.7 Bioreactors**

A bioreactor can be defined as a device that uses mechanical means to influence biological processes. In tissue engineering, bioreactors can be used to aid the *in vitro* development of new tissue by providing biochemical and physical regulatory signals to cells to encourage them to undergo differentiation prior to *in vivo* implantation (Ellis et al., 2005; Plunkett & O'Brien, 2011) (Figure 1.8).



Figure 1.8: Stirring suspension bioreactor system. Bioreactor vessel illustrating some important component.

Using bioreactors, scientists were able to control different cellular microenvironment parameters and adjust pH, oxygen tension to levels similar to those present at the *in vivo* niche, add nutrients and remove unwanted metabolites (e.g ammonia, urea, lactate) to improve cell growth, viability and subsequently expansion (Ramlogan, 2010). Bioreactors do not only provide culture control but can also provide optimisation, standardisation, scale up feasibility, and an automatic operation for cultivation of cells. Tissue-engineered products from bioreactor systems are more likely to be dependable, predicable and free of contaminants. Therefore, bioreactors provide a culture environment that could potentially meet the requirements for clinical application of tissue engineered products (Placzek et al., 2009).

Many types of bioreactors that are currently used for tissue engineering applications include stirred-tank, perfusion, spinner flask, biowave, rotational wall, roller bottle, radial flow, packed-bed, and rotating (Bancroft, Sikavitsas, & Mikos, 2003; Cameron, Hu, & Kaufman, 2006; Dang, Gerecht-Nir, Chen, Itskovitz-Eldor, & Zandstra, 2004; Goodwin, Schroeder, Wolf, & Moyer, 1993; Schroeder et al., 2005; F. Zhao & Ma, 2005). The mentioned bioreactors have been used primarily for tissue culture, but spinner flasks (Frauenschuh et al., 2007; Schop, Janssen, Borgart, De Bruijn, & Van Dijkhuizen-Radersma, 2010a; Schop et al.,

2009) and biowave bioreactors are gaining prominence in cell expansion (Eibl, Werner, & Eibl, 2010; Schlaeppi et al., 2006).

Different bioreactor systems have been developed for adult stem cells, either to propagate undifferentiated cells and/or to induce differentiation into a particular tissue lineage (Rodrigues, Fernandes, Diogo, Lobato Da Silva, & Cabral, 2011). Bioreactor has been successfully used to expand some types of stem cells including: mesenchymal stem cells (Godara, McFarland, & Nordon, 2008), hematopoietic stem cells (Cabral, 2001; Cabrita et al., 2003; Safinia, Panoskaltsis, & Mantalaris, 2005), neural stem cells (Kallos, Sen, & Behie, 2003) and pluripotent stem cells (Kehoe, Jing, Lock, & Tzanakakis, 2010).

| Type of Bioreactor    | Type of stem cell        | Reference                   |  |
|-----------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------------|--|
| Stirred-tank          | Human neural stem cells  | (Simaõ et al., 2016)        |  |
|                       | Human pluripotent stem   | (Kropp et al., 2016)        |  |
|                       | cells                    |                             |  |
|                       | Human mesenchymal stem   | (Dufey et al., 2017)        |  |
|                       | cells                    |                             |  |
| Spinner flask         | IPSCs                    | (Ismadi et al., 2014)       |  |
|                       | Human mesenchymal stem   | (Nuno, Fonte, Alexandra,    |  |
|                       | cells                    | Lobato Da Silva, & Rafiq,   |  |
|                       |                          | 2014)                       |  |
|                       | Embryonic stem cells     | (Kehoe, Lock, Parikh, &     |  |
|                       |                          | Tzanakakis, 2008)           |  |
|                       | Neural stem cells        | (Sen, Kallos, & Behie,      |  |
|                       |                          | 2002)                       |  |
| Perfusion             | Human mesenchymal stem   | (F. Zhao & Ma, 2005)        |  |
|                       | cells                    |                             |  |
|                       | Embryonic stem cells     | (Yeo et al., 2013)          |  |
|                       | Hematopoietic stem cells | (Housler et al., 2014)      |  |
| Biowave               | Mesenchymal stem cells   | (Jossen, van den Bos, Eibl, |  |
|                       |                          | & Eibl, 2018)               |  |
|                       | Human pluripotent stem   | (Kropp, Massai, &           |  |
|                       | cells                    | Zweigerdt, 2017)            |  |
| Rotating wall vessels | Mesenchymal stem cells   | (Z. Y. Zhang et al., 2009)  |  |

Table 1.2: Different types of bioreactors and their applications.

|               | Human umbilical cord cells | (Reichardt et al., 2013)    |  |
|---------------|----------------------------|-----------------------------|--|
|               | Human epidermal stem cells | (Lei et al., 2011)          |  |
|               | Retinal organoids          | (DiStefano et al., 2018)    |  |
| Roller bottle | Human mesenchymal stem     | (Panchalingam, Jung,        |  |
|               | cells                      | Rosenberg, & Behie, 2015)   |  |
|               | Embryonic stem cells       | (Unger, Muzzio, Aunins, &   |  |
|               |                            | Singhvi, 2000)              |  |
|               | Human hematopoietic stem   | (Andrade-Zaldívar, Kalixto- |  |
|               | cells                      | Sánchez, de la Rosa, & De   |  |
|               |                            | León-Rodríguez, 2011)       |  |
| Packed-bed    | Placental derived          | (Osiecki et al., 2015)      |  |
|               | mesenchymal stromal cells  |                             |  |
|               | Human mesenchymal stem     | (Weber et al., 2010)        |  |
|               | cells                      |                             |  |
|               | Hematopoietic stem cells   | (Meissner, Schröder,        |  |
|               |                            | Herfurth, & Biselli, 1999)  |  |

Selection of a bioreactor system for mammalian cell cultivation beyond bench scale is dependent on whether the cells are adherent, in a suspension grown as single cells or aggregates (Ulloa-Montoya, Verfaillie, & Hu, 2005).

Suspension cells can be grown in stirred vessel (spinner flask or stirred-tank), rotating wall vessels, perfusion and biowave. Adherent cells can be expanded using roller bottle, packedbed or parallel plate bioreactors. For example: murine embryonic stem cells are adherent cells traditionally grown on tissue culture flasks. For the purpose of increasing cell number, surface culture and microcarriers are needed. Surface culture includes roller bottle and multiplate parallel plates (Merten, 2015).

#### **1.8 Microcarriers**

Microcarriers offer the advantage of providing a large surface area for monolayer cell growth during proliferation in a homogenous suspension culture. Since its introduction in 1967, microcarrier culture has been applied successfully for growing primary cells and anchorage-dependent cell lines for the production of vaccines, pharmaceuticals and cell population expansion (Van Wezel, 1967). van Wezel cultured fibroblast-like cells derived from rabbit embryonic skin cells and human embryonic lung cells on positively charged DEAE-Sephadex beads suspended in stirred culture. Since then, microcarrier cultures have been commonly used

for large-scale expansion of anchorage-dependent cells in vaccine and pharmaceutical production.

Microcarriers (MCs) are small spherical beads (diameters between 90 – 300µm) made of different substrates and suspended in growth medium (B. Li et al., 2015). Different coatings provide adherent surfaces for cells to attach, grow and expand. Detaching cells from microcarriers does not require the use of Trypsin and other aggressive enzymes, from which approximately only 30% of the cultured retinal cells can survive (Tropepe et al., 2000). There are several types of microcarriers that are commercially available made from wide variety of materials (e.g. plastics, glass, dextran, cellulose, gelatin and collagen), each with different characteristics. The choice of microcarriers depends on their applications, as it has been reported that different cell types grow better on one microcarrier type over another. For example, several adult cell types have been shown to prefer Cytodex 1 MCs (Q. Fang et al., 2019; Rafiq, Coopman, Nienow, & Hewitt, 2016; Schop, Janssen, Borgart, De Bruijn, & Van Dijkhuizen-Radersma, 2010b), Cytodex 3 MCs (Hewitt et al., 2011; Nie, Bergendahl, Hei, Jones, & Palecek, 2009; L. Zhou et al., 2013) or CultiSphere MCs (Santos et al., 2011).

Regarding their structure, they can either be micro or macroporous. In microporous MCs, the diameters ranging from 150-200 µm and pore sizes smaller than 10 µm. Cells proliferate in a monolayer when attached to the external surface of the carrier, being directly exposed to the shear stress caused by agitation and aeration that can be harmful for cell expansion (Butler, 1996). In macroporous MCs with diameters ranging from 200-400 µm and pore sizes between 10-50 µm (sometimes even greater), despite growing on the outer surface, cells are also able to grow inside the carrier pores since the mean cell diameter for single cells in suspension is about 10 µm (Nilsson, Buzsaky, & Mosbach, 1986), being shielded against hydrodynamic forces experienced within the system. However, cell growth within the microcarrier pores raises some doubts as whether it has created a diffusional gradient instead of an equally homogeneous environment for cell proliferation compared to the outer matrix surface with an efficient mass transfer and gaseous exchange. Cells can also grow in three dimensions at high densities and that confers more stability and improves the longevity of the culture, making them suitable for long-term culture (Storm, Orchard, Bone, Chaudhuri, & Welham, 2010). Beside these advantages, some disadvantages of carriers have also to be considered: 1) some carriers have to be prepared before use, 2) cell harvest from macroporous carriers can be difficult, 3) cell count, especially in the case of macroporous carriers, requires special techniques, 4) for larger macroporous carriers, mass transfer limitations have to be considered (Eibl, Eibl, Pörtner, Catapano, & Czermak, 2009).

The ideal microcarrier should be non-toxic, biocompatible, promote favourable cellular interactions and tissue development and at the same time fulfil adequate physical and mechanical properties (Mano et al., 2007). Non-toxic microcarriers are required to obtain good cell growth and also when the cell culture products are used clinically. The following criteria are essential for microcarriers: 1) They must have surface properties that allow the cells to adhere and spread in order for the cells to proliferate. 2) The density of the microcarriers should be slightly greater than that of the surrounding medium so that cells and medium can be separated easily and it should allow for complete suspension of the microcarriers with only gentle stirring. 3) To make the cells reach confluence at approximately the same time ,the size distribution should be narrow. The size of the microcarriers should also allow easy sampling and handling. 4) The optical properties should permit studying the cells throughout the culture using standard microscopy techniques and without having to remove the cells from the carriers. 5) The stirring by waving of the microcarriers during cultivation requires a microcarrier that is not too rigid to avoid damage when a collision occurs.

Microcarriers offer several advantages when culturing anchorage-dependent cells. Compared to conventional methods the microcarriers provide growth in several dimensions and at high densities, which makes it possible to grow several million cells/ml (Boo, Selvaratnam, Tai, Ahmad, & Kamarul, 2011). This means that the laboratory and storage space can be reduced markedly, which will lower the costs and save time. The cell culture techniques where microcarriers are used have become very important when large amounts of biological materials are produced, such as vaccines, antibodies, enzymes, hormones, nucleic acids and interferons (Mano et al., 2007).

Taking all the above-mentioned MC advantages in consideration, I will test different types of MCs and monitor how they affect RSC survival and expansion in chapter two.

#### 1.9 Aim and research summary

#### **Research aims:**

This research aims to establish an expansion protocol that will provide large number of stem cells that can be later differentiated into photoreceptors and RPE. The current available protocol involves growing RSCs in static monolayer culture which, even with the addition of several mitogens, still considered inefficient. The first aim of this thesis is to investigate and compare the possible methods available to expand the numbers of RCSs. Taking in consideration the challenges associated with the current available transplantation protocols, the protocol published in this thesis will not only provide large number of stem cells that can be directed toward photoreceptors and RPE differentiation, in addition, these adult stem cell derived photoreceptor cells will provide a great source for autologous transplantation. Expansion level across platforms (static, SSB and SSB plus MCs) will be tested using RCS clonal assay. The number of tertiary clonal spheres will be counted, and other stem cell properties will be addressed including: survival, proliferation, self-renewal, and differentiation. RCS behaviour will be monitored at normoxia vs niche-like hypoxia (21% O<sub>2</sub> vs 5% O<sub>2</sub>) to determine which condition is more effective in promoting symmetrical stem cell division.

The second aim of this thesis is to study the behaviour of RSCs and RPCs on clonal sphere level. RSC spheres will be classified into three groups depending on their pigment distribution. I will study the intrinsic and the extrinsic factors affecting the proliferation of pigmented and non-pigmented cells and to define and better understand the heterogeneity of RSCs and their precursors.

#### **General hypothesis:**

RSCs are multipotent and self-renewing cells. They can divide symmetrically giving rise to two identical daughter cells or asymmetrically producing an identical daughter cell and a progenitor cell. There are about 100 RSCs per mouse eye and 10000 per human eye. These stem cells are multipotent i.e can give rise to all retinal cell types. In practice, there are many problems associated with growing stem cells and differentiated cells *in vitro*. First, RSCs are quiescent in adult due to the inhibitory niche *in vivo*. Second, when cultured *in vitro*, most of these stem cells get lost during dissection and passaging due to the use of strong enzymatic dissociation protocol. Third, RSCs *in vitro* divide asymmetrically; with subsequent passages, each stem cell will give rise to one RSC sphere. Fourth, when stem cells differentiate into retinal cells *in vitro*, most will die after transplantation and few will get integrated into the

recipient retina. Fifth, RSCs under pan-retinal conditions give rise to low percentage of photoreceptors and RPE cells, factors like RA/taurine and coco can be added to the culture to increase the production of rods and cones respectively. However, growing RPE cells from adult RSCs remains a challenging process. Establishing a protocol that can increase the number of RSCs by enhancing their survival and facilitating their symmetrical division *in vitro* is a growing demand.

#### Specific research questions:

The main hypothesis of this work:

1) Culturing RSCs in stirring suspension bioreactor in hypoxia will improve survival and enhance symmetrical division.

To test the first hypothesis, I compared RSC growth and proliferation across different platforms: static culture, stirring bioreactor and stirring bioreactor loaded with microcarriers. In each platform I compared the growth and viability of RSCs in normoxic (21%  $O_2$ ) and hypoxic (5%  $O_2$ ) cultures. In bioreactors, I tested the effects of different agitation speeds, microcarrier types and different seeding density. Then, conducted a tertiary sphere assay to measure RSC expansion and in the end, I combined the best conditions that resulted in greater expansion.

2) All RSC clonal spheres arise from the same type of RSC.

To test for the second hypothesis, RSC clonal spheres were classified into three groups based on their pigment level and distribution. The differentiation potential for each group was observed and the groups were subsequently tested for self renewal and multipotentiality. Several experiments were performed to test for intrinsic and extrinsic factors influencing fate decision in the downstream progenitors in all sphere types. I classified the pigmented progenitors in each sphere type into early and late RPE progenitors depending on their proliferation in response to signals received from co-cultured non-pigmented cells and based on their qPCR gene expression analysis.

### **Chapter 2**

### **Expansion of Retinal Stem Cells and their Progeny Using Cell Microcarriers in a Bioreactor**

This chapter has been published in Biotechnology Progress Baakdhah, T. & van der Kooy, D (2019). Expansion of Retinal Stem Cells and their Progeny Using Cell Microcarriers in a Bioreactor. *Biotechnol. Prog.* 35(3):e2800. doi: 10.1002/btpr.2800.

#### 2.1 Abstract

Blindness as a consequence of degenerative eye diseases (e.g., age-related macular degeneration and retinitis pigmentosa) is a major health problem and numbers are expected to increase by up to 50% by 2020. Unfortunately, adult mouse and human retinal stem cells (RSCs), unlike fish and amphibians, are quiescent *in vivo* and do not regenerate following disease or injury. To replace lost cells, we used microcarriers (MCs) in a suspension stirring bioreactor to help achieve numbers suitable for differentiation and transplantation. We achieved a significant 10-fold enrichment of RSC yield compared to conventional static culture techniques using a combination of FACTIII MCs and relative hypoxia (5%) inside the bioreactor. We found that hypoxia (5% O<sub>2</sub>) was associated with better RSC expansion across all platforms; and this can be attributed to hypoxia-induced increases in survival and/or symmetric division of stem cells. In the future, we will target the differentiation of RSCs and their progeny toward rod and cone photoreceptor phenotypes using FACTIII MCs inside bioreactors to expand their populations in order to produce the large numbers of cells needed for transplantation.

#### **2.2 Introduction**

Retinal stem cells (RSCs) are a rare population (1 in 500) of large, multipotent, heavily pigmented cells that reside in the pigmented layer of the ciliary epithelium (CE) of the adult human and mouse eye. Embryonic RSCs can divide symmetrically to expand and maintain the stem cell pool by producing two new stem cells (Ahmad et al., 2000; Coles, Angenieux, et al., 2004; Tropepe et al., 2000) or asymmetrically giving rise to a daughter stem cell and a retinal progenitor cell (Balenci & van der Kooy, 2013; Burton & Caniggia, 2001; Otteson & Hitchcock, 2003; Saito et al., 2003; Tropepe et al., 2000). Retinal progenitors can differentiate to either retinal pigmented epithelium (RPE) or neural retina cell types: photoreceptors, horizontal, amacrine, bipolar and retinal ganglion cells and müller glial cells (Ballios et al., 2012). There are approximately 10,000 RSCs in a single human eye (Coles, Angenieux, et al., 2004) and 100 per mouse eye (Ahmad et al., 2000; Tropepe et al., 2000). It could be said that the stem cell status of the RSC is still contested; in particular two labs (Cicero et al., 2009; Gualdoni et al., 2010) have argued against the stemness of RSCs, one of them (Cicero et al., 2009) suggested that RSCs are a product of trans-differentiation from RPE cells to neural cells. This remains, however, a remote possibility given that RSCs can be prospectively isolated and that RSCs can self-renew over multiple passages and produce progenitors that differentiate to all neural retinal cell types (Abdouh & Bernier, 2006; Ahmad et al., 2000; Ballios et al., 2012; Coles, Angenieux, et al., 2004; Del Debbio, Peng, Xiong, & Ahmad, 2013; Demontis, Aruta, Comitato, de Marzo, & Marigo, 2012; Y. Fang et al., 2013; Inoue et al., 2010).

Clinical applications of adult-derived mammalian RSCs are associated with several problems. Unlike fish and amphibians, those mammalian RSC cells are quiescent in vivo in adults and do not regenerate following disease or injury (Balenci & van der Kooy, 2013; Otteson & Hitchcock, 2003). In many fish and amphibians, the CMZ is considered a proliferative niche, where RSCs contribute to retinal regeneration throughout life (Balenci et al., 2013). In mammals, including humans and mice, no such proliferation is observed within the adult CE beyond early postnatal day (PND) 10 in mice and past birth in humans, nor following disease or injury (Ahmad et al., 2000; Tropepe et al., 2000). Another problem associated with clinical application is that large numbers of cells are needed to overcome cell loss due to degeneration itself, and due to poor cell survival and integration following transplantation (Warre-Cornish, Barber, Sowden, Ali, & Pearson, 2014). To produce large quantities of retinal precursors and subsequently their progeny of photoreceptors and RPE, some research groups have used pluripotent stem cells, including embryonic stem cells (ESCs) and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), which have an infinite ability for self-renewal as well as the potential to differentiate into every cell type in the body (Schwartz, Tan, Hosseini, & Nagiel, 2016; Sowden, 2014; Uygun et al., 2009; N. Wu, Doorenbos, & Chen, 2016; Yue et al., 2010). ESCs are derived from the inner cell mass of blastocyst-stage embryos; hence their ability to differentiate into all adult cell types derived from the three embryonic germ layers. Many labs have been successful in differentiating photoreceptors and RPE from ESCs (Cowan, 2016; Schwartz et al., 2016; Sowden, 2014; Uygun et al., 2009; Yue et al., 2010), but the ethical issues and immune rejection issues remain problematic, and the clinical application of ESCs carries a risk of teratoma formation as well. Similar to ESCs, iPSCs are pluripotent cells, but they differ from ESCs in being produced in vitro by reprogramming somatic cells through transduction of four transcription factors: Oct3/4, Sox2, Klf4 and c-Myc (N. Wu et al., 2016). The use of defined reprogramming factors for generating specific iPSCs offers: 1) an autologous source, eliminating rejection; 2) an opportunity to repair genetic defects; 3) absence of ethical problems faced with the use of ESC derived cells (Geng et al., 2017; N. Wu et al., 2016). However, issues including the risk of viral integration producing oncogene expression are still concerning (Geng et al., 2017). Ciliary epithelium derived human RSCs and RSCs derived from iPCs are potential autologous sources to bypass the ethical and immune rejection concerns associated with the use of ESCs (Clarke, Ballios, & van der Kooy, 2012; Ramsden et al., 2013).

RSCs traditionally have been grown as clonal spheres of cells in static tissue culture flasks (T-flasks) or in 24 well plates, However, scaling-up cell production by using T-flasks is not effective: it can be very labor intensive and there is no control over many culture parameters. Moreover, there is significant cell loss that results from using the current enzymatic dissociation protocol (Tropepe et al., 2000) on clonal spheres of cells. In this report, we studied the effect of systematic variation of factors such as agitation speed and oxygen concentration on RSC behavior inside bioreactors. We hypothesize that using SSBs (suspension stirring bioreactors) that are scalable will enhance RSC expansion through facilitating symmetrical division and allowing greater survival of cells by controlling conditions such as pH, temperature, agitation rate, nutrient level and O<sub>2</sub> concentration. Another advantage of SSBs over static T-flask cultures is that we can more easily manipulate factors that are known to impact cell behavior (e.g. shear stresses, hydrodynamic pressure and medium flow patterns) (Sen, Kallos, & Behie, 2001). Suspension culture bioreactors have been previously used to expand embryonic stem cells (Cormier, Zur Nieden, Rancourt, & Kallos, 2006; Fernandes et al., 2009; King & Miller, 2007), neural stem cells (Gilbertson, Sen, Behie, & Kallos, 2006)<sup>-</sup> mammary stem cells (B. S. Youn et al., 2005), hematopoietic stem cells (Choi, Noh, Lim, & Kim, 2010) and cancer stem cells (Benjamin S. Youn, Sen, Behie, Girgis-Gabardo, & Hassell, 2006). To increase viability by reducing the cell death associated with the use of dissociative enzymes, we employed cell microcarriers (MCs) (Forestell, Kalogerakis, Behie, & Gerson, 1992). Detaching cells from MCs does not require the use of Trypsin and other aggressive enzymes, from which approximately only 30% of the retinal cells can survive (Coles et al., 2006). Instead 1X TrypLE select solution (Cat. No.12563-011, Gibco) can be used to detach cells in a safer and faster way because: 1) it is an animal free compound and is less harsh to cells, 2), can be diluted using either buffer or media, 3) is stable at room temperature and can last on the shelf for up to 6 months and 4) it is free of contaminating viruses and prion proteins (Rourou, van der Ark, van der Velden, & Kallel, 2007). There are several types of MCs that are commercially available, each with different characteristics. For example, several adult cell types have been shown to prefer Cytodex 1 MCs (Frauenschuh et al., 2007; Ng, Berry, & Butler, 1996; Schop, an Dijkhuizen-Radersma, et al., 2010; Schop, Janssen, et al., 2010a), while mouse embryonic stem cells have been reported to grow well on Cytodex 3 MCs (Abranches, Bekman, Henrique, & Cabral, 2007; Alfred et al., 2011) and human embryonic stem cells show enhanced attachment and growth on Hillex and CultiSphere MCs (Phillips et al., 2008). Cytodex 1 and Cytodex 3 microcarriers have been shown to support human MSC growth in suspension culture (Schop, an Dijkhuizen-Radersma, et al., 2010; Yuan, Kallos, Hunter, & Sen, 2014). Another method of large scale expansion using MCs in SSB can be done by using bead-to-bead cell transfer either by adding new bare MCs to already confluent MCs, or by transferring old MCs to a new bioreactor containing new MC beads (Luo, Sun, Geng, & Qi, 2008; Merten, 2015; Ohlson, Branscomb, & Nilsson, 1994). However, this method might not work with all cell types and can lead to microcarrier aggregation, cell multilayering and heterogeneity within the aggregates (Merten, 2015).

We have developed a novel RSC enrichment protocol using cell MCs inside suspension bioreactors spinning at lower agitation rates and with lower oxygen concentrations to achieve the best possible cell survival.

#### **2.3 Materials and Methods**

#### 2.3.1 Mouse Strain

RSCs were derived from the ciliary epithelium of adult (7 - 8-week-old) C57BL mice. All animal procedures were performed in accordance with the Guide to the Care and Use of Experimental Animals developed by the Canadian Council on Animal Care and approved by the Animal Care Committee at the University of Toronto.

#### 2.3.2 Primary cell isolation and culture

Cells were plated in SFM on non-adherent tissue culture plates (Nunc; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rochester, NY) at a density of 20 cells/ $\mu$ L in serum-free media with FGF2 (10 ng/mL, human recombinant; Sigma-Aldrich) and heparin (2 ng/mL; Sigma-Aldrich) in humidified 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator with temperature of 37°C.

For low density experiments we dissected 7-10 mice (14-20 eyes) per individual bioreactor experiment. For high density bioreactor and microcarriers experiments we dissected 15-17 mice (30-34 eyes) per individual experiment.

#### **2.3.3 Bioreactor preparation**

Following 7 days of primary culture in serum free media, clonal spheres were dissociated into a single cell suspension using an enzymatic solution (trypsin 1.33 mg/mL, hyaluronidase 0.67 mg/mL, kynurenic acid 0.2 mg/mL, 0.5 mg/mL collagenase I, 0.5 mg/mL collagenase II, 0.1 mg/mL elastase, Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON). Cells were then transferred to (125 ml / paddle) stirring bioreactor vessels (Das gip, SR02500DLS, Eppendorf) with a 65ml working volume of serum free medium with FGF2/heparin (FH). Prior to use, all inner surfaces of the glass suspension bioreactor vessels and outer surfaces of the impellers were siliconized using a 1:9 ratio of Sigmacote (Cat. No. SL-2, Sigma-Aldrich Toronto, ON, Canada) to hexane (Cat. No. B90210, Omnisolv from VWR International), sterilized and calibrated (oxygen and pH

calibration). Bioreactor parameters were set as following for all experiments: pH: 7.3 Temp: 37°C and O<sub>2</sub> concentration: 21% & 5%. Semi-fed batch (30%) culture was used by adding 15 ml every two days. Cells were cultured at a density of 7 cells/ $\mu$ l. Static control culture was kept in a humidified 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator at 7 cells/ $\mu$ l density for 7 days.

#### 2.3.4 Tertiary RSC Clonal Sphere Assays

Samples (15ml) were taken every two days over 7 days duration.  $37\mu m$  filter (Stem cell technology, cat#27215) was used to separate single cells from aggregates. Dissociative enzymes similar to those used above were added to aggregates only. Then, cells (single cells and aggregates) were cultured separately at 10000 cells/well density in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> humidified incubator to determine the tertiary clonal sphere percentage frequencies of total cells. 10 µl for Cell counting performed by hemocytometer (Cat. No. B3175, VWR) using Trypan blue dye (Cat no. T8154, Sigma-Aldrich).

#### 2.3.5 Cells counts and viability

After dissociating bioreactor and static samples, 10 µl samples were prepared for cell counting performed by hemocytometer (Cat. No. B3175, VWR) using Trypan blue dye (Cat. No. T8154, Sigma-Aldrich). Viability was analyzed using Ethidium homodiamer-2 (Cat. No. E3599, Invitrogen) and hochest staining. Samples were diluted, if necessary, using Ca2þ- and Mg2þ-free phosphate-buffered saline (DPBS) (Gibco).

#### 2.3.6 Flow cytometry

Secondary spheres from 5%  $O_2$  bioreactors were dissociated. EdU (Click-iT EdU kit, Cat. #C10083 Invitrogen) was diluted in DMSO, 1X PBS at 5 mg in 2 ml giving a stock concentration of 10 mM. Working dilutions were made in 1X PBS at 10  $\mu$ M. Cells were treated with 10  $\mu$ M EdU for 3 hours duration, after 24 hours of initial culture. Cells then were washed using DPBS 1x and dissociated using the previously described enzymes, after which they were fixed using 4% PFA for 15 minutes and permeabilized using 0.5  $\mu$ l TritonX-100. Reaction cocktails were prepared according to protocol instructions and cells incubated for 30 minutes. Cells were then analyzed using flow cytometry (BD LSRFORTESSA).

#### 2.3.7 Microcarrier Surface Screening

We conducted the screening experiment using three different coatings: FACTIII (cationic charged collagen), ProNectin-F (recombinant protein coated) and HillexII (modified polystyrene) purchased as a starter kit from Solohill Inc. These microcarriers do not require

the overnight soaking step and can be sterilized along with the bioreactor during the autoclaving step. For preliminary testing of the microcarriers, primary RSCs were dissociated and seeded on different types of microcarriers (FACTIII, NectinF,HillexII, Solohill INC.) in 6 wells plate seeded with 20000cells/ml (4-5 cells/bead) in a 21% static humidified incubator with the shaker adjusted to 50 rpm, in addition to static control culture without microcarriers. 2 ml samples were taken every two days to monitor cell growth, attachment, viability and do RSC sphere clonal assay (table 1). Microcarriers were allowed to settle down in the falcon tube then washed two times using Dulbecco's Phosphate-Buffered Saline (DPBS). Cells then were detached from the microcarriers using 1x TryplE solution for 15-20 minutes in 37°C, and then they were filtered and washed with Serum free media. Static control samples were dissociated using the trypsin/collagenase enzyme mix. Cell counts were done using Trypan blue stain and viability was assessed using Ethidium homodiamer-2 and Hoechst staining. Cells then were cultured in SFM+FH at a density of 10000 cells/well at 21% oxygen concentration in incubators for 7 days for tertiary clonal sphere assays.

#### 2.3.8 Continuous versus intermittent Agitation

To test the effect of agitation mode (continuous versus intermittent) on RSCs attachment and expansion, we dissociated primary RSC spheres and seeded them on FACTIII MCs (10000 cells/ml) in either continuous agitation (50rpm) or intermittent agitation (50 rpm, 3min agitation followed by 30 min no agitation for 6 hours followed by continuous agitation thereafter) under conditions of 5% oxygen, pH 7.34 and temp 37°C. Samples were taken every 2 days for growth analyses and tertiary clonal sphere assays. Microcarriers were allowed to settle down in the falcon tube, and then washed two times using Dulbecco's Phosphate-Buffered Saline (DPBS). Cells were detached from the microcarriers using 1x TryplE enzyme, then filtered and washed with Serum free media and seeded at 10000 cells/well clonal density in a 5% oxygen incubator in SFM+FH.

#### 2.3.9 Low versus High Seeding Density

Primary spheres were dissociated using the Trypsin/Collagenase enzymes mix and then transferred to a bioreactor vessel filled SFM+FH and FACTIII microcarriers (sterilized and autoclaved along with the bioreactor). Cells were cultured either at 10000 cells/ml (2 cells/bead) or 50000 cells/ml (9-10 cells/bead). The bioreactor stirring speed was adjusted to 50rpm continues agitation in both experimental assays. Samples were taken every 2 days for growth analyses and tertiary clonal sphere assays. Microcarriers were allowed to settle down in the falcon tube, then washed two times using Dulbecco's Phosphate-Buffered Saline

(DPBS). Cells were detached from the microcarriers using 1x TryplE enzyme, then they were filtered and washed with serum free media and seeded at 10000 cells/well clonal density in 5% oxygen incubator in SFM+FH.

#### 2.3. 10 1xTryplE versus 10x TryplE

Primary spheres were dissociated using Trypsin/Collagenase enzymes mix and then transferred to a bioreactor vessel filled with SFM + FH and FACTIII MCs (sterilized and autoclaved along with the bioreactor) at 50,000 cells/mL (9–10 cells/bead) seeding density. Samples were taken every 2 days and cells on the MCs were incubated in 1X TrypLE or 10X TrypLE Select (Cat. No. A1217701, Gibco) for 10–15 min at 37°C. After counting, cells were seeded at a density of 10,000 cells/well (SFM + FH) for 7 days in a 5% oxygen incubator for tertiary clonal spheres assay.

#### 2.3.11 RSC Differentiation and Immunostaining

RSC colonies cultured in 5% SSB were plated on laminin-coated (50 ng/mL, Sigma-Aldrich) 24-well plates (Nunc) in a humidified 5% CO2 incubator, and differentiated using a protocol for rod photoreceptor differentiation involving taurine (100 µm; Sigma-Aldrich) and retinoic acid (RA) (500 nM; Sigma-Aldrich), plus FH for 50 days. Pan-retinal differentiation media supplemented with 1% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON) and FH was used as a control. Media and growth factors were replaced every 4 days. The cells were then rinsed with PBS and fixed using 4% PFA for 10 min at room temperature. Cells were permeabilized with 0.3% Triton X-100 for 10 min and preblocked with 2% normal goat serum and bovine serum albumin (BSA) for 1 hr at room temperature. Cells were then incubated overnight at 4°C in the following primary antibody: anti- Rhodopsin (MAB5316, RetP1, 1:250; Millipore) and next day cells were washed three times with PBS and incubated in the following secondary anti-body: Alexa fluor 568 (1:400; Invitrogen) for 1 hr at room temperature. Nuclei were stained with Hoechst dye (1:1,000; Sigma-Aldrich). Stained cells were then examined under a fluorescence microscope (Axio Observer D1; Carl Zeiss) using AxioVision 4.8 software (Carl Zeiss).

#### 2.3.12 Statistics

Statistical analysis was performed using Student's *t*-test through the program GraphPad Prism 8 (GraphPad Software Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA) and Microsoft Excel. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. The significance value was set at p < 0.05.

#### 2.4 Results and discussion

#### 2.4.1 A lower agitation rate increased the yield of RSCs by 8 times over faster agitation

To engineer the RSC microenvironment in stirring bioreactors, several factors should be taken in consideration: physical forces (mechanical stress and hydrodynamic forces), oxygen tension, extra cellular matrix (ECM) and the regulation of autocrine and paracrine signaling. The hydrodynamic forces generated in a bioreactor depend on: agitation rate, seeding density, impeller and vessel geometry, as well as the presence of oxygen and pH probes that can disturb the radial flow (M. Liu, 2013). We dissociated RSC colonies from primary clonal spheres and then cultured the cells at 7000 cells/ml density under high and low speeds (50 and 80 rpm) in 21% Oxygen, 5%CO<sub>2</sub>, pH 7.3 and at a temperature of 37°C in a DASGIP stirring bioreactor vessels (Cat. No. SR0250ODLS, Eppendorf). Thirty percentage of fresh media and growth factors were added every two days (30% semi-fed batch). Other studies previously have illustrated the advantages of using semi-fed batch (i.e. adding fresh media and growth factors regularly) over batch culture (maintaining the initial starting media inside the bioreactor for the entire experiment length without adding fresh media) on cell growth and proliferation (Kallos et al., 2003). Semi-fed replacement of culture media will ensure an adequate supply of nutrients as well as removal of any by products or cytokines that can negatively affect cell growth and proliferation (Kallos et al., 2003). In our study, samples were taken every 2 days over the 6-day culture period. The average percentage of viable cells for each sample from the three experiments is shown in Figure 2.1A. We observed less viability in cells grown under high agitation compared to those cultured under low agitation or in a static culture, which can be attributed to the effects of shear stress on the cells in the high agitation culture in addition to the negative effects of the dissociating enzymes. We dissociated the cells from each bioreactor sample and cultured them at clonal density in a humidified static incubator for 7 days (tertiary clonal assay) (Coles et al., 2008; Tropepe et al., 2000) in order to calculate the numbers and percentages of RSCs. Although single RSCs start clonal sphere growth, the percentage of RSCs in a sphere is very low; the vast majority of sphere cells are retinal progenitor cells with less proliferative and differentiation abilities. The average tertiary sphere percentages from all samples (Day 2,4 and 6) were significantly higher at 50 rpm 0.01  $\pm$ 0.00182 compared to 80 rpm (0.00133  $\pm$  0.00023), but the numbers of RSC spheres produced under 50 rpm conditions were not statistically greater than those seen in the static control cultures  $(0.00653 \pm 0.00323)$  (Figure 2.1B). The percentages of clonal RSC spheres of total cells cultured per day are shown in Figure A-1. We conclude that culturing RSCs under the higher agitation rate of 80 rpm negatively affected cell viability and the number of tertiary

RSCs. Thus, 50 rpm was chosen as a preferred stirring speed for all of the following experiments.



Figure 2.1: Viability of RSCs and their progeny in spinning suspension (50 rpm and 80 rpm) vs stationary cultures.

(A) Average percentage of viable cells cultured in a stirring suspension bioreactor for 6 days under two different agitation rates compared with static control culture. (B) Average percentage of tertiary sphere forming cells in 50 rpm and 80 rpm bioreactors versus static culture. Average tertiary sphere percentages from all samples (day 2,4 and 6) were significantly higher at 50 rpm compared to 80 rpm (p=0.02, t=3.731, df=4, n=2) but not to the static control culture (p= 0.4407, t=0.855, df=4). Each bar represents the average percentage of RSCs retrieved from Day 2, 4 and 6 samples in each experiment from n= 2 individual bioreactor experiments and n=8-24 technical replicate per sample in each experiment. 14 eyes from 7 mice were dissected for primary spheres growth to seed each bioreactor). (C) Average diameter of aggregates formed inside the bioreactor at both speeds on day 6. Average aggregate diameter was significantly smaller in 80 rpm cultures compared to 50 rpm cultures (p< 0.004, t=5.76, df=3). Results represent the means n= 2 individual bioreactor experiments per condition and n= 2-9 technical replicate in each experiment)  $\pm$  SEMs (\*\*p<.01).

## 2.4.2 Hypoxia (5% O<sub>2</sub>) increased the survival and the symmetric division of RSCs with no effect on proliferation rate

Next, we examined the effect of different oxygen concentration on RSC growth and proliferation in stirring suspension bioreactor cultures. RSCs within their niche reside in relatively hypoxic conditions (1–5% O<sub>2</sub>) (Panchision, 2009). Low oxygen tension is critical for multiple stem cell types to maintain their self-renewal and proliferation (Cheung & Rando, 2013). Hypoxia also is known to stabilize Hypoxia Induced Factor alpha (HIF-1), which in turn activates genes that are implicated in many different cellular functions such as cell survival, cell proliferation, self-renewal, apoptosis, glucose metabolism and angiogenesis (Ke & Costa, 2006). To investigate the effect of relative hypoxia on RSCs, we dissociated primary clonal retinal and transferred them to a Dasgip bioreactor system. The average tertiary sphere percentages (day 2, 4 and 6) from aggregate samples were 0.01%±0.00311 in 5% SSB, 0.0018% ±0.0009 in 21% SSB and 0.0014% ±0.00088 in the static cultures (Figure 2.2A). The tertiary clonal sphere percentages from aggregate samples only per day are shown in Figure A-3A, and data from single cell samples only are shown in Figure A-3B. The average tertiary sphere percentages (day 2, 4 and 6) from aggregate and single cells samples were (0.0068%±0.00197) in 5% SSB, (0.0013% ±0.00055) in 21% SSB and (0.002% ±0.00099) in the static cultures (Figure 2.2B). By culturing in SSB and hypoxia we recovered 5 times more clonal spheres compared to 21% SSB and 7 times more than that which was obtained from 21% static cultures. No significant difference was observed between the numbers of tertiary clonal spheres derived from 21% SSB and 21% static cultures. We conclude that culturing in relative hypoxia was associated with a significant increase in clonal stem cell yields in both static and bioreactor cultures. We suggest that relative hypoxia could have exerted this effect through one or more of the following mechanisms: improving cell survival, enhancing proliferation or increasing the symmetric division of RSCs.



Figure 2.2: Tertiary clonal RSC sphere assays.

Cells from bioreactor and static culture samples were dissociated and plated at 10000 cells/500µl/well in serum free media, FGFB and Heparin for 7 days in 21% oxygen static humidified incubator. (A) Average percentage of clonal sphere forming cells in 5% SSB, 21% SSB and 21% static culture. Culturing in SSB and hypoxia we resulted in a 5-fold increase in spheres compared to 21% SSB (p=0.0265, t=2.719, df=4, *n*=3 individual bioreactor experiments) and 7-fold increase when compared to 21% static culture (p=0.0235, t=2.837, df=4, *n*=2-3 individual bioreactor experiments). Results represent the means  $\pm$ SEMs. Each bar represents the average percentage of RSCs retrieved from Day 2, 4 and 6 samples in each experiment from *n*= 2 individual bioreactor experiments and *n*= 8-24 technical replicate per sample in each experiment. Fourteen eyes from 7 mice were dissected

for primary spheres growth to seed each bioreactor). (b) Average percentage of RSC clonal spheres from aggregate and single cell samples. Average tertiary spheres percentage (days 2, 4, and 6) from aggregate and single cell samples in 5% SSB, 21% SSB, and static culture.

To further analyze the effect of relative hypoxia on the survival of RSCs, we tested the viability of single cell and aggregate samples every two days using Ethidium homodiamer-2 and Hoechst staining. The average 5% SSB viability (single cells + aggregates) over 6 days was similar to 21% SSB culture and 21% static culture (77.54%  $\pm$  15.15, 77.11%  $\pm$  9.53 and  $62.29\% \pm 12.31$ , respectively) (Figure A-2A). On the other hand, there was 1.5-fold increase in the viability of the cells in the aggregates samples in hypoxia (Figure A-2B) compared to normoxia in SSB cultures. To investigate the effect of 5% oxygen on the proliferation of RSCs, cells density was measured every two days using trypan blue and a heamocytometer for both single cell and aggregate samples. The growth rate chart showed non-significant differences between 5% and 21% SSB with expansion of  $12.9 \pm 3.31$  and  $12.92 \pm 1.59$ -fold, respectively (Figure 2.3A and 2.3B). The average sphere diameters also were similar at 70µm  $\pm 8.08$  in 5% SSB,  $81.33\mu$ m  $\pm 5.81$  in 21% SSB and  $86.66\mu$ m  $\pm 6.65$  in static culture (Figure 2.3C). To further test the proliferative capacity of RSCs in hypoxic and normoxic cultures, the population doubling rate for each condition was calculated using this equation: N=[log(NH)- $\log(N1)$ ]/log (2) where N = population doublings, N(H) = cell harvest number, and N(I) = plating cell number. Population doubling time (PDT) was calculated at each passage, PDT= time of culture (hrs)/N, where N = population doubling level. Minimal differences were observed between normoxic and hypoxic cultures suggesting that relative hypoxia did not affect the proliferation of RSCs and their progeny. To further document this observation and test the alternative explanation of increased survival in hypoxia, hypoxic and normoxic RSC spheres were inoculated with Edu 24 hours post culture initiation. The percentages of cells labeled with Edu were determined using a click-it kit (Invitrogen, cat# C-10420) 3 hr post inoculation. Edu incorporates into DNA during S-phase and labels all dividing cells (Figure **2.**4A). No significant difference was seen in Edu labeling between normoxia and hypoxia.





(A) Growth rate. (B) Fold expansion. (C) Average clonal sphere diameter for tertiary spheres derived from 5% SSB, 21% SSB and 21% control static culture. Results represent the means of n=2-3 of individual bioreactor experiments  $\pm$  SEMs.

To investigate if hypoxia affects the mode of RSC division, we added the Notch receptor ligand Delta3 (Dll3) to tertiary RSCs grown from both hypoxia and normoxia in static cultures (Figure 2.4B). Delta 3 previously was shown to increase RSC symmetrical division in adult and PND2 RSCs, and a number of previous studies have also indicated its critical role in maintaining the precursor cell pool in the developing eye (Artavanis-Tsakonas, Rand, & Lake,

1999; Balenci & van der Kooy, 2013; Jadhav, Cho, & Cepko, 2006). Dll3 increased the number of clonal RSCs by 2.4 times when added to cells from normoxic cultures ( $0.875 \pm 0.144$  in normoxia alone and  $2.14 \pm 0.340$  in normoxia + Dll3). When added to cells from hypoxia, Dll3 caused a non-significant increase in the number of RSCs compared to hypoxic culture alone (hypoxia  $1.54\pm0.110$ , hypoxia + Dll3  $1.25\pm0.25$ ). We suggest that hypoxia already had increased symmetric divisions of RSCs and that adding Dll3 had no further effect on enhancing symmetric divisions.

From the above observations, we conclude: 1) relative hypoxia did not increase RSC and progenitor proliferation compared to normoxia and 2) relative hypoxia improved cell survival and facilitated RSC symmetrical division. However, RSCs are quite rare cells in our cultures and thus differentiating selective survival versus symmetric proliferation effects on specifically RSCs remains difficult. In light of the above results, relative hypoxia (5%  $O_2$ ) will be used for all of the following experiments.



Figure 2.4: Effects of hypoxia on RSCs (symmetrical division rather than proliferation).

(A) Flow cytometric analysis of adult RSC cultured in hypoxic (5%) and normoxic (21%) oxygen. No significant difference in Edu expression (red) was seen between 5% and 21% oxygen cultures. Data shown were gathered on a BD LSRFORTESSA flow cytometer. (B) Effect of adding Dll3 to tertiary RSCs cultured in normoxia and hypoxia. We found 2.4 times increase in the percentage of clonal RSCs when Dll3 was added to normoxic culture (p=0.002, t=4.719, df=7, n=3) and 1.7 times when we cultured in hypoxia. Adding Dll3 to hypoxic cultures produced no differences in RSC percentages, p=0.402, t=0.891, df=7, n=3. Results represent the means ±SEMs. n= number of biological replicates.

# 2.4.3 A specific cell microcarrier resulted in a 5-fold increase in clonal RSC spheres compared to SSB alone and a 10-fold compared to static culture

To expand the RSCs using MCs, we conducted a screening experiment using three different coatings: FACTIII (cationic charged collagen), ProNectin-F (recombinant protein coated) and HillexII (modified polystyrene) purchased as a starter kit from Solohill. We observed that the viability in all microcarriers stayed above 80% throughout the culture period. FACTIII and HillexII had similar growth rates and expansion (Table 2.1).

|  | FACTIII       | ProNectin F   | HillexII      | Control       |
|--|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|
| Maximum cell<br>density (cell/ml)        | 495000 (day2) | 275000 (day2) | 267500 (day6) | 207500 (day6) |
| Viability<br>percentage                  | 81.47%        | 81.03%        | 74.76%        | 83.66%        |
| Attachment<br>percentage (Day4)          | 75.13%        | 41.88%        | 51.75%        |               |
| Average specific growth rate             | 0.0174        | 0.015         | 0.0179        | 0.0162        |
| Doubling time<br>(hours)                 | 39.82         | 46.2          | 38.7          | 42.77         |
| Expansion fold                           | 12.37         | 8.8           | 13.37         | 10.37         |
| Number of<br>tertiary<br>RSCs/10000 cell | 0.442         | 0.246         | 0.193         | 0.193         |

Table 2.1: Retinal stem cell growth compared using three different microcarrier types.

These values were higher than those observed in Pro-nectinF and control culture. FACTIII reached its maximum cell density on day 2 (495000 cells/ml) and had a higher attachment with an average of 75.13% of cells attached compared to other types of microcarriers. The average clonal RSC percentages from cells taken from days 2, 4 and 6 were  $0.0022\% \pm 0.00046$  in FACTIII cultures, 0.001  $\% \pm 0.00042$  in FNectin, 0.0009%  $\pm 0.00028$  in HillexII and 0.0009%  $\pm$  0.00028 in static control (Figure 2.5A). Using FACTIII in shaking static culture produced 2.4 times the RSCs compared to static culture. Thus, the following bioreactor experiments used the FACTIII MCs, as they were shown to affect most positively RSC attachment and expansion. We then tested the effects of agitation mode, seeding density and different dissociation protocols on RSCs seeded on the FACTIII MCs and compare them to the Stirring SSB alone and our static control cultures. We found that the average percentage of RSCs (day 2, 4 and 6) was higher in continuous agitation culture compared to intermittent agitation with  $0.01 \pm 0.00225$  and  $0.00638 \pm 0.00144$ , respectively (Figure 2.5B). More clonal RSC spheres were observed in the continuous agitation culture on day 4, but there were not significant differences on days 2 or 6 (Figure A-4B). We also observed 3 times more clonal RSC spheres (as a % per total number of cells) arising from high-density culture (0.02911±0.0009) compared to low-density culture  $(0.01 \pm 0.00225)$  (Figure 2.5C). In all experiments, culturing in higher density (50000 cell/ml) gave better RSC yields. Also, a higher but not significantly different frequency of RSCs for the same numbers of cell plated was retrieved from 10xTryplE experiments  $(0.0351 \pm 0.0169)$  compared to 1x TryplE  $(0.0291 \pm 0.00371)$  (Figure 2.5D). Given that no significant difference was observed in the total cell expansion between the two conditions (Figure A-5A) we used 10x TryplE for the following experiments.



Figure 2.5: Microcarrier screening and testing under different agitation and oxygen tension.

(A) Average tertiary sphere forming cell percentage. Primary RSCs were dissociated and seeded on different types of microcarriers (FACTIII, NectinF and HillexII, Solohill INC) in 6 wells plate placed on a shaker adjusted to a speed of 50 rpm in 21% oxygen humidified incubator. A static culture without MCs was used as a control. (B) Percentage of clonal tertiary sphere forming cells: continuous agitation versus intermittent agitation. Average percentages of RSCs were higher in continuous agitation culture compared to intermittent agitation. (C) Percentage of clonal tertiary sphere forming cells: effect of seeding density (high vs low) on growth and behavior of RSCs. We observed 2.5 times more RSC spheres arising from high density culture compared to low density culture (p=0.0262, t=2.731, df=4, n=2-4). (D) Effects of cell detaching enzymes (1xTryplE vs 10x TrylE) on growth and behavior of RSCs. A non-significant RSC percentage increase was observed in the 10xTryplE experiment compared to 1x TryplE (p=0.365, t=0.394, df=2). Results represent the means  $\pm$  SEMs.

We then studied the effects of using FACTIII MCs in hypoxia, high density, continuous agitation and 10x TryplE on RSCs expansion, Static and SSB preparations without MCs were used as controls. Samples were taken every two days to monitor cell viability (Figure 2.6A); SSB and static samples were dissociated using a Trypsin/Collagenase enzymes mix, while MCs were treated with 10x /TryplE. 1x and 10x TryplE failed to dissociate spheres from static and bioreactor samples, but did detach cells from MCs. Using collagenase enzyme to detach
cells from MCs was associated with much lower stem cell yields than 1x and 10x TryplE (data not shown). Cells from each sample were then seeded at 10000 cells/500µl/well in a 5% oxygen and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> humidified incubator for 7 days for clonal sphere assays. The overall viability of the cells on the MCs was higher compared to SSB and static cultures (Figure 6A). The use of MCs resulted in 5 times more tertiary RSCs compared to hypoxic SSB and 10 times more tertiary RSCs in comparison to normoxic static culture (Figure 2.6B, C and D), with the most RSC spheres observed from the day 4 samples (Figure A-6). We noticed that in MC experiments the numbers of stem cell spheres decreased between days 4 and 6 (Figure A-6A and B). Potential explanations for this observation are 1) an increase in toxic metabolites or a decrease in nutrients in the media between days 4-6, 2) more cell expansion was seen on day 4 which could have negatively affected the stem cells through contact inhibition (Figure A-7), or 3) RSCs could have increasingly divided asymmetrically between days 4 and 6. We conclude from the above results that continuous agitation, higher density culture, 10xTryplE (or 1x TryplE) and 5% O<sub>2</sub> increased the expansion of retinal stem cells over static culture.



Figure 2.6: Comparison between RSCs expansion in static, SSB and MC cultures.

(A) Viability of cells inside MC, SSB and static culture. (B) The average numbers of clonal tertiary RSCs as percentages of total viable cells in different platform. (day 2, 4 and 6). MC experiment produced 5 times more tertiary RSCs compared to hypoxic SSB and 10 times more when compared to normoxic static culture, p values 0.0327 (t = 3.715, df = 2) and 0.02 (t = 3.92, df = 4) respectively. Each bar represents the average percentage of RSCs retrieved from Day 2, 4 and 6 samples in each experiment from two individual bioreactor experiments (n = 2)individual bioreactor experiments, n = 8-24 technical replicate per sample in each experiment). 15-17 mice (30-34 eyes) were dissected for primary spheres growth to seed each individual experiment. Results represent the means  $\pm$  SEMs. (C) Average total number of RSCs in each condition. (D) Average numbers of clonal tertiary RSCs as percentages of total viable cells observed in microcarrier, bioreactor and static culture in hypoxia vs normoxia. E) Differentiation of RSC derived from hypoxic bioreactor culture in Taurine and Retinoic acid for 50 days compared to pan-retinal control RSCs differentiated into rods using a protocol developed in the lab (Ballios et al., 2012). The percentage of rod photoreceptors (stained for anti-Rhodopsin antibody) was  $84.31 \pm 2.08$  in taurine and retinoic acid, significantly higher (p = 0.00052, t = 31, df = 2) compared to  $5.82\% \pm 1.23\%$  rhodopsin positive cells in panretinal differentiation control cultures. Results represent the means of n = 3-5 biological replicates  $\pm$  SEMs.

## 2.4.4 Bioreactor derived RSCs differentiate effectively to rod photoreceptors using Retinoic acid and Taurine

We then cultured bioreactor derived spheres on laminin in retinoic acid and taurine to test their differentiation potential. The percentage of rod photoreceptors (stained for anti-Rhodopsin Immunocytochemistry) was  $84.31 \pm 2.08$  (Figure 2.6E) in taurine and retinoic acid, and significantly different (*P*=0.00052, *n*=3-5) compared to  $5.82\% \pm 1.23\%$  rhodopsin positive cells in pan-retinal differentiation control cultures. These results were similar to previous published data from our lab growing rod photoreceptos from adult derived mouse RSCs using retinoic acid and taurine (Ballios et al., 2012).

#### **2.5 Conclusion**

The present results provide an RSC expansion protocol using MCs in SSB to overcome problems associated with growing stem cells in static culture. We found that our bioreactor expansion protocol enhanced RSCs survival through optimizing culture conditions and using less aggressive MC detaching enzymes. Using FACTIII MCs in hypoxia increased the yield of RSCs 10 times compared to static normoxic culture conditions. We found that hypoxia (5% O2) was associated with better RSC expansion across all platforms; and this can be attributed to hypoxia-induced increase in survival and/or symmetric division of stem cells. RSCs within their niche in vivo reside in relatively hypoxic conditions (1-5% O2) (Panchision, 2009). A number of previous studies has shown that low oxygen tension is important for multiple stem cell types to maintain self-renewal and proliferation of the resident precursor cells (Cheung & Rando, 2013), including in the retina (Bae et al., 2011; DiStefano et al., 2018; Garita-HernÁndez et al., 2013). For example, earlier formation of neural rosettes was observed under hypoxia in addition to higher number of Pax6/ Chx10 positive retinal precursor cells in cultures derived from human ESCs and iPSCs embryoid bodies (EBs) in a static culture (Bae et al., 2011). Other studies also observed better growth of retinal organoids in hypoxia, both in stirring bioreactor (DiStefano et al., 2018) and static cultures (Chen, Kaya, Dong, & Swaroop, 2016). Several studies showed that hypoxia exerts this effect by stabilizing hypoxiainduced factor 1 alpha (HIF-1), which in turn activates genes that are implicated in many different cellular functions such as cell survival, proliferation, and selfrenewal (Ke & Costa, 2006). HIF up-regulates the Notch signaling pathway and its downstream cascade including Hes genes (Gustafsson et al., 2005; Irshad et al., 2015). Our previous demonstration that the

Notch ligand Delta 3 increased symmetric divisions by both adult and PND2 RSCs also has highlighted the critical role of Notch signaling in maintaining the precursor cell pool in the developing eye (Artavanis-Tsakonas et al., 1999; Balenci & van der Kooy, 2013; Jadhav, 2006). We suggest that hypoxia activated Notch signaling and its downstream Hes pathway through stabilizing HIF1 alpha, and this may explain why adding Dll3 to our hypoxic culture conditions did not produce any further expansion of the RSCs through symmetric divisions. In the future, it will be important to target the differentiation of RSCs and their progeny toward rod and cone photoreceptor phenotypes using FACTIII MCs inside bioreactors to expand their populations in order to produce large numbers of cells needed for transplantation. A similar expansion of human RSCs may allow us to differentiate large numbers of postmitotic cells (rods, cones, and RPE) that can be transplanted to patients with degenerative eye diseases.

# **Chapter 3: A Subset of Clonal Retinal Stem Cell Spheres is Biased to RPE Differentiation**

This chapter has been submitted for publication.

#### **3.1 Abstract**

Retinal stem cells (RSCs) are rare pigmented cells that reside in the pigmented ciliary epithelial layer of the peripheral retina of the eye in mouse as well as in adult human (Coles, Angenieux, et al., 2004; Tropepe et al., 2000). Previous studies have shown that RSCs are able to replicate to maintain the stem cell pool, in addition to producing retinal progenitors which can later differentiate into all neural retinal (NR) cell types and retinal pigment epithelial (RPE) cells (Ahmad et al., 2000; Ballios et al., 2012). In vitro, RSCs can proliferate to make floating clonal spheres of several thousand cells by 7 days of culture. Based on their levels and spatial distributions of pigment, RSC clonal spheres were classified into three types: heavily pigmented (HP), lightly pigmented (LP) and centrally pigmented (CP) spheres. We report here that the CP spheres (27% of all clonal spheres) are capable of generating large cobblestone lawns of adjacent cells, which can differentiate into RPE cells. The other two clonal sphere types (HP and LP) give rise to many cells with neural morphology but relatively few RPE cells. We find that the individual stem cells (cells that clonally formed the three sphere types) are homogeneous, but that their downstream progenitors are different. We suggest that the CP spheres contain highly proliferative RPE specific progenitors. Indeed, investigations of the intrinsic and extrinsic differences between the different sphere types revealed that only the CP spheres contained a population of early RPE progenitors that respond to proliferative signals from the surrounding non-pigmented retinal cells. The HP and LP spheres on the other hand contain late RPE progenitors which are not affected by these proliferative signals. Thus, early RPE progenitors from CP clonal spheres are intrinsically different, but their ability to make large numbers of differentiated RPE cells depends on extrinsic signals from the surrounding non-pigmented retinal progenitors.

#### **3.2 Introduction**

Understanding retinal stem cell and progenitor heterogeneity is important in exploring the mechanisms by which the retina is built during development. During early stages of optic vesicle development, the RSC population expands and starts producing retinal progenitors, these progenitors will go through different stages of competence to differentiate into early and late retinal cells which will form the lining of the developing optic cup (Bassett & Wallace, 2012; Cepko, 2014; Dyer & Cepko, 2001; Prada et al., 1991; Wong & Rapaport, 2009; Young, 1985a, 1985b). This process happens in a conserved pattern across vertebrates. However, the size and the composition of cells within the stem cell colonies were widely variable (Cayouette et al., 2003; Cepko, 2014; Fekete et al., 1994; Harris, 1997; He et al., 2012; Trimarchi et al., 2008; Turner & Cepko, 1988; Wetts & Fraser, 1988). This process was found to be governed by both intrinsic and extrinsic signals in vivo (Rompani & Cepko, 2008; Trimarchi et al., 2008). In vitro, embryonic or adult RSC clones were grown and isolated from a specific proliferative population that resides in the pigmented ciliary epithelium at the periphery of the eye (Ahmad et al., 2000; Tropepe et al., 2000). This population can be distinguished from the surrounding pigmented ciliary epithelium by their size (large) and the level of pigmentation (heavily pigmented) (Ballios et al., 2012). In vitro, an adult RSC colony arises from the proliferation of a single pigmented ciliary epithelial cell. A previous study showed that 0.2% of pigmented CE cell cultures, either as a single cell per well or at low cell densities (< 20 cells/µl), produced clonal spheres after 7 days containing both pigmented and non-pigmented cells (Tropepe et al., 2000). The same study showed that many non-pigmented cells within the RSC colony express Chx10 and nestin before differention (Tropepe et al., 2000). Chx10 is a specific marker for NR progenitors while nestin is a marker of undifferentiated cells. Small numbers of pigmented RSCs from the dissociated clonal spheres have the ability to self-renew and differentiate into all retinal cell types (Ahmad et al., 2000; Ballios et al., 2012; Tropepe et al., 2000). By adding the exogenous factors retinoic acid/taurine or coco, researchers were able to direct RSCs to differentiate into rods (Ballios et al., 2012) or cones (Khalili et al., 2018a), respectively. Larger numbers of RPE cells could be produced from adult RSCs by adjusting culture density and media conditions (De Marzo, Aruta, & Marigo, 2010). The division of RSCs is heterogeneous in vivo; they undergo a variable number of divisions producing clones with different sizes and cell type compositions. The apparent randomness of clonal size and cell fate distribution suggested a strong element of stochasticity (Cayouette et al., 2003; Cepko, 2014; Fekete et al., 1994; Harris, 1997; He et al., 2012; Trimarchi et al., 2008; Turner & Cepko, 1988; Wetts & Fraser, 1988). Downstream retinal progenitor cells pass through a series of competence states to produce all retinal cell types. There are, however, conserved patterns in cell birth with ganglion cells born first and müller glial cells born last (Bassett & Wallace, 2012; Cepko, 2014; Dyer & Cepko, 2001; Prada et al., 1991; Wong & Rapaport, 2009; Young, 1985a, 1985b). Others have observed heterogeneity even among cells isolated from the same developmental time point. Some clones were found to have multiple types of retinal neurons and some were restricted to one type of retinal neurons (Alexiades & Cepko, 1997; Buenaventura et al., 2018; Schick et al., 2019; Trimarchi et al., 2008).

In this paper we studied the behavior of RSCs and retinal progenitor cells on the clonal sphere level *in vitro*. We identified three morphologically distinct groups of RSC clonal spheres: heavily pigmented (HP), lightly pigmented (LP) and centrally pigmented (CP) spheres, one of which (CP spheres) was biased to produce huge lawns of RPE cells. Indeed, two populations of RPE progenitors with divergent gene expression and different response to proliferative signals were found - early RPE progenitors in CP spheres and late RPE progenitors in HP & LP spheres. RPE cells are important to maintain healthy and functioning photoreceptors. Loss of RPE cells will consequently result in loss of photoreceptors and subsequently blindness (Hollyfield & Witkovsky, 1974; Miller, Bagheri, & Vavvas, 2017; Mitrousis et al., 2020). We suggest that the highly proliferative population in the CP spheres will provide a pure and safe source to replace lost RPE in retinal degenerative diseases.

#### 3.3 Methods

#### 3.3.1 Mouse and human eyes source

RSCs were derived from the ciliary epithelium of adult (7 – 8 week-old) C57BL/6 mice or of (7 – 16 week-old) Actin promotor driven ubiquitous enhanced yellow fluorescent protein expressing mice (EYFP), Tg (ACTB-EYFP) 7AC5Nagy (Jackson Laboratories, Bar Harbor, ME, http://www.jaxmice.jax.org), on a F129S1/SvImJ background. All animal procedures were performed in accordance with the Guide to the Care and Use of Experimental Animals developed by the Canadian Council on Animal Care and approved by the Animal Care Committee at the University of Toronto. Human eyes were procured from the Eye Bank of Canada (Toronto, ON) within 24h postmortem (and approved of by the UofT Human Research Ethics Board).

#### **3.3.2 Clonal RSC spheres assay**

We dissected the ciliary epithelium from adult C57BL/6 or *YFP*+ mice (using a previously published protocol(Tropepe et al., 2000) and plated the cells on non-adherent tissue culture

plates (Nunc; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rochester, NY) at a density of 20 cell/ $\mu$ L in serumfree media (SFM) with FGF2 (10 ng/mL, human recombinant; Sigma-Aldrich) and heparin (2 ng/mL; Sigma-Aldrich) (FH) in humidified 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator with temperature of 37 °C. One week later, clonal spheres were counted and discriminated based on their pigmentation levels and pigmentation distributions.

#### 3.3.3 RSC sphere type identification and characteristics

In this study, clonal spheres were classified into heavily pigmented (HP), lightly pigmented (LP) and centrally pigmented (CP) spheres. This classification was based on 1) Percentage of the pigmented surface area observed in each type under microscopy using imageJ program. HP sphere: the pigment covers more than 80% of the surface area. LP sphere: variable level of pigmentation (anywhere from 12% to 64%) with random distribution throughout a sphere's surface area. CP sphere: the pigment is heavily concentrated in the center of the sphere surrounded by a clear non-pigmented rim. The diameter of the central pigmentation ranges from 40 to 80 % of the sphere diameter. Refer to Figure A-16, 17 and 18 for sphere type examples. 2) We also measured the distribution pattern of pigment in the spheres by analyzing sections through the centers of each sphere type in Adobe Photoshop (Version 20.0.0).

#### 3.3.4 Sphere Sections

Spheres were collected into 1.5mL microcentrifuge tube in minimal volume (under 20µl), fixed by adding 200uL of fresh 4% PFA for 10 minutes then centrifuged and supernatant was removed. Spheres were kept in 500uL of 20-30% sucrose at 4 °C overnight. On the next day sucrose was removed and the spheres were transferred to plastic embedding molds. Tissuetek was added to each mold and put on a shaker for at least 1 hour at room temperature. Molds were kept in a -80 °C Freezer spheres until ready for sectioning. Sphere sections (10 µm) were prepared on a cryostat (-20 °C).

#### **3.3.5 FACS Sorting**

After 4-5 days of clonal sphere assays, CP, HP and LP spheres derived from C57BL/6 or YFP mice were picked and dissociated into single cells using the following enzymes: trypsin 1.33 mg/mL, hyaluronidase 0.67 mg/mL, kynurenic acid 0.2 mg/mL, 0.5 mg/mL collagenase I, 0.5 mg/mL collagenase II, 0.1 mg/mL elastase (Sigma-Aldrich). Cells then were counterstained with propidium iodide (0.9  $\mu$ g  $\mu$ l-1, Thermo Fisher Scientific) to assess viability and sorted based on their pigmentation level into pigmented and non-pigmented cells using a FacsAria II

(BD) instrument and data were analyzed using BD FACS Diva Software V6.1.2. Pigmented cells were plated alone or in different combinations with non-pigmented cells in 96 well clear flat-bottom plates (Nunc; Thermo Fisher Scientific), coated with laminin (50 ng/mL, Sigma-Aldrich). Pigmented YFP+ cells were then cultured either alone at 5 cells or 20 cells per well, or in combination with 20 non-pigmented cells derived from C57BL/6 mice for 12 days in 1% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Thermo Fisher Scientific , Burlington, ON) + FH. For every biological replicate experiment, we dissected both eyes from 30 mice (15 C57BL/6 and 15 YFP+).

#### 3.3.6 RSC Differentiation and Immunostaining

Mouse RSC clonal spheres (CP, HP and LP) were picked individually and plated on laminin in a humidified 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator and differentiated using pan-retinal differentiation conditions that involved 1% FBS + FH for 21 days. Human spheres were cultured for 21 or 60 days in the same conditions. Media and growth factors were replaced every 4 days. Cells then rinsed with phosphate buffered Saline (PBS) and fixed using were 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 15 minutes at room temperature. Cells were permeabilized with 0.3% Triton X-100 for 10 minutes and pre-blocked with 2% normal goat serum and bovine serum albumin (BSA) for 1 hour at room temperature. Cells were then incubated overnight at 4 °C in the following primary antibodies: anti-MITF (MA5-14146, 1:100; Thermo Fisher Scientific), anti-RPE65 (MAB5428, 1:250; Millipore), anti-Best1 (MA1-16739, 1:100; Thermo Fisher Scientific ), anti-ZO-1 (61-7300, 1:100; Thermo Fisher Scientific ), and anti-Rhodopsin (MAB5316, RetP1, 1:250; Millipore). Next day cells were washed 3 times with PBS and incubated in the following secondary antibodies: Alexa fluor 568 or 488 (1:400; Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 1 hour at room temperature. Nuclei were stained with Hoechst dye (1:1000; Sigma-Aldrich). Staining was examined under fluorescence microscopy (Axio Observer D1; Carl Zeiss) with AxioVision 4.8 software (Carl Zeiss).

FACs treated cells were fixed after 12 days using 4% PFA then blocked in blocking solution containing 2% normal goat serum and BSA. Cells were then stained overnight in 4 °C using Ki67 conjugated monoclonal antibody (SolA15), FITC (11-5698-82, 1:100; eBioscience) or Ki67 monoclonal antibody (SolA15), PE (12-5698-82, 1:200; eBioscience). Antibodies were washed off 3 times using PBS next day and counterstained with Hoechst dye.

#### **3.3.7 RNA Extraction and Q-PCR**

RNA was extracted using RNeasy Mini Kit (Cat# 74104) with DNase to remove genomic DNA contamination (Qiagen, Cat# 79254). RNA was quantified using Nanodrop and a

specified amount of cDNA was reverse-transcribed using iScript cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-RAD, Cat#170-8890). PCR was carried out using standardized TaqMan Gene Expression Assays in a QuantStudio 6 Fast Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems). Quantification was performed either using the delta delta Ct method or delta Ct methods with 18s rRNA and GAPDH as endogenous controls. For every biological replicate experiment, we dissected 15 mice C57BL/6 (30 eyes per experiment). The following TaqMan assays (ThermoFisher, US) were used: Claudin-1 (Mm00516701\_m1), Occludin (Mm00500912\_m1), Integrin 5 alpha (Mm00439797\_m1) and Cdh1 (E- cadherin: Mm01247357\_m1).

#### 3.3.8 Knockdown of claudin-1

Cells from primary RSC spheres were dissociated and cultured at clonal densities, and mixed with claudin-1 pooled siRNAs (cat # E-059246-00-0010, Horizon Discovery, Dharmacon , United Kingdom) at a final concentration of 1  $\mu$ M siRNA in 200  $\mu$ l media with 4000 cells/well in a 48-well (Nunc plate), negative control cells were treated with pooled non-targeting control siRNA or as untreated controls. All cells were plated in Accell delivery media (cat # B-005000-500, Horizon Discovery, Dharmacon) containing FGF2 and heparin. RSC spheres were counted after 7 days.

#### 3.3.9 Statistics

Statistical analyses were performed using Student's *t*-test through the program GraphPad Prism 8 (GraphPad Software Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA) and Microsoft Excel. Data are presented as means  $\pm$  SEMs. Significance was calculated using Student's t test to compare two groups, or using one-way or two-way ANOVAs, with Tukey-Kramer post-hoc analyses adjusted p-values to compare multiple groups to each other or to the control. The significance value was set at *p* < 0.05.

#### 3.4 Results and discussion

# **3.4.1** Three types of clonal RSC spheres were isolated from the pigmented ciliary epithelium

Adult mouse clonal RSC spheres were classified based on the distributions and levels of pigmentation observed into heavily pigmented (HP), lightly pigmented (LP) and centrally pigmented (CP) spheres (Figure 3.1A and B). The same three clonal retinal sphere types also were grown from embryonic day 14 (E14) mouse presumptive CE with differentiation morphologies similar to those observed with adult clonal spheres (Figure 3.1C). Further, quantitative analyses of cryostat sections through the centers of each sphere type revealed significantly greater percentage of pigmented surface areas in the centers of CP spheres compared to the other two sphere types (Figure 3.1D).



Figure 3.1: Three types of clonal RSC spheres can be isolated from adult and E14 pigmented ciliary epithelium.

(A) Types of retinal stem cell clonal spheres based on their pigmentation levels and distributions. HP: heavily pigmented, LP; lightly pigmented and CP: centrally pigmented.(B) The percentages of the three types of adult mouse RSC colonies. (C) RSC clonal sphere percentages from E14 ciliary epithelium. (D) The percentages of pigmented surface areas in the inner 30% of the sphere diameter from the sections through the centers of spheres for the three sphere types. CP sphere sections have more areas of pigment within their inner 30%

diameter areas than the other two sphere types CP compared to LP spheres (t= 2.456, p = 0.036) and HP spheres (t= 2.56, p = 0.03) (n= 4-7). Data represent means ± S.E.Ms.

CP spheres ( $27\pm3\%$  of all clonal spheres) produced highly proliferative progenitors in adherent cultures that differentiated into large sheets of confluent cells that had a cobblestone-like appearance and much fewer neurite process bearing neural retinal (NR) cells (Figure 3.2A). In comparison, HP ( $18\pm3\%$  of all clonal spheres) and LP ( $54\pm6\%$  of all clonal spheres) colonies produced more NR cells and only scattered pigmented cells (Figure 3.2B and C). Clonal CP spheres from cadaveric adult humans also gave rise to sheets of cobblestone cells when differentiated on laminin in pan-retinal conditions, and again no cobblestone morphologies were observed in human HP and LP sphere cultures (Figure 3.2D).



Figure 3.2: Centrally pigmented spheres produce large numbers of cobblestone cells resembling RPE morphologies.

(A) Mouse CP spheres after pan-retinal differentiation. (B) and (C) Mouse HP and LP spheres after pan-retinal differentiation. (D) Human CP spheres after pan-retinal differentiation. Spheres were plated on laminin (1 sphere/well) for 21 days.

The average sphere diameters from the three types were similar after 7 days, but significantly larger diameters of the CP spheres compared to the other two sphere types were observed by day 14 (Figure 3.3A and B). This difference may be due to increased proliferation and/or better cell survival inside the CP spheres. Based on these proliferation and differentiation potentials,

we hypothesize that CP spheres contain populations of highly proliferative early RPE progenitors, while HP and LP contain populations of late RPE progenitors that lack the proliferative capabilities of early RPE progenitors.



Figure 3.3: CP spheres express RPE markers and are more proliferative than HP and LP spheres.

(A), (B), Average sphere diameter comparisons of HP, LP and CP sphere colonies revealed no significant difference after 7 days but the diameters of CP spheres were significantly larger than that of HP (n= 3, t = 3.85, p = 0.0183) and LP spheres (n = 3, t = 4.185, p = 0.0139) after 14 days of culture. A two-way ANOVA revealed a significant interaction of sphere types with 7 versus 14 days of culture (F (2,12) = 8.287, P = 0.005). The diameters of the CP spheres are significantly greater after 14 than 7 days of culture (n = 3, t = 4.59, p = 0.01). (C) Bulk passaging 10 spheres of each of the three sphere types (HP, LP and CP) showed that each type was capable of producing all three types of spheres. HP spheres gave rise to significantly more HP spheres at passaging, when compared to HP spheres from CP spheres (n = 3, t = 2.45, p = 0.035) or to HP spheres from LP spheres (n = 3, t = 2.276, p= 0.031). (D) Single HP spheres were dissociated and passaged. Clonal spheres were counted after 7 days and the percentages of each sphere type were calculated. We found that the stem cells in the HP sphere were able to produce all three sphere types when passaged as single spheres rather than bulk passaged, with the percentages of HP spheres decreasing significantly when passaged as one sphere compared to bulk passaging (n = 3, t = 4.127, p = 0.009). (E) CP spheres have more differentiated cells when compared to HP (n = 3, t = 3.173, p = 0.005) and LP spheres (n = 3, t = 2.467, p = 0.027). Cells were fixed after 21 days of differentiation, counter stained with Hoechst nuclear staining, and then cells were counted using the imageJ program. (F) Percentages of MITF and RPE65 expression in CP, HP and LP sphere differentiation cultures. Compared to HP spheres, CP spheres expressed more MITF (t = 4.75, p = 0.0089) and RPE65 (t = 3.11, p = 0.026) (n = 3-5). Data represent means ± S.E.Ms.

#### 3.4.2 All RSC clonal sphere types are derived from the same parent stem cell

To test the hypothesis that mouse HP, LP and CP spheres are all derived from the same RSC type, spheres of each type (HP, LP and CP) were bulk passaged separately (10 spheres/passage). We found that every sphere type could produce new clonal spheres of each of the three sphere types (Figure 3.3C), suggesting that all three sphere types share the same clonal origin (equivalent parent RSCs). However, we noticed that HP spheres gave rise to significantly more HP spheres than LP or CP spheres (Figure 3.3C). This bias may be due to either an intrinsic stem cell difference or extrinsic influences on downstream progenitors. However, the data above suggest that the original stem cell in all sphere types may be the same, but interactions between downstream progenitors may influence progenitor fate decisions. To distinguish between these possibilities, one dissociated clonal HP sphere was passaged alone and cells were all plated in a clonal sphere assay. Indeed, HP sphere stem cells (free from the excess of HP progenitor cells) were able to produce all sphere types in percentages similar to those observed after primary culture (compare Figure 3.1B and 3.3D) indicating that the stem cell itself is not biased toward producing more HP spheres. The bias we observed (HP spheres giving rise to more HP spheres) was limited to bulk passaged HP spheres (passaging 10 HP spheres together), suggesting that this is not an intrinsic attribute of the stem cell, but rather the result of extrinsic signals received from the large number of surrounding HP progenitors in the culture In conclusion, all three sphere types are the product of the same (parent) stem cell but the downstream progenitors in the sphere types are different.

#### 3.4.3 Cobblestone morphologies are observed only with differentiated CP spheres

Individual primary RSC spheres were differentiated in the presence of 1% FBS, FGF and heparin for 21 days on laminin (pan-retinal conditions). CP spheres produce large number of cobblestone cells while HP and LP spheres do not. In order to determine if large lawns of cobblestone cells can be generated from other sphere types, HP spheres were differentiated at 6 spheres/well (rather than 1 sphere/well) on laminin for 21 days. No cobblestone morphologies were observed in these higher density cultures (Figure A-8). To check if the early RPE progenitors from CP spheres can influence late RPE progenitors or NR progenitors

in HP spheres to change fate and differentiate into larger numbers of cobblestone cells, one HP YFP+ sphere was co-cultured with one CP sphere derived from a C57BL/6 wild type mouse during differentiation on laminin for 21 days. All YFP+ HP cells maintained their primarily NR identity and did not display the cobblestone differentiation pattern (Figure A-9). In conclusion, late RPE progenitors from the HP spheres did not produce cobblestone morphologies when differentiated with other HP sphere cells or when differentiated with a CP sphere, indicating that the cobblestone differentiation pattern is exclusive to early RPE progenitors in the CP spheres.

#### 3.4.4 Cobblestone cells express RPE markers

The differentiation data demonstrated that the CP spheres gave rise to more cells when plated on laminin for 21 days compared to LP and HP ( $2586 \pm 566$ ,  $446 \pm 218$  and  $430 \pm 140$ , respectively) (Figure 3.3E). We also found that more cells arose from CP spheres express the immature RPE marker MITF ( $28 \pm 5\%$ ) compared to LP spheres ( $4 \pm 3\%$ ) and HP spheres  $(0.388\% \pm 0.280)$ . Differentiated CP spheres express RPE65 in 24 times more cells than LP and HP spheres (Figure 3.3F and Figure A-10A). The tight junction protein ZO-1 (zonula occludens-1), which is important for accelerating claudin polymerization/ assembly, binding to F-actin and initiating cell signalling (McNeil et al., 2006; Rizzolo, 2007; Shin & Margolis, 2006), was expressed in CP sphere cells but not in the HP sphere cells (Figure A-10A and B), indicating that ZO-1 expression may be essential for the formation of the cobblestone morphology. As in mouse, the human CP spheres also had more cells compared to HP and LP cultures, and more human cells from the CP spheres expressed RPE markers such as Bestrophin (Figure A-11A and B). Thus, CP spheres make larger clones compared to HP and LP spheres. CP cells also express more RPE markers than the other two sphere types suggesting that the CP spheres may contain a highly proliferative population, specifically early RPE progenitors that maintain their proliferative potential during sphere formation and differentiation. This difference may be due to 1) intrinsic differences in the CP early RPE progenitors or 2) extrinsic factors such as the outer non-pigmented cells in the CP spheres secreting proliferative factors favoring the production of more RPE cells. Alternatively, perhaps factors inhibitory to RPE proliferation may not diffuse well to the sphere center, which again may favour RPE proliferation (Leschey, Hackett, Singer, & Campochiaro, 1990; Schönfeld, 2000; Spraul, Kaven, Lang, & Lang, 2004).

To investigate potential intrinsic differences between HP, LP and CP RPE progenitors, q-PCR expression analyses were done on pigmented cells sorted from spheres of the 3 types. Higher expression levels of Otx2 were observed in the pigmented cells from CP spheres in comparison to pigmented cells from the other two sphere types (Figure 3.4A and B).



Figure 3.4: Pigmented cells in CP spheres express early markers of retinal differentiation.

(A) Fold changes of Mitf, Otx2 and Pcad in CP pigmented cells compared to those of pigmented cells from HP spheres using delta delta ct method (n = 2). (B) The fold change of Mitf, Otx2 and Pcad in CP pigmented cells compared to LP spheres (n= 2). (C) Pigmented cells in CP spheres express higher level of claudin-1 when compared to pigmented cells in LP and HP sphere (n = 2). Data represent means  $\pm$  S.E.Ms.

Otx2 is a homeodomain-containing transcription factor known for its essential role in forebrain formation (Martínez-Morales et al., 2003; Martinez-Morales et al., 2001). In vertebrate eyes, *Otx2* is initially expressed in the entire embryonic optic vesicle, but its expression soon becomes restricted to the presumptive RPE, where it is maintained throughout adulthood (B. M. Lane & Lister, 2012; Martinez-Morales et al., 2001; Schmitt et al., 2009; Zuber et al., 2003). Early RPE progenitors in CP spheres concentrate more in the centers of the spheres. Although this may happen stochastically, a perhaps more likely explanation is higher expression of tight and/or adherence junction genes. Epithelial cells, including RPE cells, are known to be connected to each other as well as to their ECM by a subset of molecules forming tight junctions, adherence junctions and/or gap junctions (Rizzolo, 2007). Some of these molecules include, but are not limited to: E-cadherin, Occludin, Integrin, Claudin (Rahner et al., 2004; Rizzolo, 2007; Rizzolo et al., 2011). CP pigmented cells express more claudin-1 (tight junction gene) than pigmented progenitors in HP and LP spheres (Figure 3.4C), but

knocking down claudin-1 did not result in a decrease in the types, numbers or sizes of the spheres compared to controls (Figure 3.5). q-PCR expression analysis confirmed that claudin-1 expression was 98% lower after our siRNA treatment compared to controls (Figure 3.5D).



Figure 3.5: Knockdown of claudin-1 in CP spheres did not affect sphere diameters nor passaging.

(A) siRNA depletion of claudin-1 did not affect the numbers of passaged spheres compared to non-targeting (NT) siRNA and no siRNA treatment (Control) (n = 3, One-way ANOVA, F (2,6) = 0.0989, p = 0.907). (B) The percentages of RSC spheres of each of the three types of RSC clonal spheres that were similar across conditions. No significant interaction was observed between sphere types and siRNA conditions (n = 3, Two-way ANOVA, F (4,17) = 0.718, p = 0.591) and only a significant main effect of sphere type was seen (F (2,17) = 14.67, p = 0.0002, Tukey-Kramer post-hoc, p < 0.05), indicating that knocking down claudin-1 did not disrupt the central concentration of the pigmented RPE cells in CP spheres, nor stem cell survival or proliferation capabilities. (C) No significant differences in the sphere diameters were observed (no interaction of siRNA and control conditions with sphere type (n = 3, Two-way ANOVA, F (4,18) = 2.39, p = 0.088) nor any main effect of sphere type (F (2,18) = 2.878, p = 0.082). (D) A 98% depletion of claudin-1 was observed after siRNA treatment compared to the no treatment and non-targeting siRNA controls.

In early RPE progenitors (the pigmented cells from CP spheres), claudin-1 might work with other genes that regulate strong adhesion among pigmented cells at the center of the sphere. In the claudin-1 knock-down experiment, the stem cell was capable of producing all three sphere types indicating that suppressing claudin-1 did not affect stem cell self-renewal or progenitor proliferation potentials. Blocking claudin-1 in LP spheres showed no significant difference in the total number or size of passaged spheres compared to control (Figure A-12). To conclude, the posited early RPE progenitors in CP spheres express higher levels of Otx2 and claudin-1 compared to the posited late RPE progenitors from HP and LP spheres. Blocking claudin-1 did not disrupt the central concentration of the pigmented RPE cells in CP spheres, nor the stem cell survival and proliferation capabilities.

## **3.4.5 Early RPE progenitors proliferate in response to extrinsic signals received from** NR cells

To test whether early RPE pigmented progenitors in the CP spheres are proliferating in response to extrinsic signals from the surrounding non-pigmented neural retinal progenitors, pigmented YFP+ cells from CP, HP and LP spheres were cultured alone or in combination with CP, LP or HP YFP- non-pigmented cells on laminin for 12 days in 1% FBS + FH. YFP+ cells were counted in each condition every 4 days before the cells were fed with fresh media. Co-culturing 5 pigmented cells with 20 non-pigmented cells (all from CP spheres) increased the number of pigmented YFP+ cells 3-fold compared to culturing 5 CP sphere pigmented cells alone (Figure 3.6A). Similar increases in expansion were observed when CP sphere pigmented cells were co-cultured with non-pigmented cells from the other adult sphere types (Figure 3.6B and Figure A-12). Further, these expansions of CP sphere pigmented cells were due to proliferation of the cells, as these cells were labelled with the proliferation marker Ki67 (Figure 3.6C). To summarize, early RPE progenitors in CP spheres are responsive to signals received from non-pigmented cells derived from all sphere types.



Figure 3.6: Early RPE progenitors in CP spheres proliferate in response to extrinsic signals received from the surrounding non-pigmented NR cells.

(A) Expansion fold of CP pigmented YFP + cells achieved after 12 days of culture. Pigmented cells from YFP+ CP spheres were cultured alone at 5 or 20 cells/well, or co-cultured at 5 cells/well with 20 CP non-pigmented C57BL/6 cells/well. A significant fold increase of YFP+ cells was observed in the co-culture experiment compared to the experiments with 5 pigmented cells alone (t = 2.26, p = 0.044) or to 20 pigmented cells alone (t = 2.16, p = 0.048) (n= 3). (B) The effect of combining non-pigmented cells from different sphere types on the expansion of pigmented cells from CP spheres. Significant fold increases were found when pigmented CP cells were co-cultured with NP CP (t = 2.26, p = 0.044), NP HP cells (t = 7.171, p = 0.0028) and NP LP cells (t = 3.608, p = 0.0183) compared to the 5 cells/well pigmented cells alone control (n=2-3 biological replicates, 4-12 technical replicates per biological replicate). (C) Percentages of YFP+ cells double labelled with the Ki67 proliferation marker. 5 pigmented CP cells co-cultured with C57BL/6 non-pigmented cells from CP, HP or LP spheres showed significant increases in Ki67 double labelling compared to 5 pigmented cells cultured alone (one-way ANOVA F (3,8) = 9.951, p = 0.0045, Tukey-Kramer post-hoc tests, p < 0.05). (D) Expansion fold of YFP+ non-pigmented cells after 12 days of culture. Non-pigmented cells from YFP+ CP spheres were cultured either alone at 5 and 20 cells/well or co-cultured at 5 cells/well with 20 cells/well of CP pigmented cells. Significant increases were found when comparing the co-culture experiment to 5 non-pigmented cells alone, but not to 20 nonpigmented cells alone (n = 3, One-way ANOVA, F (2,6) = 9.033, p = 0.0155, Tukey-Kramer post-hoc tests, p < 0.05). Data represent the means  $\pm$  S.E.Ms. P = pigmented, NP = nonpigmented.

Non-pigmented neural retinal progenitors isolated from adult RSC (HP, LP and CP) spheres were proliferative when cultured at a 20 cells/well density. We found that culturing 5 non-pigmented cells/well from CP-spheres alone negatively affected their survival (from 5 cells/well to 1-2 cells/well after 12 days of culture), but culturing them at the higher density of 20 non-pigmented cells/well increased their survival and proliferation (Figure 3.4d), as reflected by higher cell expansion and positive Ki67 staining. (Figure A-13A and B). No changes in the Ki67 labelling of non-pigmented cells were observed when non-pigmented cells from each sphere were co-cultured with pigmented cells from each sphere type including CP (Figure A-13C), HP (Figure A-14A) and LP (Figure A-15A), indicating that proliferation of non-pigmented cells is not dependent on culturing with pigmented cells, but rather on proliferative factors secreted by other non-pigmented cells from any sphere type. Thus, nonpigmented neural retinal progenitor cells from all sphere types proliferate in response to signals received from other non-pigmented cells, but not from pigmented (RPE) cells. Culturing HP and LP pigmented cells in combination with non-pigmented cells from either HP, LP or CP spheres did not increase the proliferation of HP and LP pigmented cells relative to controls (Figure A-14B and C and Figure A-15B and C). The increased expansion and proliferation are exclusive to the pigmented early RPE progenitor cells derived from CP spheres and are not observed in cells derived from the late RPE progenitors from the two other sphere types. In conclusion, pigmented cells in CP spheres do not show increased proliferation on their own but depend upon proliferative signals received from the surrounding nonpigmented cells. Conversely, late RPE progenitors in HP and LP do not proliferate in response to these same signals from neural retinal progenitors. Proliferation of adult RSC derived nonpigmented progenitors is independent of the pigmented RPE progenitors, and non-pigmented neural retinal progenitors appear to proliferate in response to factors secreted from other nonpigmented neural retinal cells in the cultures.

#### **3.5 Conclusion**

The present results reveal the heterogeneity of clones grown clonally from a homogeneous population of retinal stem cells. We were able to identify three types of clonal spheres that contain different populations of RPE progenitors both in mouse and human. Each sphere type was passaged into all sphere types indicating that the stem cells that formed the three sphere types are identical. We were able to identify two distinct RPE progenitor populations that express different levels of developmental genes and respond differently to extrinsic signals. Sphere clones of single RSCs that have their pigmented RPE cells segregated to the centers of spheres contain early RPE progenitors that selectively respond to proliferation signals from non-pigmented neural retinal progenitors. We suggest that these early RPE progenitors are caught in an adhesion network at the centers of the clonal spheres and have the ability to proliferate extensively and differentiate into RPE cells. Q-PCR analysis confirmed the expression of early genes responsible for RPE development and adhesion. Although early RPE progenitors in the CP spheres expressed high levels of claudin-1 gene, knockdown of claudin-1 using SiRNA did not affect the adhesion of pigmented cells at the centre of the sphere indicating that claudin-1 could be one part of a network of genes that can still function separately or that other tight/adherent junction genes are working alone to elicit this phenomenon. The other two sphere types (HP and LP) on the other hand, do not differentiate into cobblestone cells nor respond to proliferative signals from non-pigmented neural retinal cells. They also have low expression of adhesion genes and immature RPE markers. Further analysis of intrinsic gene expression and screening of proliferative factors will be needed to further charachterize the RPE progenitor populations.

**Chapter 4: General discussion** 

#### 4.1 Expansion of retinal stem cells

Adult RSCs are considered a safe source for retinal cells. The work in this thesis will promote better RSC expansion. To my knowledge and up to the time of writing, the protocol published in this thesis is the first and only protocol available to expand the number of RSCs from adult CE in a bioreactor system. Using microcarriers in bioreactor stirring suspension system, I designed an expansion protocol that was successful in enriching the numbers of RSCs 10 times the classic static culture. Expanded RSCs can be used to generate large numbers of retinal precursors that can be used for cellular transplantation.

#### 4.1.1 Why do we need to expand RSCs?

Large number of photoreceptors and RPE are needed for cell replacement in degenerative eye diseases. Retinal degenerative diseases, including age-related macular degeneration and retinitis pigmentosa, are a major cause of blindness worldwide. In these neurodegenerative conditions, loss of photoreceptors leads to visual impairment. RSCs are considered a great source for cell transplantation, since they have the migratory capacity and cellular plasticity needed to integrate and differentiate in the diseased retina. Scientists faced many challenges in growing and transplanting retinal stem cells and their precursors. Limited availability of adult RSCs and their reduced proliferative potential is one of the major difficulties in translating such strategies into clinical applications.

#### 4.1.2 Rational and challenges

The proliferation potential of CB-derived cells appears somehow limited, especially when compared with brain-derived stem cells (Moe et al., 2009; Yanagi et al., 2006) or retinal progenitor cells from neonatal retinae (Klassen et al., 2004; Merhi-Soussi et al., 2006). No more than 0.2% to 2% of CB-derived cells seem to be endowed with proliferative capacities (Ahmad et al., 2004; Tropepe et al., 2000). Also, their self-renewal and proliferation rates appear to gradually decrease with subsequent passages (Coles, Angenieux, et al., 2004; S. Xu et al., 2007).

Attempts to replace lost photoreceptors have been made using embryonic, fetal and post-natal retinal stem/progenitor cells. These studies have generated variable data but as a whole demonstrated rather limited levels of integration and/or photoreceptor differentiation (Djojosubroto & Arsenijevic, 2008; Lamba, 2012; Pellegrini, De Luca, & Arsenijevic, 2007; West, Pearson, MacLaren, Sowden, & Ali, 2009). Successful Integration depends on several factors including the condition of transplantation

environment and the age of transplanted precursors. Previous work in our lab showed that injecting human adult RSCs into neonatal animal eyes (which provides a more appropriate host environment compared to adult retinae) resulted in cell migration, integration, and differentiation towards retinal cell fates (Coles, Angenieux, et al., 2004). In one other study, murine adult RSCs were shown to adopt retinal phenotypes when transplanted into diseased retinae, but not in healthy ones (James et al., 2003). The optimal developmental time point for isolation of transplantable photoreceptor precursors in the mouse is around postnatal day 4 (Bartsch et al., 2008; MacLaren et al., 2006), which corresponds to the second trimester in humans, therefore the use of such primary cells from humans is substantially limited by ethical concerns. Thus, the expansion of cells *in vitro* that have the capacity to generate mature photoreceptors after transplantation and therefore provide an unlimited amount of donor material represents a vital step for future therapeutic application.

Although pluripotent stem cells are considered a source for potentially infinite number of cells, RSCs derived from ESCs and iPSCs need to be assessed for long term safety due to the associated risk of tumorgenicity along with ethical concerns related to sourcing of ESC (Locker, El Yakoubi, Mazurier, Dullin, & Perron, 2010a). Urging the need to develop and establish protocols to expand RSCs of adult tissue origin.

Several methods have been used to expand the number of RSCs since their discovery in 2000. Most of the protocols were conducted in static (monolayer) culture. In this thesis, we wanted to grow RSCs in 3D culture and harness the benefits provided by bioreactor systems. I developed a protocol to expand the number of RSCs in a stirring suspension bioreactor using cell microcarriers. With this protocol, we achieved 10 times the number of stem cells grown in static culture. This method will help grow large number of RCSs that can be differentiated into different types of retinal cells which will be used to replace the cells lost due to disease or injury.

In the next section I will discus some of the methods that were used previously to expand retinal stem cells and progenitors and compare them to our results.

#### 4.2 Methods of RSC expansion

#### 4.2.1 Effect of mitogens on RSC expansion

Several protocols have been established to expand the number of RSCs *in vitro* using monolayer culture. These protocols depended on adding mitogens to the culture media, however, the expansion ranged only from 2 to 8 times the control. Of note, a number of studies showed that cells exposed to mitogens for several generations can undergo genetic changes. Djojosubroto et al. pointed out that adult CB-derived cell lines rapidly accumulated severe chromosomal aberrations upon prolonged cultivation and demonstrated tumorigenicity (Djojosubroto et al., 2009).

RSCs can proliferate as neurospheres in serum free media without exogenous growth factor addition (Tropepe et al., 2000). However, supplementation with EGF and/or FGF2 significantly increases the number of neurospheres formed from dissociated cells (Asami, Sun, Yamaguchi, & Kosaka, 2007; Coles, Angenieux, et al., 2004; Tropepe et al., 2000). Notably, the proliferative capacity of porcine, rodent and human RSCs maintained in monolayer was significantly increased compared to suspension sphere culture conditions (Asami et al., 2007; Coles, Angenieux, et al., 2004; MacNeil et al., 2007). Self renewal was monitored through the extent of secondary sphere formation which could be significantly enhanced following stimulation with exogenous molecules such as Wnt3a (Yanagi et al., 2006), Stem Cell Factor (SCF) (Das, James, Zhao, Rahnenführer, & Ahmad, 2004), Pigment Epithelium Derived Factor (PEDF); (De Marzo et al., 2010) and dexamethasone (Grise et al., 2020).

#### 4.2.2 Gene knockout

Knocking down certain genes like *Pax6* (S. Xu et al., 2007) and Notch (Balenci & van der Kooy, 2013) led to reduction in the numbers and sizes of RSCs. *Pax6* is enriched in RSCs. *In vivo* Inactivation of *Pax6* results in loss of competent RSCs as assayed by the failure to form clonal RSC spheres from the optic vesicles of conventional *Pax6* knockout embryos and from the CE cells of adult *Pax6* conditional knockout mice (S. Xu et al., 2007). *In vitro* clonal inactivation of *Pax6* in adult RSCs results in a serious proliferation defect, suggesting that *Pax6* is required for the proliferation and expansion of RSCs (S. Xu et al., 2007). NOTCH1 plays a selective role in RSC versus RPC in both developing and adult eye, overexpression of Notch1 in RSCs increases their symmetric divisions (Balenci & van der Kooy, 2013).

Coles et al., showed that blocking Chx10 and Mitf transcription factors resulted in 3-8 fold increase in the number of RSCs in both mutants (Coles et al., 2006). This increase reflects a presumed non–cell-autonomous feedback signal on the stem cell population from the neural retinal progenitor cells (Chx10 expressing cells) and the RPE progenitor cells (Mitf expressing cells). The loss of either specific progenitor cell type may decrease a signal that negatively regulates stem cell proliferation, and consequently increases the RSC population (Coles et al., 2006).

Combining the microfluidic platform with single-cell whole-transcriptome profiling Coles et al., 2020 (in progress), were able to identify 3 differentially expressed cell surface markers (FRIZZLED1, ABCG2 and NOTCH1) that when targeted simultaneously yield a 138-fold enrichment of RSCs.

#### 4.2.3 Retinal organoids

Bioreactors were also used to expand retinal precursors (photoreceptors and RPE) from retinal organoids (Akhtar et al., 2019b; DiStefano et al., 2018; Ovando-Roche et al., 2018). Retinal organoids are grown from pluripotent stem cells (PSCs), such as ESCs and iPSCs (Fligor et al., 2018b; M. Völkner, Kurth, & Karl, 2019). Inside these organoids, cells assume organization similar to that found in the original organ they represent. This self-organization is the result of a multitude of instructive cues originating from the ECM and the surrounding culture media, as well as signals from other cell types within the organoid (Mazerik, Becker, & Sieving, 2018; Takebe & Wells, 2019). PSCs are grown on Matrigel matrix in 2D culture to produce EB, a 3-dimensional aggregation of cells that will later form the three embryonic layers: ectoderm, mesoderm and endoderm. EB bodies are then harvested and supplemented with neural and retinal induction media. When the optic vesicle become visible, usually by day 7 of EB differentiation, they get dissected and maintained in a culture flask or in a suspension stirring bioreactor. Then, they will be maintained in retinal differentiation media until mature differentiation is achieved. Bioreactors control culture conditions and support better cell survival within RSC spheres (Fligor et al., 2018b). The continued development of lab-produced retinal organoids has the potential to effectively alleviate many problems inherent to the current conventional techniques. Retinal organoid systems display cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions, cellular heterogeneity, and physiological responses reflective of human biology, thus, are much more accurate models for studying retinal pathology as well as normal physiology (Aparicio et al., 2017; Cora et al., 2019; Llonch, Carido, & Ader, 2018). The currently used development protocols, unfortunately, remain a major hurdle standing in

the way of fully harnessing the application of organoids as, using these protocols, organoids will pass through many developmental stages but are never able to progress to the full mature retina (Capowski et al., 2019; DiStefano et al., 2018; Fligor et al., 2018b; Llonch et al., 2018).

Advanced RNA-seq technologies and transcriptome analysis identified divergent regulatory dynamics between developing retinae *in vivo* and in organoids. Organoid-derived retinal cells displayed temporal dysregulation of specific signaling pathways and reduced expression of genes involved in photoreceptor function and survival, which can be contributed to the lack of natural instructive signals available *in vivo*. Brooks et al. showed that adding docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) or FGF1, the two components missing in organoid cultures, facilitated photoreceptor differentiation and maturation (Brooks et al., 2019). The advancement of new protocols is of paramount importance and is currently under way in different laboratories around the world.

I was unable to find any established protocol for expanding the number of adult derived RSCs and RPCs in stirring bioreactor systems. Using SSB, I designed an expansion protocol that was successful in enriching the numbers of RSCs 10 times the classic static (control) culture. This expansion was higher than what was achieved by adding any of the mitogens mentioned above. Next, work should be directed toward differentiating these RSCs to the required cell type on microcarriers in SSB (rods, cones or RPE cells) using or modifying the current available protocols (Ballios et al., 2012; Khalili et al., 2018b).

#### 4.3 Stem cell niche and its effect on RSC expansion

In order to expand RSCs we need to understand their niche and the signals controlling their proliferation *in vivo*. Niche structure, cell interaction, oxygen level and factors secreted/diffused can affect the stem cell behaviour during development and in adulthood.

#### 4.3.1 Definition of stem cells niche

The stem cell niche concept was first introduced in 1978 (Schofield R, 1978) and represents the natural microenvironment that surrounds stem cells; it can be defined as an anatomical and functional entity that plays a crucial role in maintaining tissue homeostasis and tissue repair and regeneration in case of injuries (Walker, Patel, & Stappenbeck, 2009). It is believed that the stem cell niche provides a complex array of physical signals, including cell-cell contacts and cell-matrix adhesions as well as and biochemical signals, such as growth factors, to stem cells in a temporal and spatial manner; the integration of both local and systemic cues in the niche guides these cells to proliferation and fate specification (Fuchs, Tumbar, & Guasch,

2004; K. A. Moore & Lemischka, 2006). This niche controls stem cell proliferation and fate through the action of several secreted factors and also through interactions with the integral membrane, ECM, and basal lamina proteins (Malicki, 2004)

#### 4.3.2 Structure of the niche

The native stem cell niche consists of stem cells adhering to a group of supporting cells, soluble environment factors at specific sites embedded in the ECM serving as mechanical support and also as a reservoir for cellular signalling molecules (Daley, Peters, & Larsen, 2008). The ECM is composed of tissue-type-dependent fibrous structural proteins (collagens, fibronectin, laminin, elastin and vitronectin) and glycosaminoglycan (GAG) network. Collagen and elastin networks provide tissue with mechanical resistance to shear and tensile stress. ECM proteins such as heparan sulfate, chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans and collagens can modify the availability of signaling factors acting on the stem cells, either by sequestering them or by potentiating ligand binding (Fuhrmann, 2010b; Malicki, 2004). GAGs, thanks to the presence of hydrophilic groups in their backbone, provide compressive strength to the tissue. Cells interact with ECM components that contain various binding domains; these interactions occur through receptors known as integrins (Adam J. Engler, Humbert, Wehrle-Haller, & Weaver, 2009; Gersdorff et al., 2005; S. Li et al., 2002; Yurchenco & Wadsworth, 2004). Furthermore, cells interact with neighboring cells through receptors referred to as cadherins. The regulation of stem cell activities by their surrounding microenvironment is related to these receptors that act as physical anchors able to activate cell transduction pathways (Page-McCaw, Ewald, & Werb, 2007). A broader knowledge of these signaling pathways and about the role of ECM proteins can not only help to understand stem cell biology in the adult organism but will also give new hints for stem cell manipulation in vivo (Gonzalez-Nunez, Nocco, & Budd, 2010).

Oxygen concentration represents another important issue in the natural stem cell niche that is a critical component in the regulation of stem cell commitment (Mohyeldin, Garzón-Muvdi, & Quiñones-Hinojosa, 2010). This point will be discussed in a separate section below.

The well-studied niches for haematopoietic, intestinal and skin stem cells, as well as the examples of the hair follicle, mammary gland and neural stem cell niches, have shown that tissue-embedded adult stem cell states can include actively dividing cells as well as cells in a state of quiescence (Greggio et al., 2013; N. Li & Clevers, 2010).

#### 4.3.3 Niche factors

Self renewal, proliferation status and fate of downstream progenitors of many stem cell types are finely regulated by changes in their surrounding *niche*. These changes are dictated by both, extrinsic factors (biophysical factors, like physical activity, stress, environmental enrichment and aging) and intrinsic factors (biochemical factors, like cytokines, growth factors, hormones and neurotrophins) (Ming & Song, 2011).

Biochemical cues are provided by reciprocal interactions between the cell, soluble bioactive agents and the ECM. Soluble factors include growth factors, morphogenetic factors, cytokines, enzymes and small cell-permeable molecules such as transforming growth factors (TGF), bone morphogenetic protein (BMP), vitamin C, sodium pyruvate, retinoic acids (RAs) and other small molecules (Kawaguchi, Mee, & Smith, 2005; H. Zhang, Dai, Bi, & Liu, 2011). These factors, when added to the cell culture, or secreted by stem cells or niche cells, diffuse and bind to cell membrane receptors and activate cellular signal pathways able to alter stem cell gene expression (Ding & Schultz, 2004; Z. J. Liu, Zhuge, & Velazquez, 2009).

There is increasing evidence that mechanical factors are potent enough to control stem cell fate *in vitro*. For instance, it has been demonstrated that the matrix elasticity can influence the lineage commitment of MSCs into neurons, osteoblasts, and myoblasts (A. J. Engler, Sen, Sweeney, & Discher, 2006). Other than the substrate stiffness, these mechanical factors include the surface topography of the biomaterial scaffold, its three-dimensional (3D) geometry and the external forces cells are subjected to (Discher, Janmey, & Wang, 2005; Guilak et al., 2009).

Cells have the ability to actively sense their microenvironment and react to the properties of their surroundings (Kress, Neumann, Weyand, & Kasper, 2012). Anchorage-dependent cells are able to anchor onto the underlying substrate through focal adhesions formed by clusters of proteins, including integrins that are trans-membrane cell adhesion proteins (Lutolf & Hubbell, 2005). The cell cytoskeleton is a network of filamentous proteins that is mechanically linked to the focal adhesions, extending throughout the cytoplasm of eukaryotic cells, it consists of actin, microtubules, and intermediate filaments (Geiger, Spatz, & Bershadsky, 2009). The mechanical connections between the matrix and the cytoskeleton allow cells to exert traction forces that are transmitted to the cell nucleus through intracellular pathways; the resulting force triggers signalling transduction into biochemical signals that affect stem cell response, for example, the synthesis of specific transcription factors in the nucleus (Nava, Raimondi, & Pietrabissa, 2012; N. Wang et al., 2009).

#### 4.3.4 RSC niche

RSCs appear to be inhibited from contributing to homeostasis or regeneration by their CE niche. Isolated RSCs from the CE proliferate extensively to form colonies even in the absence of exogenous FGF (Coles, Angenieux, et al., 2004; Tropepe et al., 2000). Within the intact adult mammalian CE, proliferation is exceedingly rare and, when induced by prolonged growth factor administration, does not lead to migration into the neural retina (Abdouh & Bernier, 2006).

It has been proposed that *in vivo* activity of stem and progenitor cells is hampered by intrinsic limitations and/or lack of permissive factors in their microenvironment. However, these cells retain the ability to respond to growth factor stimulation *in vivo*. Intraocular injection of FGF2 and Insulin was indeed reported to induce proliferation of quiescent CB epithelial cells *in vivo* (Abdouh & Bernier, 2006; X. Zhao, Das, Soto-Leon, & Ahmad, 2005). Abdouh and Bernier showed that these reactivated cells exhibited neuroepithelial characteristics (expression of Chx10, Pax6, nestin) but did not differentiate into neurons (Abdouh & Bernier, 2006). In contrast, Zhao et al. described the expression of several differentiated retinal cell markers in BrdU labeled cells. In addition, they found that these progenitors were able to migrate centrally toward the neural retina (X. Zhao et al., 2005).

Close et al. investigated the nature of extrinsic factors that might account for the postnatal decline in proliferation within the postnatal retina. She found that exogenous transforming growth factor  $\beta$ 1 or  $\beta$ 2 (TGF $\beta$ 1/2) inhibited proliferation in rat retinal explants. Conversely, postnatal inhibition of TGF $\beta$  signaling *in vivo* extended the period of proliferation (Close, Gumuscu, & Reh, 2005). Based on these data, they proposed that a cytostatic TGF $\beta$  signal produced by the retinal neurons is involved in the maintenance of mitotic quiescence in the postnatal retina.

Postembryonic downregulation of *Shh* signalling might also contribute to silence the proliferative and neurogenic potential of adult RSCs. Indeed, mice with a single functional allele of the *Shh* receptor Patched, in which *Shh* signaling is constitutively activated, exhibit persistent progenitor cells in the retinal margin, reminiscent of the CMZ of fish and amphibians. Importantly, those Patched+/- proliferative cells were shown to trigger limited but observable neuronal regeneration in mice with a retinal degeneration background (Moshiri & Reh, 2004). In zebrafish, few genes have been described as specifically expressed in the stem cell zone and absent in the surrounding progenitors. Among them are components of the Shh signaling pathway, Gli2, Gli3 and X-Smoothened (Locker, El Yakoubi, Mazurier, Dullin, & Perron, 2010b), as well as the collagen encoding gene DrCol15a1b (Gonzalez-Nunez et al.,

2010). This previously uncharacterized collagen prevents the diffusion of signaling factors (of the Shh and notch pathways) out of the stem cell niche, thus maintaining neural stem cells within their proliferative microenvironment. Shh protein was ound also to promote proliferation within the CMZ of post-hatched chicken eyes (Moshiri & Reh, 2004). It was demonstrated that *Shh* signalling exerts ambivalent effects on both cell cycle kinetics and cell cycle exit of retinal precursors, thereby simultaneously promoting proliferation and differentiation (Locker et al., 2006). *Shh* signalling may regulate the transition from slow cycling retinal stem cells to fast cycling neuronal progenitors, bringing them closer to cell cycle exit (Locker et al., 2006).

A third player in the process was found to be the BMP pathway, which also interacts with FGF signalling although in a stage dependent manner, first activating FGF-receptor expression and then downregulating it (Haynes, Gutierrez, Aycinena, Tsonis, & Del Rio-Tsonis, 2007). Both Wnt and BMP signalling participate during embryogenesis to the determination and patterning of anterior eye structures including the iris and CB (Cho & Cepko, 2006; Kubo & Nakagawa, 2009; H. Liu et al., 2007; S. Zhao, Chen, Hung, & Overbeek, 2002). The Wnt pathway might also be critical for the formation of the CMZ by keeping cells of this region in a proliferative and undifferentiated state (Kubo, Takeichi, & Nakagawa, 2003). Recently, it was found that this function is mediated by c-hairy1, a member of hairy-enhancer of split genes (Kubo & Nakagawa, 2009). the Activation of Wnt signaling in transgenic tadpole retinae increased the number of CMZ proliferative cells, while blocking the pathway almost completely abolished proliferation (Denayer et al., 2008). These results substantiate the hypothesis that, in lower vertebrates, the What pathway plays a crucial role in adult retinal stem cell maintenance (Locker et al., 2010b). β-catenin/Wnt signaling is thus required for the maintenance of retinal progenitors during both initial development and lesion-induced regeneration and is sufficient to prevent differentiation of those progenitors and maintain them in a proliferative state. This suggests that the  $\beta$ catenin/Wnt cascade is part of the shared molecular circuitry that maintains retinal stem cells for both homeostatic growth and epimorphic regeneration (Meyers et al., 2012a).

The function of Wnt2b in maintaining the undifferentiated state is mediated through suppression of genes required for neuronal differentiation, namely, Notch1 and proneural genes (Kubo, Takeichi, & Nakagawa, 2005). In addition, Wnt2b enables sustained proliferation of retinal progenitor cells, which is highly reminiscent of retinal stem cells. For instance, when Wnt2b is stably expressed in the central progenitor cells that normally proliferate for only a limited period of time, the cells continue to proliferate to form

dramatically large sheet-like structures mainly consisting of undifferentiated cells (Kubo et al., 2005). Similar hyperproliferation was also observed when stabilized  $\beta$ -catenin, which constitutively activates the canonical Wnt signaling pathway, is introduced in the central retina of zebrafish (Yamaguchi et al., 2005). Furthermore, these Wnt2b-treated cells subsequently differentiate into neurons and glia upon blockade of Wnt signaling (Kubo et al., 2003, 2005), indicating that Wnt signaling induces continuous cell proliferation of retinal progenitor cells without losing their multipotency. All these observations are consistent with the idea that Wnt signaling provides progenitor cells in the CMZ with a stem cell-like capacity. It should be noted that mRNA for Wnt2b, LEF1 and several members of the Frizzled family are detected in neurosphere cultures prepared from the pigmented ciliary margin (PCM) of adult rodent eyes (Das et al., 2006), activation of the canonical Wnt signaling pathway increases the number of spheres generated from the PCM (Das et al., 2006; Yanagi et al., 2006). These results suggest that Wnt signaling has a positive effect on the formation of mammalian RSCs *in vitro*.

Alteration in any of the genes and growth factors above can also affect the fate of the downstream progenitors *in vivo*. For example, deletion of *Shh* from the mouse retina resulted in a premature induction of photoreceptors and an overproduction of ganglion cells (Neumann & Nuesslein-Volhard, 2000; Y. Wang et al., 2005). Injection of the mutant FGF receptor into Xenopus resulted in a 50% loss of amacrine cells and photoreceptors with a corresponding increase in müller glia (McFarlane et al., 1998). In the chick retina, a decrease in Notch levels led to a corresponding increase in retinal ganglion cells produced (Austin et al., 1995; Silva et al., 2003). Inactivation of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling results in transdifferentiation of RPE to neural retina as documented by downregulation of RPE-specific markers Mitf and Otx2 and ectopic expression of neural retina specific markers Chx10 and Rx (Fuhrmann, 2008b; Fujimura et al., 2009; Meyers et al., 2012b; Jie Zhu et al., 2014). Whereas BMP was reported to reprogram the neural retina into RPE at optic cup stages in chick (Steinfeld et al., 2017).

As discussed above, the niche of stem cells controls their proliferative status and cell fate decision. I think that modifying these niche factors *in vitro* can influence the proliferation, survival and expansion of RSCs. Measures like taking the stem cell away from the inhibitory natural environment into a controlled microenvironment (adjustable pH, temperature and oxygen level) and providing an anchoring ECM surface made RSCs more active *in vitro*. RSCs formed clonal spheres that were passaged and differentiated into different retinal cells in panretinal conditions. In my second data chapter, I reported that RSCs were capable of producing

three different sphere types that contain heterogenous populations of progenitors (early and late RPE progenitors). The proliferation of early progenitors was totally dependent on factors secreted from other neural retinal cells found in the niche. Late progenitors were not responsive to these factors and did not proliferate *in vitro*.

#### **4.3.5** Effect of oxygen on stem cell expansion

Evidence suggests that other components of the niche, such as oxygen tension, play an important role in cell fate determination during the development of many tissues, including the nervous system and the retina (Arden, Sidman, Arap, & Schlingemann, 2005; De Gooyer et al., 2006). Mouse embryonic stem cells (mESC) allow us to recapitulate retinal development in vitro. These cells are derived from the early embryo and are characterized by their two unique features of pluripotency and self-renewal (Evans & Kaufman, 1981). In particular, during implantation and fetal development, stem cells live at oxygen tensions between 2% and 8% (Maltepe & Simon, 1998). Early embryonic formation during mammalian development occurs in a precise environment, where the O<sub>2</sub> tension plays a critical role (Dunwoodie, 2009). In comparison to the atmospheric oxygen tension (20%), the uterus environment is hypoxic. Mammals including rabbits (8.7% oxygen tension) and monkeys (1.5% oxygen tension) (B. Fischer & Bavister, 1993) as well as humans develop embryos under low oxygen tension. Up until the second trimester in humans this ranges from 2% to 3% (Burton & Caniggia, 2001; Burton & Jaunaiux, 2001). The retina is not an exception and recent studies have shown the important role that hypoxia may play in neuroprotection and development of the human retina (Grimm & Willmann, 2012). This relative hypoxia or tissular normoxia is relatively low compared with traditional in vitro culture conditions (20% O<sub>2</sub>) (Malicki, 2004). Some studies showed that mimicking physiological  $O_2$  is a favorable condition for the efficient generation of RPCs and photoreceptors from both hiPSCs and hESCs (Bae et al., 2011; Garita-HernÁndez et al., 2013). Chen et al., also reported the efficient generation of retinal organoids from mouse stem cells using hypoxia (5% O2) (Chen et al., 2016).

Based on this knowledge, I compared the growth of RSCs and their ability to form clonal spheres both in hypoxia (5%) and in normoxia (21%). RSCs formed more colonies in hypoxia across different platforms. My work in SSB showed that this phenomenon is due to increased cell survival and symmetrical division in the hypoxic culture. A further increase in the number of generated colonies was achieved when positively charged collagen microcarriers were used.

#### 4.4 Conclusion

The central hypothesis of this work was to bypass some of the main obstacles standing in the way of effective expansion of RSCs and their progeny through providing a supportive in vitro environment that enhance their symmetrical division. The work in this thesis (chapter 2) has shown that using hypoxia in combination with SSB and MCs has led to 10 times increase in the yield of RSCs compared to the commonly used normoxic static culture. I showed that hypoxia increases the survival and the symmetrical division but not the proliferation of RSCs and demonstrated that activation of the Notch pathway is the mechanism that drives this phenomenon. Adding Dll3 (Notch ligand) caused a non-significant increase in the number of RSCs compared to hypoxic culture alone which suggests that hypoxia had already increased symmetric divisions of RSCs and that adding Dll3 had no further effect. Hypoxia increased the number of RSCs across platforms (static, SSB and MCs) by about two times compared to normoxia. The survival-promoting effect of hypoxia was combined with the use of SSB culture that allowed for better control of the microenvironment. Stirring at low rate (50 rpm) ensured that nutrients were equally distributed to all cells while keeping shear pressure at minimum. This system allowed to monitor pH, temperature and oxygen and maintain them fixed throughout the culture period. Culturing RSCs on MCs contributes to improving survival of cells, partly because it doesn't require the cell-damaging enzymatic dissociation steps, through providing an adhering surface that allowed the cells to attach, divide and expand. The combination of these factors resulted in 10 times expansion in the number of RSCs compared to static culture. To my knowledge, this is the first work focused on creating a protocol for expanding adult RSCs in a bioreactor system. The expansion reported in this thesis is higher than that achieved with mitogens in static culture without the mitogen associated risks.

The second objective of this thesis is to study the behaviour of RSCs and RPCs on clonal sphere level. In this thesis and for the first time, I reported that there are a three morphologically distinct groups of RSC clonal spheres. Further study of those groups revealed that their differentiation potential was different.

To test the second hypothesis, RSC clonal spheres were grouped into three categories based on their pigment distribution. The differentiation potential of one of the groups (CP spheres) clearly stood out from the other two groups (HP and LP spheres). Passaging of these clones proved that they all came from the same parent stem cell in the pigmented CE margin. Further study of CP spheres revealed a population of highly proliferative RPE progenitors. Sorting pigmented (RPE) and non-pigmented cells allowed me to study the proliferation potential of each cell type alone or in combination with each other. I was able to study the gene expression of different RPE and tight junction genes to look for the intrinsic differences between HP, LP and CP pigmented cells. This experiment showed that the pigmented cells of CP spheres express immature RPE genes (MITF and Otx2) in addition to claudin-1 gene (tight junction gene). I have shown that these pigmented cells are not proliferative on their own and only unleash their proliferation potential upon reception of signals from the surrounding nonpigmented cells. Unlike CP spheres, pigmented cells from HP and LP spheres did not respond to these proliferative signals. Depending on the gene expression and response to external signals, I classified the pigmented cells in RSCs clonal spheres into early and late RPE progenitors. For the first time in this thesis, the differentiation potential of RPE progenitors was studied on clonal sphere level. I have also showed that RSCs derived from adult pigmented CE constitute a homogenous population that has the ability to self-renew and differentiate into both RPE and NR cells.

Growing RPE as a source of adult stem cells has always been a challenge (Aruta et al., 2010; Uygun et al., 2009). A proliferative population of RPE derived from adult RSCs has been identified and characterized. This population will provide a pure and safe source of RPE cells that can be sorted later and used to replace RPE in degenerative retinal diseases. The work presented in this thesis will add to the considerable wealth of information previously published in the field. It will expand the knowledge and deepen our understanding of the basic biology of RSCs and RPCs and open the door to new approaches related to their utilization in bioengineering and therapeutics.
#### 4.5 Future direction

Throughout this thesis I have conducted a lot of experiments trying to learn, understand and explore the mechanisms controlling RSCs and RPCs. I was fortune to be able to answer some of these questions but, as always in science, every answer brings another question.

I believe that the bioreactor expansion protocol and my discovery of CP spheres will be crucial to take this promising project to the next level that will lead to more advancement in the field.

We now have the expertise to effectively expand the number of RSCs, achieving up to 10 times the number of cells produced using static culture techniques. The next step after expanding RSCs is to test if adult derived photoreceptors can be expanded in a bioreactor setting. Primary adult derived clonal RSC spheres as well as NR progenitors will be dissociated, the cells will be cultured on different types of MCs in different agitation rates and oxygen gradients. My lab recently published a protocol for cone photoreceptor enrichment (Khalili et al., 2018a) that can be used to expand cone cells inside a stirring suspension bioreactor. The hypothesis is that by using stirring suspension bioreactors and controlled microenvironment conditions (pH, temperature, agitation rate, nutrient levels and O<sub>2</sub> concentration), we can enhance cell survival and ensure greater cell yields. Furthermore, utilizing cell microcarriers does away with the injurious enzymatic dissociation step, therefore, eliminating cell loss associated with the use of strong dissociative enzymes.

Many labs have been successful in differentiating photoreceptors and RPE from ESCs and iPSCs (Akhtar et al., 2019a; Buchholz et al., 2013; Clarke et al., 2012; Gonzalez-Cordero et al., 2013; Schwartz et al., 2012, 2016; Sowden, 2014; Uygun et al., 2009; S. Zhou et al., 2015; J. Zhu et al., 2018), but issues related to ethics, immune rejection and risk of neoplasia remain problematic (Hyde & Reh, 2014; Kim et al., 2010; Messina, Casarosa, & Murenu, 2012; Noguchi et al., 2018; Ramsden et al., 2013; N. Wu et al., 2016). Particularly, the clinical application of ESCs carries a risk of teratoma formation. RSCs derived from iPCs are potential autologous sources that circumvent the ethical and immune rejection concerns; however, the risk of tumor formation cannot be entirely excluded. Clinical application of adult RSCs is free of ethical concerns, safe and not associated with risks of neoplasia and rejection (Ramsden et al., 2013). I propose that CP spheres can be enriched using the same bioreactor protocol which will provide large quantities of RPE cells in mouse and human. My work showed that *Mitf* and *Otx2* are highly expressed in CP pigmented cells. It will be important to further characterize early RPE progenitors in CP spheres through RNA sequencing to study possible genes that can be used to identify and isolate a pure population.

This will help in understanding RPE development and the variance between different RPE progenitors that built the RPE layer in the optic cup. Once RPE progenitors are isolated, their numbers can be expanded using bioreactors and MCs. Cells grown from adult stem cells are considered safer sources for transplantation compared to pluripotent stem cells. So, I believe this work will bring us closer to providing a safe allogenic source of RPE cells.

In order to apply this protocol to clinical research, It will be important to expand human RSCs in SSB. Human primary RSC clonal spheres will be dissociated and cultured in static, SSB and on MCs while testing how different agitation rate, oxygen concentration and MCs coatings will affect the stem cells and photoreceptors behaviour.

Most CP cobblestone cells are non-pigmented cells that also express immature RPE marker Mitf. Next step should be focused on accelerating the maturation of these cells through modifying culture conditions such as using more serum and/or adding exogenous factors to the culture media, like: Activin A and BMP4 (TGF- $\beta$  superfamily) (Aruta et al., 2010; A. Lane et al., 2014; Uygun et al., 2009). RPE maturity can be detected using electron microscopy to evaluate presence of melanin granules/pigmentation, apical-basal polarity, and formation of tight junctions. Additionally, the cells should be evaluated for phagocytic function using, for example, fluorescent-labelled photoreceptor outer segments from porcine eyes or fluorescentlabelled latex beads. Finally, the transplantation of these cells into models of RPE degeneration should be performed to determine their potential to replace lost RPE cells and rescue ONL photoreceptor loss and retinal function.

HP and LP spheres contain populations of pigmented progenitors that do not respond to NR cell signals. It will be interesting to sort the pigmented cells and do q-PCR or RNA-seq gene analysis to further study the origin and the identity of these cells. Immunohistochemistry is also important to investigate the expression of pigmented CE genes as Aquaporin 1, 4 and MSX1.

In this thesis I focused of studying the difference between pigmented cells in the three clonal RCS spheres. More experiments are needed to determine the expression of NR cell markers in non-pigmented cells from all sphere types.

I have shown that pigmented cells in CP spheres are responsive to proliferative signals from NR cells from all sphere types. More work is needed to identify and particularize the pathways behind this phenomenon.

Claudin-1 was highly expressed in CP pigmented cells; claudin-1 being a tight junction protein has led us to hypothesize that the aggregation of pigmented cells at the centre of spheres was a function of the highly expressed claudin-1. However, blocking claudin-1 did not disrupt the formation of pigmented centres nor the proliferation of CP spheres. Thus, there must be other pathways that work separately or in conjugation with claudin-1 to exert its action. Other experiments are still needed to investigate how pigmented cells adhere to each other at the center of CP spheres.

I found that hypoxia had a positive effect on the survival of RSCs. However, RSCs are quite rare in our culture, because of that, differentiating selective survival versus symmetric proliferation effects on RSCs is difficult. Isolating a pure RSC population will help in studying its behaviour in hypoxic conditions.

# Appendix A

List of supplementary figures.



Figure A-1

Average tertiary clonal RSC spheres percentage per day (days 2, 4 and 6), high speed agitation (80 rpm) vs low speed agitation (50 rpm). Results represent the means of n = 2 biological replicates, n = 8-24 technical replicate per sample ± SEMs.



Viability of RSCs in suspension (21% and 5% O<sub>2</sub>) and stationary cultures. (A) Average cell viability (single cell + aggregate samples) was determined using Ethidium homodiamer-2 and Hoechst staining. The average 5% SSB viability (single cells + aggregates) over 6 days was similar to 21% SSB culture and 21% static culture. (B) Average cell viability of aggregate samples derived from 5% SSB and 21% SSB. There was 1.5-fold increase in viability of cells in the aggregate samples in hypoxia compared to normoxia in SSB cultures (p < 0.0346, t = 2.77, df = 3). Results represent the means of  $n = 2-3 \pm SEMs$ .





Hypoxia (5%) vs normoxia (21%): Average tertiary sphere forming cell percentage per day (days 2, 4 and 6). (A) Aggregate samples. (B) Single cell samples. Results represent the means of n = 2-3 biological replicates, n = 8-24 technical replicate per sample ± SEMs.



Effect of agitation mood (continuous vs intermittent) on RSC expansion per day. (A) Viable cell density per ml. Using the 3-minute intermittent agitation protocol, we saw 3 times the expansion in overall cell density compared to continuous agitation. (B) Percentage of clonal tertiary sphere forming cells per day (days 2, 4 and 6). More clonal RSC spheres were observed in the continuous agitation culture on day 4, which was significantly higher than day 2 (p = 0.0126, t = 25.140, df = 1) but not to day 6 (p = 0.0618, t = 5.08, df = 1). Results represent the means of n = 2 biological replicates, n = 8-24 technical replicate per sample ± SEMs.



Growth chart for RSCs in hypoxia under different culture conditions. (A) Comparison of 1X TrypLE and 10X TrypLE dissociation protocols on the growth of RSCs on FACTIII microcarriers under hypoxia. (B) Comparison of microcarriers in SSB (10X TrypLE), SSB alone and static culture under hypoxia. Results represent the means of n = 2 biological replicates, n = 8-24 technical replicate per sample ± SEMs.



Daily tertiary RSC clonal spheres assay. (A) Tertiary RSC percentages per day (days 2, 4 and 6) observed in MC-SSB, SSB and static culture, all in hypoxia. (B) The percentage of clonal RSC spheres per day. More spheres were observed on day 4 in MC experiment but the increase was not significant compared to SSB (p = 0.133, t = 2.24, df = 1) and static culture (p = 0.122, t = 2.46, df = 1). Results represent the means of n = 2 biological replicates,, n = 8-24 technical replicate per sample  $\pm$  SEMs.



Daily cell expansion obtained from MC-SSB, SSB and static experiments. A nonsignificant increase in cell expansion between MC and SSB experiment or MC and static experiment was noticed on day 4 (p = 0.146 and 0.161, respectively). Results represent the means of n = 2 biological replicates, n = 8-24 technical replicate per sample ± SEMs.



Figure A-8: Cobblestone morphology cannot be induced by differentiating 6 mouse HP spheres together. Differentiation of HP retinal spheres at high density (6 spheres/well) in a 6-well plate to test if RPE proliferation and maturation can be induced at these higher density cultures. We could not observe cobblestone morphologies in these cultures (n = 3).



Figure A-9: NR cells in HP spheres maintain their identity when cultured with early progenitors in CP spheres. Culturing one HP YFP+ sphere with one CP sphere derived from one YFP- wildtype mouse on laminin for 21 days. We found that the YFP+ cells maintained their NR identities (arrows) without induction of cobblestone fates (n = 3).



Figure A-10: Adult mouse derived clonal CP sphere progeny express RPE differentiation markers. (A) MITF (arrows), RPE65 and ZO-1 expression in CP clonal sphere differentiation culture. Spheres were plated on laminin as single spheres per well in pan-retinal conditions for 21 days. Cells were fixed with 4% PFA and stained for immature RPE marker (MITF) and mature markers (RPE65) and ZO-1 (n = 3). (B) ZO-1 expression was not seen in differentiated in HP sphere.



Figure A-11: Adult human derived clonal CP spheres differentiate into cobblestone cells and express RPE markers. (A) Bestrophin1 (BEST1, arrows) and ZO-1 expression in CP sphere differentiation culture after 60 days of pan-retinal differentiation. (B) Percentages of BEST1 positive cells were higher in cells from human CP than HP (t = 3.28, p= 0.03) and LP spheres (t = 3.192, p = 0.03) after 60 days of differentiation culture. Data represent means  $\pm$  S.E.Ms (*n* = 2).



Figure A-12: No effects of claudin-1 knockdown on LP sphere diameters nor passaging. (A) siRNA blocking of claudin-1 did not affect the number of passaged spheres compared to non-target (NT) siRNA and no siRNA treatment (Control) (n = 2, One-way ANOVA, F (2,3) = 0.060, p = 0.942). (B) The percentages of RSC spheres were similar among siRNA conditions and two-way ANOVA revealed a non-significant interaction effects on sphere type and siRNA condition (n = 2, Two-way ANOVA, F (4,9) = 1.28, p =0.345) and a significant main effect of sphere type (F (2,9) = 13.81, p = 0.0018,Tukey-Kramer post-hoc, p< 0.05). (C) No significant differences in the diameters of spheres observed among siRNA and control conditions (n = 2, Two-way ANOVA revealed no interaction effect between the spheres size in different conditions (F (4,9) = 0.577, p = 0.686) and only a significant main effect of sphere type (F (2,9) = 6.44, p = 0.018). (D) Low levels of claudin-1 were observed in siRNA experiment compared to the no treatment and non targeting siRNA controls.



Figure A-13: Proliferation of non-pigmented NR cells is not dependent on signals from pigmented RPE cells. (A) Fold expansions of non-pigmented cells derived from CP, HP and LP spheres were not significantly different (one-way ANOVA, F (2,4) = 1.30, p =0.366). (B) Percentages of Ki67+ cells in non-pigmented YFP- cells derived from HP, LP and CP spheres after co-culture with pigmented cells from CP spheres show no significant differences in proliferation (one-way ANOVA, F (2,3) = 0.140, p = 0.874). (C) Non-significant differences among the percentages of Ki67+ cells in non-pigmented cells from the different sphere types (one-way ANOVA, F (2,6) = 1.67, p = 0.264). Data represent the means  $\pm$  S.E.M (*n* = 2-3).



Figure A-14: Pigmented cells in HP spheres do not respond to proliferative signals from nonpigmented NR cells. (A) There was no difference in the fold expansions of HP YFP+ pigmented cells when combined with non-pigmented cells from HP or CP spheres (one-way ANOVA, F (2,5) = 1.34, p = 0.340). (B) No differences were observed in the percentages of YFP+ cells positive for the Ki67 proliferation marker (one-way ANOVA, F (2,3) = 0.068, p = 0.935). (C) Culturing YFP- cells (HP and CP NR cells) with pigmented HP cells did not affect NR cell proliferation (t = 0.880, p = 0.471). Error bars represent the means  $\pm$  S.E.Ms (*n* = 2-3, 4-12 technical replicates per biological replicate).



Figure A-15: Late RPE cells in LP spheres are not responsive to extrinsic signals from nonpigmented NR cells. (A) Non-significant differences in the fold expansions of the LP pigmented cells when combined with non-pigmented cells from LP or CP spheres (one-way ANOVA, F (2,3) = 3.65, p = 0.157). (B) Percentages of YFP+ cells from LP spheres that also are positive for the Ki67 proliferation marker were not different when cultured with nonpigmented NR cells from LP versus CP spheres (one-way ANOVA, F (2,3) = 0.311, p = 0.753). (C) No changes observed in the percentages of Ki67 positive cells in YFP- cells (NR derived from LP and CP spheres) when co-cultured with pigmented LP cells (t = 0.047, p = 0.966). Data represent means  $\pm$  S.E.Ms (*n* = 2-3).



Figure A-16: Examples of heavily pigmented RSC spheres (HP). Images showing the pigment distribution in clonal HP spheres. Pigment covers most of the surface areas of the spheres.



Figure A-17: Examples of lightly pigmented RSC spheres (LP). Images showing pigment distribution in clonal LP spheres. Variable levels of pigmentation with sporadic distributions on the surface areas of spheres.



Figure A-18: Centrally pigmented RSC spheres (CP) are characterized by central pigment distributions. Examples showing pigment distributions in clonal CP spheres. The pigment is heavily concentrated in the centers of the spheres surrounded by less pigmented rims.

### References

- Abdalla-Elsayed, M. E., Schatz, P., Neuhaus, C., & Khan, A. O. (2017). Heterozygous mutation in OTX2 associated with early-onset retinal dystrophy with atypical maculopathy. *Molecular Vision*, 23, 778–784. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29204067
- Abdouh, M., & Bernier, G. (2006). In vivo reactivation of a quiescent cell population located in the ocular ciliary body of adult mammals. *Experimental Eye Research*, 83(1), 153– 164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exer.2005.11.016
- Abranches, E., Bekman, E., Henrique, D., & Cabral, J. M. S. (2007). Expansion of mouse embryonic stem cells on microcarriers. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 96(6), 1211–1221. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.21191
- Achberger, K., Haderspeck, J. C., Kleger, A., & Liebau, S. (2018). Stem cell-based retina models. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 1(140), 33–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2018.05.005
- Adelmann', H. B. (1929). Experimental studies on the development of the eye. II. *Journal of Experimental Zoology*, 54(2), 249–290. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1400540205
- Adler, R., & Belecky-Adams, T. L. (2002). The role of bone morphogenetic proteins in the differentiation of the ventral optic cup. *Development*, 129(13), 3161–3171.
- Ahmad, I., Das, A. V., James, J., Bhattacharya, S., & Zhao, X. (2004). Neural stem cells in the mammalian eye: Types and regulation. *Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology*, 15(1), 53–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2003.09.003
- Ahmad, I., Tang, L., & Pham, H. (2000). Identification of neural progenitors in the adult mammalian eye. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 270(2), 517– 521. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.2000.2473
- Akhtar, T., Xie, H., Khan, M. I., Zhao, H., Bao, J., Zhang, M., & Xue, T. (2019a). Accelerated photoreceptor differentiation of hiPSC-derived retinal organoids by contact co-culture with retinal pigment epithelium. *Stem Cell Research*, *39*, 101491. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2019.101491
- Akhtar, T., Xie, H., Khan, M. I., Zhao, H., Bao, J., Zhang, M., & Xue, T. (2019b).
  Accelerated photoreceptor differentiation of hiPSC-derived retinal organoids by contact co-culture with retinal pigment epithelium. *Stem Cell Research*, *39*, 101491.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2019.101491

- Alexiades, M. R., & Cepko, C. L. (1996). Quantitative analysis of proliferation and cell cycle length during development of the rat retina. *Developmental Dynamics*, 205(3), 293–307. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0177(199603)205:3<293::AID-AJA9>3.0.CO;2-D
- Alexiades, M. R., & Cepko, C. L. (1997). Subsets of retinal progenitors display temporally regulated and distinct biases in the fates of their progeny. *Development*, 124(6), 1119– 1131. Retrieved from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9102299/
- Alfred, R., Radford, J., Fan, J., Boon, K., Krawetz, R., Rancourt, D., & Kallos, M. S. (2011). Efficient suspension bioreactor expansion of murine embryonic stem cells on microcarriers in serum-free medium. *Biotechnology Progress*, 27(3), 811–823. https://doi.org/10.1002/btpr.591
- Alsiö, J. M., Tarchini, B., Cayouette, M., & Livesey, F. J. (2013). Ikaros promotes earlyborn neuronal fates in the cerebral cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(8). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1215707110
- Amato, M. A., Arnault, E., & Perron, M. (2004a). Retinal stem cells in vertebrates: Parallels and divergences. *International Journal of Developmental Biology*, 48(8–9), 993–1001. https://doi.org/10.1387/ijdb.041879ma
- Amato, M. A., Arnault, E., & Perron, M. (2004b). Retinal stem cells in vertebrates: Parallels and divergences. *International Journal of Developmental Biology*, 48(8–9), 003–1001. https://doi.org/10.1387/ijdb.041879ma
- Amato, M. A., Boy, S., & Perron, M. (2004). Hedgehog signaling in vertebrate eye development: A growing puzzle. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 61(7–8), 899–910. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-003-3370-7
- Andrade-Zaldívar, H., Kalixto-Sánchez, M. A., de la Rosa, A. P. B., & De León-Rodríguez,
  A. (2011). Expansion of Human Hematopoietic Cells from Umbilical Cord Blood
  Using Roller Bottles in CO 2 and CO 2 -Free Atmosphere. *Stem Cells and Development*,
  20(4), 593–598. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2010.0236
- Andreazzoli, M., Gestri, G., Angeloni, D., Menna, E., & Barsacchi, G. (1999). Role of Xrx1 in Xenopus eye and anterior brain development. *Development*, 126(11), 2451–2460. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10226004
- Aparicio, J. G., Shayler, D. W. H., Cobrinik, D., Aparicio, J. G., Shayler, D. W. H., & Cobrinik, D. (2017). Retinal Organoids: An Emerging Technology for Retinal Disease Research and Therapy. In N. A. . L. R. Schwartz S. (Ed.), *Cellular Therapies for Retinal Disease: A Strategic Approach* (pp. 117–138). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-

319-49479-1\_10

- Araki, M. (2007). Regeneration of the amphibian retina: Role of tissue interaction and related signaling molecules on RPE transdifferentiation. *Development, Growth & Differentiation*, 49(2), 109–120. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-169X.2007.00911.x
- Arden, G. B., Sidman, R. L., Arap, W., & Schlingemann, R. O. (2005). Spare the rod and spoil the eye. *British Journal of Ophthalmology*, 89(6), 764–769. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjo.2004.062547
- Artavanis-Tsakonas, S., Rand, M. D., & Lake, R. J. (1999). Notch Signaling: Cell Fate Control and Signal Integration in Development. *Science*, 284(5415), 770–776. Retrieved from 10.1126/science.284.5415.770
- Aruta, C., Giordano, F., De Marzo, A., Comitato, A., Raposo, G., Nandrot, E. F., & Marigo, V. (2010). *In vitro differentiation of retinal pigment epithelium from adult retinal stem cells*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-148X.2010.00793.x
- Asami, M., Sun, G., Yamaguchi, M., & Kosaka, M. (2007). Multipotent cells from mammalian iris pigment epithelium. *Developmental Biology*, 304(1), 433–446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2006.12.047
- Austin, C. P., Feldman, D. E., Ida, J. A., & Cepko, C. L. (1995). Vertebrate retinal ganglion cells are selected from competent progenitors by the action of Notch. *Development*, *121*(11), 3637–3650. Retrieved from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/8582277
- Bae, D., Mondragon-Teran, P., Hernandez, D., Ruban, L., Mason, C., Bhattacharya, S. S., & Veraitch, F. S. (2011). Hypoxia Enhances the Generation of Retinal Progenitor Cells from Human Induced Pluripotent and Embryonic Stem Cells. *Stem Cells and Development*, 21(8), 1344–1355. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2011.0225
- Balenci, L., & van der Kooy, D. (2013). Notch Signaling Induces Retinal Stem-Like
  Properties in Perinatal Neural Retina Progenitors and Promotes Symmetric Divisions in
  Adult Retinal Stem Cells. *Stem Cells and Development*, 23(3), 230–244.
  https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2013.0177
- Balenci, L., Wonders, C., Coles, B. L. K., Clarke, L., & van der Kooy, D. (2013). Bone morphogenetic proteins and secreted frizzled related protein 2 maintain the quiescence of adult mammalian retinal stem cells. *Stem Cells*, *31*(10), 2218–2230. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1470
- Ballios, B. G., Clarke, L., Coles, B. L. K., Shoichet, M. S., & van der Kooy, D. (2012). The adult retinal stem cell is a rare cell in the ciliary epithelium whose progeny can differentiate into photoreceptors. *Biology Open*, 1(3), 237–246.

https://doi.org/10.1242/bio.2012027

- Ballios, B. G., & van der Kooy, D. (2010). Biology and therapeutic potential of adult retinal stem cells. *Canadian Journal of Ophthalmology*, 45(4), 342–351. https://doi.org/10.3129/i10-070
- Bancroft, G. N., Sikavitsas, V. I., & Mikos, A. G. (2003). Design of a flow perfusion bioreactor system for bone tissue-engineering applications. *Tissue Engineering*, 9(3), 549–554. https://doi.org/10.1089/107632703322066723
- Bao, Z., & Cepko, C. L. (1997). The expression and function of notch pathway genes in the developing rat eye. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 17(4), 1425–1434. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.17-04-01425.1997
- Barnea-Cramer, A. O., Wang, W., Lu, S. J., Singh, M. S., Luo, C., Huo, H., ... Lanza, R. (2016). Function of human pluripotent stem cell-derived photoreceptor progenitors in blind mice. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 29784-undefined. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep29784
- Bartsch, U., Oriyakhel, W., Kenna, P. F., Linke, S., Richard, G., Petrowitz, B., ... Ader, M. (2008). Retinal cells integrate into the outer nuclear layer and differentiate into mature photoreceptors after subretinal transplantation into adult mice. *Experimental Eye Research*, 86(4), 691–700. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exer.2008.01.018
- Bassett, E. A., & Wallace, V. A. (2012). Cell fate determination in the vertebrate retina. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 35(9), 565–573. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2012.05.004
- Bäumer, N., Marquardt, T., Stoykova, A., Spieler, D., Treichel, D., Ashery-Padan, R., & Gruss, P. (2003). Retinal pigmented epithelium determination requires the redundant activities of Pax2 and Pax6. *Development*, *130*(13), 2903–2915. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.00450
- Baylor, D. (1996). How photons start vision. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 93(2), 560–565. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.93.2.560
- Baylor, D., & Burns, M. E. (1998). Control of rhodopsin activity in vision. *Eye*, *12*(3), 521–525. https://doi.org/10.1038/eye.1998.140
- Beatty, S., Koh, H. H., Phil, M., Henson, D., & Boulton, M. (2000). The role of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of age-related macular degeneration. *Survey of Ophthalmology*, 45(2), 115–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0039-6257(00)00140-5
- Béby, F., Housset, M., Fossat, N., Le Greneur, C., Flamant, F., Godement, P., & Lamonerie, T. (2010). Otx2 gene deletion in adult mouse retina induces rapid RPE dystrophy and slow photoreceptor degeneration. *PLoS ONE*, *5*(7), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0011673

- Becerra, S. P., Fariss, R. N., Wu, Y. Q., Montuenga, L. M., Wong, P., & Pfeffer, B. A. (2004). Pigment epithelium-derived factor in the monkey retinal pigment epithelium and interphotoreceptor matrix: Apical secretion and distribution. *Experimental Eye Research*, 78(2), 223–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exer.2003.10.013
- Belliveau, M. J., & Cepko, C. L. (1999). Extrinsic and intrinsic factors control the genesis of amacrine and cone cells in the rat retina. *Development*, 126(3), 555–566. Retrieved from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9876184/
- Belliveau, M. J., Young, T. L., & Cepko, C. L. (2000). Late retinal progenitor cells show intrinsic limitations in the production of cell types and the kinetics of opsin synthesis. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 20(6), 2247–2254. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10704500
- Bernardos, R. L., Barthel, L. K., Meyers, J. R., & Raymond, P. A. (2007). Late-stage neuronal progenitors in the retina are radial Müller glia that function as retinal stem cells. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27(26), 7028–7040. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1624-07.2007
- Bhatia, B., Singhal, S., Lawrence, J. M., Khaw, P. T., & Limb, G. A. (2009). Distribution of Müller stem cells within the neural retina: Evidence for the existence of a ciliary margin-like zone in the adult human eye. *Experimental Eye Research*, 89(3), 373–382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exer.2009.04.005
- Bok, D. (1993). The retinal pigment epithelium: A versatile partner in vision. *J Cell Sci Suppl.*, *106*(SUPPL. 17), 189–195. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.1993.supplement\_17.27
- Boo, L., Selvaratnam, L., Tai, C. C., Ahmad, T. S., & Kamarul, T. (2011). Expansion and preservation of multipotentiality of rabbit bone-marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells in dextran-based microcarrier spin culture. *Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Medicine*, 22(5), 1343–1356. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10856-011-4294-7
- Boulton, M., & Wassell, J. (1998). Ageing of the human retinal pigment epithelium. In *Retinal Pigment Epithelium and Macular Diseases* (Vol. 62, pp. 19–28). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-011-5137-5\_4
- Brandl, C. (2019). Generation of Functional Retinal Pigment Epithelium from Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 1834, 87–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-8669-9\_6
- Brooks, M. J., Chen, H. Y., Kelley, R. A., Mondal, A. K., Nagashima, K., De Val, N., ...
  Swaroop, A. (2019). Improved Retinal Organoid Differentiation by Modulating
  Signaling Pathways Revealed by Comparative Transcriptome Analyses with
  Development In Vivo. *Stem Cell Reports*, *13*(5), 891–905.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2019.09.009

- Buchholz, D. E., Pennington, B. O., Croze, R. H., Hinman, C. R., Coffey, P. J., & Clegg, D. O. (2013). Rapid and Efficient Directed Differentiation of Human Pluripotent Stem Cells Into Retinal Pigmented Epithelium. *Stem Cells Translational Medicine*, *2*(5), 384–393. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2012-0163
- Buenaventura, D. F., Ghinia-Tegla, M. G., & Emerson, M. M. (2018). Fate-restricted retinal progenitor cells adopt a molecular profile and spatial position distinct from multipotent progenitor cells. *Developmental Biology*, 443(1), 35–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2018.06.023
- Bumsted, K. M., & Barnstable, C. J. (2000). Dorsal retinal pigment epithelium differentiates as neural retina in the microphthalmia (mi/mi) mouse. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 41(3), 903–908. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10711712
- Burke, J. M., & Hjelmeland, L. M. (2005). Mosaicism of the retinal pigment epithelium: Seeing the small picture. *Molecular Interventions*, 5(4), 241–249. https://doi.org/10.1124/mi.5.4.7
- Burmeister, M., Novak, J., Liang, M. Y., Basu, S., Ploder, L., Hawes, N. L., ... McInnes, R.
  R. (1996). Ocular retardation mouse caused by Chx10 homeobox null allele: impaired retinal progenitor proliferation and bipolar cell differentiation. *Nature Genetics*, *12*(4), 376–384. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng0496-376
- Burton, G. J., & Caniggia, I. (2001). Hypoxia: implications for implantation to delivery-a workshop report. *Placenta*, 22 *Suppl A*, S63-5. https://doi.org/10.1053/plac.2001.0642
- Burton, G. J., & Jaunaiux, E. (2001). Maternal vascularisation of the human placenta: Does the embryo develop in a hypoxic environment? *Gynecologie Obstetrique et Fertilite*, 29(7–8), 503–508. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1297-9589(01)00179-5

Cabral, J. M. S. (2001). Ex vivo expansion of hematopoietic stem cells in bioreactors. *Biotechnology Letters*, 23(10), 741–751. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010350215989

- Cabrita, G. J. M., Ferreira, B. S., Lobato Da Silva, C., Gonçalves, R., Almeida-Porada, G., & Cabral, J. M. S. (2003). Hematopoietic stem cells: From the bone to the bioreactor. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 21(5), 233–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-7799(03)00076-3
- Cameron, C. M., Hu, W. S., & Kaufman, D. S. (2006). Improved development of human embryonic stem cell-derived embryoid bodies by stirred vessel cultivation. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 94(5), 938–948. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.20919

- Capowski, E. E., Samimi, K., Mayerl, S. J., Phillips, M. J., Pinilla, I., Howden, S. E., ... Gamm, D. M. (2019). Reproducibility and staging of 3D human retinal organoids across multiple pluripotent stem cell lines. *Development*, 146(1), dev171686-. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.171686
- Cayouette, M., Barres, B. A., & Raff, M. (2003). Importance of Intrinsic Mechanisms in Cell Fate Decisions in the Developing Rat Retina. *Neuron*, 40(5), 897–904. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00756-6
- Cayouette, M., Smith, S. B., Becerra, S. P., & Gravel, C. (1999). Pigment epithelium-derived factor delays the death of photoreceptors in mouse models of inherited retinal degenerations. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 6(6), 523–532. https://doi.org/10.1006/nbdi.1999.0263
- Cechmanek, P. B., & McFarlane, S. (2017). Retinal pigment epithelium expansion around the neural retina occurs in two separate phases with distinct mechanisms. *Developmental Dynamics*, 246(8), 598–609. https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.24525
- Cepko, C. L. (2014). Intrinsically different retinal progenitor cells produce specific types of progeny. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 15(9), 615–627. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3767
- Chagastelles, P. C., & Nardi, N. B. (2011). Biology of stem cells: An overview. *Kidney International Supplements*, 1(3), 63–67. https://doi.org/10.1038/kisup.2011.15
- Chauhan, B. K., Disanza, A., Choi, S. Y., Faber, S. C., Lou, M., Beggs, H. E., ... Lang, R.
  A. (2009). Cdc42- and IRSp53-dependent contractile filopodia tether presumptive lens and retina to coordinate epithelial invagination. *Development*, *136*(21), 3657–3667. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.042242
- Chen, H. Y., Kaya, K. D., Dong, L., & Swaroop, A. (2016). Three-dimensional retinal organoids from mouse pluripotent stem cells mimic in vivo development with enhanced stratification and rod photoreceptor differentiation. *Molecular Vision*, 22, 1077–1094. Retrieved from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27667917/
- Cheung, T. H., & Rando, T. A. (2013). Molecular regulation of stem cell quiescence. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, *14*(6), 329–340. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3591
- Cho, S. H., & Cepko, C. L. (2006). Wnt2b/β-catenin-mediated canonical Wnt signaling determines the peripheral fates of the chick eye. *Development*, *133*(16), 3167–3177. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.02474
- Choi, Y. S., Noh, S. E., Lim, S. M., & Kim, D. il. (2010). Optimization of ex vivo hematopoietic stem cell expansion in intermittent dynamic cultures. *Biotechnology Letters*, 32(12), 1969–1975. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10529-010-0355-0

- Choudhary, P., Booth, H., Gutteridge, A., Surmacz, B., Louca, I., Steer, J., ... Whiting, P. J. (2017). Directing Differentiation of Pluripotent Stem Cells Toward Retinal Pigment Epithelium Lineage. *Stem Cells Translational Medicine*, 6(2), 490–501. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2016-0088
- Chow, R. L., & Lang, R. A. (2001). EARLY EYE DEVELOPMENT IN VERTEBRATES. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol, 17, 255–296. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.cellbio.17.1.255
- Chuang, J. C., & Raymond, P. A. (2002). Embryonic origin of the eyes in teleost fish. *BioEssays*, 24(6), 519–529. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.10097
- Cicero, S. A., Johnson, D., Reyntjens, S., Frase, S., Connell, S., Chow, L. M. L., ... Dyer,
  M. A. (2009). Cells previously identified as retinal stem cells are pigmented ciliary
  epithelial cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(16), 6685–6690. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0901596106
- Clarke, L., Ballios, B. G., & van der Kooy, D. (2012). Generation and clonal isolation of retinal stem cells from human embryonic stem cells. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 36(1), 1951–1959. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2012.08123.x
- Close, J. L., Gumuscu, B., & Reh, T. A. (2005). Retinal neurons regulate proliferation of postnatal progenitors and Müller glia in the rat retina via TGFβ signaling. *Development*, *132*(13), 3015–3026. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.01882
- Coles, B. L. K., Angenieux, B., Inoue, T., Del Rio-Tsonis, K., Spence, J. R., McInnes, R. R., ... van der Kooy, D. (2004). Facile isolation and the characterization of human retinal stem cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 101(44), 15772–15777. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0401596101
- Coles, B. L. K., Brain, I., Purpura, K. A., Karpowicz, P., Zandstra, P. W., Morshead, C. M., & van der Kooy, D. (2008). Don't Look: Growing Clonal Versus Nonclonal Neural Stem Cell Colonies. *Stem Cells*, 26(11), 2938–2944. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2008-0558
- Coles, B. L. K., Horsford, D. J., McInnes, R. R., & van der Kooy, D. (2006). Loss of retinal progenitor cells leads to an increase in the retinal stem cell population in vivo. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(1), 75–82. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.04537.x
- Coles, B. L. K., Inoue, T., Spence, J. R., van der Kooy, D., McInnes, R. R., Angenieux, B., ... Del Rio-Tsonis, K. (2004). Facile isolation and the characterization of human retinal stem cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 101(44), 15772–15777. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0401596101

- Collins, P. C., Nielsen, L. K., Patel, S. D., Papoutsakis, E. T., & Miller, W. M. (1998).
  Characterization of Hematopoietic Cell Expansion, Oxygen Uptake, and Glycolysis in a Controlled, Stirred-Tank Bioreactor System. *Biotechnology Progress*, 14(3), 466–472. https://doi.org/10.1021/bp980032e
- Cora, V., Haderspeck, J., Antkowiak, L., Mattheus, U., Neckel, P. H., Mack, A. F., ... Liebau, S. (2019). A Cleared View on Retinal Organoids. *Cells*, 8(5), 391. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8050391

Cormier, J. T., Zur Nieden, N. I., Rancourt, D. E., & Kallos, M. S. (2006). Expansion of undifferentiated murine embryonic stem cells as aggregates in suspension culture bioreactors. *Tissue Engineering*, 12(11), 3233–3245. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.2006.12.3233

- Cowan, P. J. (2016). The use of CRISPR/Cas associated technologies for cell transplant applications. *Current Opinion in Organ Transplantation*, *21*(5), 461–466. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOT.00000000000347
- Cvekl, A., & Tamm, E. R. (2004). Anterior eye development and ocular mesenchyme: New insights from mouse models and human diseases. *BioEssays*, 26(4), 374–386. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.20009
- Cvekl, A., & Wang, W. L. (2009). Retinoic acid signaling in mammalian eye development. *Experimental Eye Research*, 89(3), 280–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exer.2009.04.012
- Czekaj, M., Haas, J., Gebhardt, M., Müller-Reichert, T., Humphries, P., Farrar, J., ... Ader, M. (2012). In Vitro Expanded Stem Cells from the Developing Retina Fail to Generate Photoreceptors but Differentiate into Myelinating Oligodendrocytes. *PLoS ONE*, 7(7), e41798. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0041798
- Daley, W. P., Peters, S. B., & Larsen, M. (2008). Extracellular matrix dynamics in development and regenerative medicine. *Journal of Cell Science*, 121(3), 255–264. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.006064
- Dang, S. M., Gerecht-Nir, S., Chen, J., Itskovitz-Eldor, J., & Zandstra, P. W. (2004). Controlled, Scalable Embryonic Stem Cell Differentiation Culture. *Stem Cells*, 22(3), 275–282. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.22-3-275
- Danno, H., Michiue, T., Hitachi, K., Yukita, A., Ishiura, S., & Asashima, M. (2008).
  Molecular links among the causative genes for ocular malformation: Otx2 and Sox2 coregulate Rax expression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105(14), 5408–5413.
  https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0710954105

- Das, A. V., James, J., Rahnenführer, J., Thoreson, W. B., Bhattacharya, S., Zhao, X., & Ahmad, I. (2005). Retinal properties and potential of the adult mammalian ciliary epithelium stem cells. *Vision Research*, 45(13), 1653–1666. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2004.12.017
- Das, A. V., James, J., Zhao, X., Rahnenführer, J., & Ahmad, I. (2004). Identification of c-Kit receptor as a regulator of adult neural stem cells in the mammalian eye: Interactions with Notch signaling. *Developmental Biology*, 273(1), 87–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2004.05.023
- Das, A. V., Mallya, K. B., Zhao, X., Ahmad, F., Bhattacharya, S., Thoreson, W. B., ... Ahmad, I. (2006). Neural stem cell properties of Müller glia in the mammalian retina: Regulation by Notch and Wnt signaling. *Developmental Biology*, 299(1), 283–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2006.07.029
- De Gooyer, T. E., Stevenson, K. A., Humphries, P., Simpson, D. A. C., Curtis, T. M., Gardiner, T. A., & Stitt, A. W. (2006). Rod photoreceptor loss in Rho-/- mice reduces retinal hypoxia and hypoxia-regulated gene expression. *Investigative Ophthalmology* and Visual Science, 47(12), 5553–5560. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.06-0646
- De Marzo, A., Aruta, C., & Marigo, V. (2010). PEDF promotes retinal neurosphere formation and expansion in vitro. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, 664, 621–630. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1399-9\_71
- de Melo, J., Clark, B. S., Venkataraman, A., Shiau, F., Zibetti, C., & Blackshaw, S. (2018). Ldb1- and Rnf12-dependent regulation of Lhx2 controls the relative balance between neurogenesis and gliogenesis in the retina. *Development*, 145(9), dev:159970-. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.159970
- de Melo, J., Zibetti, C., Clark, B. S., Hwang, W., Miranda-Angulo, A. L., Qian, J., & Blackshaw, S. (2016). Lhx2 is an essential factor for retinal gliogenesis and notch signaling. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *36*(8), 2391–2405. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3145-15.2016
- Del Debbio, C. B., Peng, X., Xiong, H., & Ahmad, I. (2013). Adult ciliary epithelial stem cells generate functional neurons and differentiate into both early and late born retinal neurons under non-cell autonomous influences. *BMC Neuroscience*, *14*, 130. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2202-14-130
- Demontis, G. C., Aruta, C., Comitato, A., de Marzo, A., & Marigo, V. (2012). Functional and molecular characterization of rod-like cells from retinal stem cells derived from the adult ciliary epithelium. *PLoS ONE*, 7(3), e33338-. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0033338

- Denayer, T., Locker, M., Borday, C., Deroo, T., Janssens, S., Hecht, A., ... Vleminckx, K. (2008). Canonical Wnt Signaling Controls Proliferation of Retinal Stem/Progenitor Cells in Postembryonic Xenopus Eyes . *Stem Cells*, 26(8), 2063–2074. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2007-0900
- Ding, S., & Schultz, P. G. (2004). A role for chemistry in stem cell biology. *Nature Biotechnology*, 22(7), 833–840. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt987
- Discher, D. E., Janmey, P., & Wang, Y. L. (2005). Tissue cells feel and respond to the stiffness of their substrate. *Science*, *310*(5751), 1139–1143. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1116995
- DiStefano, T., Chen, H. Y., Panebianco, C., Kaya, K. D., Brooks, M. J., Gieser, L., ... Swaroop, A. (2018). Accelerated and Improved Differentiation of Retinal Organoids from Pluripotent Stem Cells in Rotating-Wall Vessel Bioreactors. *Stem Cell Reports*, *10*(1), 300–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.11.001
- Djojosubroto, M. W., & Arsenijevic, Y. (2008). Retinal stem cells: Promising candidates for retina transplantation. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 331(1), 347–357. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-007-0501-8
- Djojosubroto, M. W., Bollotte, F., Wirapati, P., Radtke, F., Stamenkovic, I., & Arsenijevic, Y. (2009). Chromosomal number aberrations and transformation in adult mouse retinal stem cells in vitro. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science*, 50(12), 5975– 5987. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.08-3091
- Dorsky, R. I., Rapaport, D. H., & Harris, W. A. (1995). Xotch inhibits cell differentiation in the xenopus retina. *Neuron*, 14(3), 487–496. https://doi.org/10.1016/0896-6273(95)90305-4
- Dudley, A. T., & Robertson, E. J. (1997). Overlapping expression domains of bone morphogenetic protein family members potentially account for limited tissue defects in BMP7 deficient embryos. *Developmental Dynamics*, 208(3), 349–362. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0177(199703)208:3<349::AID-AJA6>3.0.CO;2-I
- Duester, G. (2008). Retinoic Acid Synthesis and Signaling during Early Organogenesis. *Cell*, 134(6), 921–931. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.09.002
- Dufey, V., Tacheny, A., Art, M., Schouwenberg, J., Becken, U., De Longueville, F., & Sha,
  M. (2017). Scalable expansion of human mesenchymal stem cells in stirred-tank
  bioreactors. *Cytotherapy*, *19*(5), S145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcyt.2017.02.210
- Dunwoodie, S. L. (2009). The Role of Hypoxia in Development of the Mammalian Embryo. *Developmental Cell*, *17*(6), 755–773. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2009.11.008

- Dyer, M. A., & Cepko, C. L. (2001). Regulating proliferation during retinal development. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 2(5), 333–342. https://doi.org/10.1038/35072555
- Edmondson, R., Broglie, J. J., Adcock, A. F., & Yang, L. (2014). Three-dimensional cell culture systems and their applications in drug discovery and cell-based biosensors. *Assay and Drug Development Technologies*, 12(4), 207–218. https://doi.org/10.1089/adt.2014.573
- Eibl, R., Eibl, D., Pörtner, R., Catapano, G., & Czermak, P. (2009). Cell and Tissue Reaction Engineering (1st ed.). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-68182-3
- Eibl, R., Werner, S., & Eibl, D. (2010). Bag bioreactor based on wave-induced motion: Characteristics and applications. *Advances in Biochemical Engineering/Biotechnology*, *115*, 55–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/10\_2008\_15
- Eiraku, M., Takata, N., Ishibashi, H., Kawada, M., Sakakura, E., Okuda, S., ... Sasai, Y.
  (2011). Self-organizing optic-cup morphogenesis in three-dimensional culture. *Nature*, 472(7341), 51–58. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09941
- Ekker, S. C., Ungar, A. R., Greenstein, P., von Kessler, D. P., Porter, J. A., Moon, R. T., & Beachy, P. A. (1995). Patterning activities of vertebrate hedgehog proteins in the developing eye and brain. *Current Biology*, 5(8), 944–955. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(95)00185-0
- Elliott, J., Jolicoeur, C., Ramamurthy, V., & Cayouette, M. (2008). Ikaros Confers Early Temporal Competence to Mouse Retinal Progenitor Cells. *Neuron*, 60(1), 26–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2008.08.008
- Ellis, M., Jarman-Smith, M., & Chaudhuri, J. B. (2005). Bioreactor systems for tissue engineering: A four-dimensional challenge. In *Bioreactors for Tissue Engineering: Principles, Design and Operation* (pp. 1–18). https://doi.org/10.1007/1-4020-3741-4\_1
- Engler, A. J., Sen, S., Sweeney, H. L., & Discher, D. E. (2006). Matrix Elasticity Directs Stem Cell Lineage Specification. *Cell*, 126(4), 677–689. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.06.044
- Engler, Adam J., Humbert, P. O., Wehrle-Haller, B., & Weaver, V. M. (2009). Multiscale modeling of form and function. *Science*, 324(5924), 208–212. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1170107
- Evans, M. J., & Kaufman, M. H. (1981). Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryos. *Nature*, 292(5819), 154–156. https://doi.org/10.1038/292154a0
- Ezzeddine, Z., Yang, X., DeChiara, T., Yancopoulos, G., & Cepko1, C. (1997). Postmitotic cells fated to become rod photoreceptors can be respecified by CNTF treatment of the retina. *Development*, 124(5), 1055–1067. Retrieved from

https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9056780/

- Fang, Q., Zhai, M., Wu, S., Hu, X., Hua, Z., Sun, H., ... Wang, Z. (2019). Adipocytederived stem cell-based gene therapy upon adipogenic differentiation on microcarriers attenuates type 1 diabetes in mice. *Stem Cell Research and Therapy*, *10*(1), 36-. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1135-y
- Fang, Y., Cho, K. S., Tchedre, K., Lee, S. W., Guo, C., Kinouchi, H., ... Chen, D. F. (2013). Ephrin-A3 suppresses wnt signaling to control retinal stem cell potency. *Stem Cells*, 31(2), 349–359. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1283
- Fantes, J., Ragge, N. K., Lynch, S. A., McGill, N. I., Collin, J. R. O., Howard-Peebles, P. N., ... FitzPatrick, D. R. (2003). Mutations in SOX2 cause anophthalmia. *Nature Genetics*, 33(4), 461–463. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1120
- Fausett, B. V., & Goldman, D. (2006). A role for alpha1 tubulin-expressing Müller glia in regeneration of the injured zebrafish retina. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 26(23), 6303–6313. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0332-06.2006
- Fekete, D. M., Perez-Miguelsanz, J., Ryder, E. F., & Cepko, C. L. (1994). Clonal analysis in the chicken retina reveals tangential dispersion of clonally related cells. *Developmental Biology*, 166(2), 666–682. https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.1994.1346
- Fernandes, A. M., Marinho, P. A. N., Sartore, R. C., Paulsen, B. S., Mariante, R. M., Castilho, L. R., & Rehen, S. K. (2009). Successful scale-up of human embryonic stem cell production in a stirred microcarrier culture system. *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research*, 42(6), 515–522. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0100-879X2009000600007
- Fischer, A. J. (2005). Neural regeneration in the chick retina. *Progress in Retinal and Eye Research*, 24(2), 161–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.preteyeres.2004.07.003
- Fischer, A. J., McGuire, C. R., Dierks, B. D., & Reh, T. A. (2002). Insulin and fibroblast growth factor 2 activate a neurogenic program in Müller glia of the chicken retina. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(21), 9387–9398. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.22-21-09387.2002
- Fischer, A. J., & Reh, T. A. (2000). Identification of a proliferating marginal zone of retinal progenitors in postnatal chickens. *Developmental Biology*, 220(2), 197–210. https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.2000.9640
- Fischer, A. J., & Reh, T. A. (2001). Müller glia are a potential source of neural regeneration in the postnatal chicken retina. *Nature Neuroscience*, 4(3), 247–252. https://doi.org/10.1038/85090

- Fischer, A. J., & Reh, T. A. (2003). Growth factors induce neurogenesis in the ciliary body. *Developmental Biology*, 259(2), 225–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0012-1606(03)00178-7
- Fischer, B., & Bavister, B. D. (1993). Oxygen tension in the oviduct and uterus of rhesus monkeys, hamsters and rabbits. *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility*, 99(2), 673–679. https://doi.org/10.1530/jrf.0.0990673
- Fligor, C. M., Langer, K. B., Sridhar, A., Ren, Y., Shields, P. K., Edler, M. C., ... Meyer, J.
  S. (2018a). Three-Dimensional Retinal Organoids Facilitate the Investigation of Retinal Ganglion Cell Development, Organization and Neurite Outgrowth from Human Pluripotent Stem Cells. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 14520-. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-32871-8
- Fligor, C. M., Langer, K. B., Sridhar, A., Ren, Y., Shields, P. K., Edler, M. C., ... Meyer, J.
  S. (2018b). Three-Dimensional Retinal Organoids Facilitate the Investigation of Retinal Ganglion Cell Development, Organization and Neurite Outgrowth from Human Pluripotent Stem Cells. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 14520-undefined. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-32871-8
- Forestell, S. P., Kalogerakis, N., Behie, L. A., & Gerson, D. F. (1992). Development of the optimal inoculation conditions for microcarrier cultures. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 39(3), 305–313. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.260390308
- Fossat, N., Le Greneur, C., Béby, F., Vincent, S., Godement, P., Chatelain, G., & Lamonerie, T. (2007). A new GFP-tagged line reveals unexpected Otx2 protein localization in retinal photoreceptors. *BMC Developmental Biology*, 7, 122-. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-213X-7-122
- Frauenschuh, S., Reichmann, E., Ibold, Y., Goetz, P. M., Sittinger, M., & Ringe, J. (2007). A microcarrier-based cultivation system for expansion of primary mesenchymal stem cells. *Biotechnology Progress*, 23(1), 187–193. https://doi.org/10.1021/bp060155w
- Fuchs, E., Tumbar, T., & Guasch, G. (2004). Socializing with the neighbors: Stem cells and their niche. *Cell*, *116*(6), 769–778. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00255-7
- Fuhrmann, S. (2008a). Wnt signaling in eye organogenesis. Organogenesis, 4(2), 60–67. https://doi.org/10.4161
- Fuhrmann, S. (2008b). Wnt signaling in eye organogenesis. Organogenesis, 4(2), 60–67. https://doi.org/10.4161/org.4.2.5850
- Fuhrmann, S. (2010a). Eye morphogenesis and patterning of the optic vesicle. *Current Topics in Developmental Biology*, 93, 61–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-385044-7.00003-5

- Fuhrmann, S. (2010b). Eye morphogenesis and patterning of the optic vesicle. *Current Topics in Developmental Biology*, 93, 61–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-385044-7.00003-5
- Fujimura, N., Taketo, M. M., Mori, M., Korinek, V., & Kozmik, Z. (2009). Spatial and temporal regulation of Wnt/β-catenin signaling is essential for development of the retinal pigment epithelium. *Developmental Biology*, 334(1), 31–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2009.07.002
- Furukawa, T., Kozak, C. A., & Cepko, C. L. (1997). rax, a novel paired-type homeobox gene, shows expression in the anterior neural fold and developing retina. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(7), 3088–3093. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.7.3088
- Furukawa, T., Mukherjee, S., Bao, Z., Morrow, E. M., & Cepko, C. L. (2000). rax, Hes1, and notch1 promote the formation of Muller glia by postnatal retinal progenitor cells. *Neuron*, 26(2), 383–394. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)81171-X
- Furuta, Y., & Hogan, B. L. M. (1998). BMP4 is essential for lens induction in the mouse embryo. *Genes and Development*, 12(23), 3764–3775. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.12.23.3764
- Gage, P. J., Rhoades, W., Prucka, S. K., & Hjalt, T. (2005). Fate maps of neural crest and mesoderm in the mammalian eye. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science*, 46(11), 4200–4208. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.05-0691
- García Delgado, A. B., de la Cerda, B., Alba Amador, J., Valdés Sánchez, M. L., Fernández-Muñoz, B., Relimpio López, I., ... Díaz Corrales, F. J. (2019). Subretinal Transplant of Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Retinal Pigment Epithelium on Nanostructured Fibrin-Agarose. *Tissue Engineering Part A*, 25(9–10), 799–808. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.tea.2019.0007
- Garita-HernÁndez, M., Diaz-Corrales, F., Lukovic, D., GonzÁlez-Guede, I., Diez-Lloret, A., ValdÉs-SÁnchez, M. L., ... Bhattacharya, S. S. (2013). Hypoxia Increases the Yield of Photoreceptors Differentiating from Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells and Improves the Modeling of Retinogenesis In Vitro. *Stem Cells*, *31*(5), 966–978. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1339
- Geiger, B., Spatz, J. P., & Bershadsky, A. D. (2009). Environmental sensing through focal adhesions. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 10(1), 21–33. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2593
- Geng, Z., Walsh, P. J., Truong, V., Hill, C., Ebeling, M., Kapphahn, R. J., ... Dutton, J. R. (2017). Generation of retinal pigmented epithelium from iPSCs derived from the conjunctiva of donors with and without age related macular degeneration. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0173575
- Gersdorff, N., Müller, M., Otto, S., Poschadel, R., Hübner, S., & Miosge, N. (2005).
  Basement membrane composition in the early mouse embryo day 7. *Developmental Dynamics*, 233(3), 1140–1148. https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.20425
- Giannelli, S. G., Demontis, G. C., Pertile, G., Rama, P., & Broccoli, V. (2011). Adult human Müller glia cells are a highly efficient source of rod photoreceptors. *Stem Cells*, 29(2), 344–356. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.579
- Gilbert, S. (2011). *Developmental Biology* (8th ed.). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.38.174
- Gilbertson, J. A., Sen, A., Behie, L. A., & Kallos, M. S. (2006). Scaled-up production of mammalian neural precursor cell aggregates in computer-controlled suspension bioreactors. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 94(4), 783–792. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.20900
- Godara, P., McFarland, C. D., & Nordon, R. E. (2008). Design of bioreactors for mesenchymal stem cell tissue engineering. *Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology*, 83(4), 408–420. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.1918
- Goetz, J. J., Farris, C., Chowdhury, R., & Trimarchi, J. M. (2014). Making of a retinal cell: Insights into retinal cell-fate determination. *International Review of Cell and Molecular Biology*, 308, 273–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-800097-7.00007-5
- Gomes, F. L. A. F., Zhang, G., Carbonell, F., Correa, J. A., Harris, W. A., Simons, B. D., & Cayouette, M. (2011). Reconstruction of rat retinal progenitor cell lineages in vitro reveals a surprising degree of stochasticity in cell fate decisions. *Development*, 138(2), 227–235. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.059683
- Gonzalez-Cordero, A., Kruczek, K., Naeem, A., Fernando, M., Kloc, M., Ribeiro, J., ... Ali, R. R. (2017). Recapitulation of Human Retinal Development from Human Pluripotent Stem Cells Generates Transplantable Populations of Cone Photoreceptors. *Stem Cell Reports*, 9(3), 820–837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.07.022
- Gonzalez-Cordero, A., West, E. L., Pearson, R. A., Duran, Y., Carvalho, L. S., Chu, C. J., ... Ali, R. R. (2013). Photoreceptor precursors derived from three-dimensional embryonic stem cell cultures integrate and mature within adult degenerate retina. *Nature Biotechnology*, *31*(8), 741–747. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2643

- Gonzalez-Nunez, V., Nocco, V., & Budd, A. (2010). Characterization of drCol 15a1b: A Novel Component of the Stem Cell Niche in the Zebrafish Retina. *Stem Cells*, 28(8), 1399–1411. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.461
- Goodwin, T. J., Schroeder, W. F., Wolf, D. A., & Moyer, M. P. (1993). Rotating-Wall Vessel Coculture of Small Intestine as a Prelude to Tissue Modeling: Aspects of Simulated Microgravity. *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 202(2), 181–192. https://doi.org/10.3181/00379727-202-43525
- Gordon, P. J., Yun, S., Clark, A. M., Monuki, E. S., Murtaugh, L. C., & Levine, E. M. (2013). Lhx2 balances progenitor maintenance with neurogenic output and promotes competence state progression in the developing retina. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(30), 12197–12207. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1494-13.2013
- Grainger, R. M. (1992). Embryonic lens induction: shedding light on vertebrate tissue determination. *Trends in Genetics*, 8(10), 349–355. https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-9525(92)90280-H
- Graw, J. (2010). Organogenesis in Development. In Peter Koopman (Ed.), Current Topics in Developmental Biology (Vol. 90). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0070-2153(10)90010-0
- Graw, J. (2019). Mouse models for microphthalmia, anophthalmia and cataracts. *Human Genetics*, *138*(8–9), 1007–1018. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-019-01995-w
- Greggio, C., De Franceschi, F., Figueiredo-Larsen, M., Gobaa, S., Ranga, A., Semb, H., ... Grapin-Botton, A. (2013). Artificial three-dimensional niches deconstruct pancreas development in vitro. *Development (Cambridge)*, 140(21), 4452–4462. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.096628
- Grimm, C., & Willmann, G. (2012). Hypoxia in the Eye: A Two-Sided Coin. *High Altitude Medicine & Biology*, *13*(3), 169–175. https://doi.org/10.1089/ham.2012.1031
- Gruss, P., & Walther, C. (1992). Pax in development. *Cell*, 69(5), 719–722. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(92)90281-G
- Gualdoni, S., Baron, M., Lakowski, J., Decembrini, S., Smith, A. J., Pearson, R. A., ...
  Sowden, J. C. (2010). Adult ciliary epithelial cells, previously identified as retinal stem cells with potential for retinal repair, fail to differentiate into new rod photoreceptors. *Stem Cells (Dayton, Ohio)*, 28(6), 1048–1059. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.423
- Guilak, F., Cohen, D. M., Estes, B. T., Gimble, J. M., Liedtke, W., & Chen, C. S. (2009).
  Control of Stem Cell Fate by Physical Interactions with the Extracellular Matrix. *Cell Stem Cell*, Vol. 5, pp. 17–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2009.06.016

- Guillemot, F., & Cepko, C. L. (1992). Retinal fate and ganglion cell differentiation are potentiated by acidic FGF in an in vitro assay of early retinal development. *Development*, 114, 743–754.
- Gustafsson, M. V., Zheng, X., Pereira, T., Gradin, K., Jin, S., Lundkvist, J., ... Bondesson,
  M. (2005). Hypoxia requires Notch signaling to maintain the undifferentiated cell state. *Developmental Cell*, 9(5), 617–628. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2005.09.010
- Hägglund, A.-C., Dahl, L., & Carlsson, L. (2011). Lhx2 is required for patterning and expansion of a distinct progenitor cell population committed to eye development. *PloS One*, 6(8), e23387. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0023387
- Halbleib, J. M., & Nelson, W. J. (2006). Cadherins in development: Cell adhesion, sorting, and tissue morphogenesis. *Genes and Development*, 20(23), 3199–3214. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1486806
- Hamon, A., Roger, J. E., Yang, X., & Perron, M. (2016). Müller glial cell-dependent regeneration of the neural retina: An overview across vertebrate model systems. *Developmental Dynamics*, 245(7), 727–738. https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.24375
- Harding, P., & Moosajee, M. (2019). The Molecular Basis of Human Anophthalmia and Microphthalmia. *Journal of Developmental Biology*, 7(3), 16-. https://doi.org/10.3390/jdb7030016
- Harris, W. A. (1997). Cellular diversification in the vertebrate retina. *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development*, 7(5), 651–658. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0959-437x(97)80013-5
- Harris, W. A., & Perron, M. (1998). Molecular recapitulation: The growth of the vertebrate retina. *International Journal of Developmental Biology*, 42(3), 299–304. https://doi.org/10.1387/ijdb.9654012
- Hartsock, A., & Nelson, W. J. (2008). Adherens and tight junctions: Structure, function and connections to the actin cytoskeleton. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Biomembranes*, 1778(3), 660–669. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2007.07.012
- Haynes, T., Gutierrez, C., Aycinena, J. C., Tsonis, P. A., & Del Rio-Tsonis, K. (2007). BMP signaling mediates stem/progenitor cell-induced retina regeneration. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104(51), 20380–20385. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0708202104
- He, J., Zhang, G., Almeida, A. D., Cayouette, M., Simons, B. D., & Harris, W. A. (2012).
  How Variable Clones Build an Invariant Retina. *Neuron*, 75(5), 786–798.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.06.033

- Heavner, W., Andoniadou, C., & Pevny, L. (2014). Establishment of the neurogenic boundary of the mouse retina requires cooperation of SOX2 and WNT signaling. *Neural Development*, 9, 27. https://doi.org/10.1186/1749-8104-9-27
- Heavner, W., & Pevny, L. (2012). Eye development and retinogenesis. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 4(12), a008391-. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a008391
- Henningfeld, K. A., Locker, M., & Perron, M. (2007). Functional Development and Embryology (1st ed., Vol. 1). Global Science Books.
- Henry, J. J., Carinato, M. E., Schaefer, J. J., Wolfe, A. D., Walter, B. E., Perry, K. J., & Elbl, T. N. (2002). Characterizing Gene Expression During Lens Formation in Xenopus laevis: Evaluating the Model for Embryonic Lens Induction. *Dev Dyn.*, 168–185. https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.10097
- Hewitt, C. J., Lee, K., Nienow, A. W., Thomas, R. J., Smith, M., & Thomas, C. R. (2011). Expansion of human mesenchymal stem cells on microcarriers. *Biotechnology Letters*, 33(11), 2325–2335. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10529-011-0695-4
- Hickman, J. A., Graeser, R., de Hoogt, R., Vidic, S., Brito, C., Gutekunst, M., ... Imi Predect consortium. (2014). Three-dimensional models of cancer for pharmacology and cancer cell biology: Capturing tumor complexity in vitro/ex vivo. *Biotechnology Journal*, 9(9), 1115–1128. https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.201300492
- Hill, R. E., Favor, J., Hogan, B. L. M., Ton, C. C. T., Saunders, G. F., Hanson, I. M., ... Van Heyningen, V. (1991). Mouse Small eye results from mutations in a paired-like homeobox-containing gene. *Nature*, 354(6354), 522–525. https://doi.org/10.1038/354522a0
- Hirashima, M., Kobayashi, T., Uchikawa, M., Kondoh, H., & Araki, M. (2008).
  Anteroventrally localized activity in the optic vesicle plays a crucial role in the optic development. *Developmental Biology*, *317*(2), 620–631.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2008.03.010
- Hitchcock, P. F., Myhr, K. J. L., Easter, S. S., Mangione-Smith, R., & Jones, D. D. (1992). Local regeneration in the retina of the goldfish. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 23(2), 187– 203. https://doi.org/10.1002/neu.480230209
- Hodgkinson, C. A., Moore, K. J., Nakayama, A., Steingrímsson, E., Copeland, N. G., Jenkins, N. A., & Arnheiter, H. (1993). Mutations at the mouse microphthalmia locus are associated with defects in a gene encoding a novel basic-helix-loop-helix-zipper protein. *Cell*, 74(2), 395–404. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(93)90429-t

- Hollyfield, J. G. (1968). Differential addition of cells to the retina in Rana pipiens tadpoles. *Developmental Biology*, 18(2), 163–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/0012-1606(68)90041-9
- Hollyfield, J. G. (1971). Differential growth of the neural retina inXenopus laevis larvae. *Developmental Biology*, 24(2), 264–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/0012-1606(71)90098-4
- Hollyfield, J. G., & Witkovsky, P. (1974). Pigmented retinal epithelium involvement in photoreceptor development and function. *Journal of Experimental Zoology*, 189(3), 357–377. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1401890309
- Horsford, D. J. (2004). Chx10 repression of Mitf is required for the maintenance of mammalian neuroretinal identity. *Development*, 132(1), 177–187. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.01571
- Hou, P. S., Chuang, C. Y., Kao, C. F., Chou, S. J., Stone, L., Ho, H. N., ... Kuo, H. C. (2013). LHX2 regulates the neural differentiation of human embryonic stem cells via transcriptional modulation of PAX6 and CER1. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 41(16), 7753– 7770. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkt567
- Housler, G. J., Pekor, C., Miki, T., Schmelzer, E., Zeilinger, K., & Gerlach, J. C. (2014). 3-D
  Perfusion Bioreactor Process Optimization for CD34+ Hematopoietic Stem Cell
  Culture and Differentiation towards Red Blood Cell Lineage. *J Bone Marrow Res*, 2, 1000150-. https://doi.org/10.4172/2329-8820.1000150
- Hu, J. G., Gallemore, R. P., Bok, D., Lee, A. Y., & Frambach, D. A. (1994). Localization of NaK ATPase on cultured human retinal pigment epithelium. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science*, 35(10), 3582–3588.
- Huh, D., Hamilton, G. A., & Ingber, D. E. (2011). From 3D cell culture to organs-on-chips. *Trends in Cell Biology*, 21(12), 745–754. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2011.09.005
- Huh, S., Hatini, V., Marcus, R. C., Li, S., & Lai, E. (1999). Dorsal-ventral patterning defects in the eye of BF-1-deficient mice associated with a restricted loss of shh expression. *Developmental Biology*, 211(1), 53–63. https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.1999.9303
- Hyde, D. R., & Reh, T. A. (2014). The past, present, and future of retinal regeneration. *Experimental Eye Research*, *123*, 105–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exer.2014.03.003
- Hyer, J., Mima, T., & Mikawa, T. (1998). FGF1 patterns the optic vesicle by directing the placement of the neural retina domain. *Development*, *125*(5), 869–877. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9449669

- Inoue, T., Coles, B. L. K., Dorval, K. I. M., Bremner, R. O. D., Bessho, Y., Kageyama, R., ... van der Kooy, D. (2010). Maximizing functional photoreceptor differentiation from adult human retinal stem cells. *Stem Cells*, 28(3), 489–500. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.279
- Irshad, K., Mohapatra, S. K., Srivastava, C., Garg, H., Mishra, S., Dikshit, B., ... Chosdol, K. (2015). A Combined Gene Signature of Hypoxia and Notch Pathway in Human Glioblastoma and Its Prognostic Relevance. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(3), e0118201. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0118201
- Ismadi, M., Gupta, P., Fouras, A., Verma, P., Jadhav, S., Bellare, J., & Hourigan, K. (2014). Flow Characterization of a Spinner Flask for Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell Culture Application. *PLoS ONE*, 9(10), e106493. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0106493
- Jadhav, A. P. (2006). Notch 1 inhibits photoreceptor production in the developing mammalian retina. *Development*, *133*(5), 913–923. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.02245
- Jadhav, A. P., Cho, S. H., & Cepko, C. L. (2006). Notch activity permits retinal cells to progress through multiple progenitor states and acquire a stem cell property.
   *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(50), 18998–19003. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0608155103
- James, J., Das, A. V., Bhattacharya, S., Chacko, D. M., Zhao, X., & Ahmad, I. (2003). In Vitro Generation of Early-Born Neurons from Late Retinal Progenitors. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(23), 8193–8203. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.23-23-08193.2003
- Javed, A., & Cayouette, M. (2017). Temporal Progression of Retinal Progenitor Cell Identity: Implications in Cell Replacement Therapies. *Frontiers in Neural Circuits*, 11, 105-. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncir.2017.00105
- Jayaram, H., Jones, M. F., Eastlake, K., Cottrill, P. B., Becker, S., Wiseman, J., ... Limb, G.
  A. (2014). Transplantation of Photoreceptors Derived From Human Müller Glia
  Restore Rod Function in the P23H Rat. *Stem Cells Translational Medicine*, *3*(3), 223–233. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2013-0112
- Ji, S. L., & Tang, S. B. (2019). Differentiation of retinal ganglion cells from induced pluripotent stem cells: A review. *International Journal of Ophthalmology*, 12(1), 152– 160. https://doi.org/10.18240/ijo.2019.01.22
- Jin, M., Li, S., Moghrabi, W. N., Sun, H., & Travis, G. H. (2005). Rpe65 is the retinoid isomerase in bovine retinal pigment epithelium. *Cell*, 122(3), 449–459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.06.042

- Jin, W. K., & Lemke, G. (2006). Hedgehog-regulated localization of Vax2 controls eye development. *Genes and Development*, 20(20), 2833–2847. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1462706
- Johns, P. R. (1977). Growth of the adult goldfish eye. III. Source of the new retinal cells. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 176(3), 343–357. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901760304
- Johns, P. R., & Fernald, R. D. (1981). Genesis of rods in teleost fish retina. *Nature*, 293(5828), 141–142. https://doi.org/10.1038/293141a0
- Jossen, V., van den Bos, C., Eibl, R., & Eibl, D. (2018). Manufacturing human mesenchymal stem cells at clinical scale: process and regulatory challenges. *Applied Microbiology* and Biotechnology, 102(9), 3981–3994. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-018-8912-x
- Julian, D., Ennis, K., & Korenbrot, J. I. (1998). Birth and fate of proliferative cells in the inner nuclear layer of the mature fish retina. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 394(3), 271–282. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-9861(19980511)394:3<271::AID-CNE1>3.0.CO;2-Z
- Kagiyama, Y., Gotouda, N., Sakagami, K., Yasuda, K., Mochii, M., & Araki, M. (2005). Extraocular dorsal signal affects the developmental fate of the optic vesicle and patterns the optic neuroepithelium. *Development Growth and Differentiation*, 47(8), 523–536. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-169X.2005.00828.x
- Kallos, M. S., Sen, A., & Behie, L. A. (2003). Large-scale expansion of mammalian neural stem cells: A review. *Medical and Biological Engineering and Computing*, 41(3), 271– 282. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02348431
- Kapałczyńska, M., Kolenda, T., Przybyła, W., Zajączkowska, M., Teresiak, A., Filas, V., ... Lamperska, K. (2018). 2D and 3D cell cultures – a comparison of different types of cancer cell cultures. *Archives of Medical Science*, *14*(4), 910–919. https://doi.org/10.5114/aoms.2016.63743
- Kaufman, M. H. (1992). Postcranial morphological features of homozygous tetraploid mouse embryos. J. Anat, 180(Pt3), 521–534.
- Kawaguchi, J., Mee, P. J., & Smith, A. G. (2005). Osteogenic and chondrogenic differentiation of embryonic stem cells in response to specific growth factors. *Bone*, 36(5), 758–769. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2004.07.019
- Kay, C. N., Ryals, R. C., Aslanidi, G. V., Min, S. H., & Ruan, Q. (2013). Targeting Photoreceptors via Intravitreal Delivery Using Novel, Capsid-Mutated AAV Vectors. *PLoS ONE*, 8(4), 62097. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0062097

- Kay, J. N., Link, B. A., & Baier, H. (2005). Staggered cell-intrinsic timing of ath5 expression underlies the wave of ganglion cell neurogenesis in the zebrafish retina. *Development*, 132(11), 2573–2585. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.01831
- Ke, Q., & Costa, M. (2006). Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1). *Molecular Pharmacology*, 70(5), 1469–1480. https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.106.027029
- Keefe, J. R. (1973). An analysis of urodelian retinal regeneration: I. Studies of the cellular source of retinal regeneration inNotophthalmus viridescens utilizing3H-thymidine and colchicine. *Journal of Experimental Zoology*, 184(2), 185–206. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1401840206
- Kehoe, D. E., Jing, D., Lock, L. T., & Tzanakakis, E. S. (2010). Scalable stirred-suspension bioreactor culture of human pluripotent stem cells. *Tissue Engineering - Part A*, 16(2), 405–421. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.tea.2009.0454
- Kehoe, D. E., Lock, L. T., Parikh, A., & Tzanakakis, E. S. (2008). Propagation of embryonic stem cells in stirred suspension without serum. *Biotechnology Progress*, 24(6), 1342– 1352. https://doi.org/10.1002/btpr.57
- Kennedy, B. N., Stearns, G. W., Smyth, V. A., Ramamurthy, V., van Eeden, F., Ankoudinova, I., ... Brockerhoff, S. E. (2004). Zebrafish rx3 and mab2112 are required during eye morphogenesis. *Developmental Biology*, 270(2), 336–349. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2004.02.026
- Khalili, S., Ballios, B. G., Belair-Hickey, J., Donaldson, L., Liu, J., Coles, B. L. K., ... van der Kooy, D. (2018a). Induction of rod versus cone photoreceptor-specific progenitors from retinal precursor cells. *Stem Cell Research*, *33*, 215–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2018.11.005
- Khalili, S., Ballios, B. G., Belair-Hickey, J., Donaldson, L., Liu, J., Coles, B. L. K., ... van der Kooy, D. (2018b). Induction of rod versus cone photoreceptor-specific progenitors from retinal precursor cells. *Stem Cell Research*, *33*, 215–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2018.11.005
- Kharitonov, A. E., Surdina, A. V., Lebedeva, O. S., Bogomazova, A. N., & Lagarkova, M. A. (2018). Possibilities for using pluripotent stem cells for restoring damaged eye retinal pigment epithelium. *Acta Naturae*, Vol. 10, pp. 30–39. https://doi.org/10.32607/2075-8251-2018-9-3-30-39
- Kim, K., Doi, A., Wen, B., Ng, K., Zhao, R., Cahan, P., ... Daley, G. Q. (2010). Epigenetic memory in induced pluripotent stem cells. *Nature*, 467(7313), 285–290. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09342

- King, J. A., & Miller, W. M. (2007). Bioreactor development for stem cell expansion and controlled differentiation. *Current Opinion in Chemical Biology*, 11(4), 394–398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2007.05.034
- Klassen, H. J., Ng, T. F., Kurimoto, Y., Kirov, I., Shatos, M., Coffey, P., & Young, M. J. (2004). Multipotent retinal progenitors express developmental markers, differentiate into retinal neurons, and preserve light-mediated behavior. *Investigative Ophthalmology* and Visual Science, 45(11), 4167–4173. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.04-0511
- Koike, C., Nishida, A., Ueno, S., Saito, H., Sanuki, R., Sato, S., ... Furukawa, T. (2007).
  Functional roles of Otx2 transcription factor in postnatal mouse retinal development. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 27(23), 8318–8329.
  https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.01209-07
- Kolios, G., & Moodley, Y. (2013). Introduction to Stem Cells and Regenerative Medicine. *Respiration*, 85(1), 3–10. https://doi.org/10.1159/000345615
- Kress, S., Neumann, A., Weyand, B., & Kasper, C. (2012). Stem Cell Differentiation Depending on Different Surfaces. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol, 126, 263–283. https://doi.org/10.1007/10\_2011\_108
- Kropp, C., Kempf, H., Halloin, C., Robles-Diaz, D., Franke, A., Scheper, T., ... Olmer, R. (2016). Impact of Feeding Strategies on the Scalable Expansion of Human Pluripotent Stem Cells in Single-Use Stirred Tank Bioreactors. *Stem Cells Translational Medicine*, 5(10), 1289–1301. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2015-0253
- Kropp, C., Massai, D., & Zweigerdt, R. (2017). Progress and challenges in large-scale expansion of human pluripotent stem cells. *Process Biochemistry*, 59, 244–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2016.09.032
- Kubo, F., & Nakagawa, S. (2008). Wnt signaling in retinal stem cells and regeneration. Development, Growth & Differentiation, 50(4), 245–251. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-169X.2008.01033.x
- Kubo, F., & Nakagawa, S. (2009). Hairy1 acts as a node downstream of Wnt signaling to maintain retinal stem cell-like progenitor cells in the chick ciliary marginal zone. *Development*, 136(11), 1823–1833. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.029272
- Kubo, F., Takeichi, M., & Nakagawa, S. (2003). Wnt2b controls retinal cell differentiation at the ciliary marginal zone. *Development*, 130(3), 587–598. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.00244
- Kubo, F., Takeichi, M., & Nakagawa, S. (2005). Wnt2b inhibits differentiation of retinal progenitor cells in the absence of Notch activity by downregulating the expression of proneural genes. *Development*, 132(12), 2759–2770. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.01856

- Kuroda, T., Ando, S., Takeno, Y., Kishino, A., & Kimura, T. (2019). Robust induction of retinal pigment epithelium cells from human induced pluripotent stem cells by inhibiting FGF/MAPK signaling. *Stem Cell Research*, *39*, 101514-. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2019.101514
- la Cour, M. (1985). The retinal pigment epithelium controls the potassium activity in the subretinal space. Acta Ophthalmologica, 63(173 S), 9–10. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-3768.1985.tb06827.x
- la Cour, M., & Tezel, T. (2006). The Retinal Pigment Epithelium. In Advances in Organ Biology (Vol. 10, pp. 253–272). https://doi.org/10.1016/S1569-2590(05)10009-3
- Lamb, T. D., Collin, S. P., & Pugh, E. N. (2007). Evolution of the vertebrate eye: Opsins, photoreceptors, retina and eye cup. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 8(12), 960–976. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2283
- Lamb, T. D., & Pugh, E. N. (2004). Dark adaptation and the retinoid cycle of vision. *Progress in Retinal and Eye Research*, 23(3), 307–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.preteyeres.2004.03.001
- Lamba, D. (2012). Stem Cell Therapeutics for Retinal Degenerations (Vol. 58).
- Lane, A., Philip, L. R., Ruban, L., Fynes, K., Smart, M., Carr, A., ... Coffey, P. (2014).
  Engineering Efficient Retinal Pigment Epithelium Differentiation From Human
  Pluripotent Stem Cells. *Stem Cells Translational Medicine*, *3*(11), 1295–2304.
  https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2014-0094
- Lane, B. M., & Lister, J. A. (2012). Otx but Not Mitf Transcription Factors Are Required for Zebrafish Retinal Pigment Epithelium Development. *PLoS ONE*, 7(11), e49357-. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0049357
- Laplane, L., & Solary, E. (2019). Philosophy of Biology: Towards a classification of stem cells. *ELife*, 8, e46563-.
- Lee, H. S., Bong, Y. S., Moore, K. B., Soria, K., Moody, S. A., & Daar, I. O. (2006).
  Dishevelled mediates ephrinB1 signalling in the eye field through the planar cell polarity pathway. *Nature Cell Biology*, 8(1), 55–63. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1344
- Lehmann, G. L., Benedicto, I., Philp, N. J., & Rodriguez-Boulan, E. (2014). Plasma membrane protein polarity and trafficking in RPE cells: Past, present and future. *Experimental Eye Research*, 126, 5–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exer.2014.04.021
- Lei, X., Ning, L., Cao, Y., Liu, S., Zhang, S., Qiu, Z., ... Duan, E. (2011). Nasa-approved rotary bioreactor enhances proliferation of human epidermal stem cells and supports formation of 3d epidermis-like structure. *PLoS ONE*, 6(11), e26603-. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0026603

- Leschey, K. H., Hackett, S. F., Singer, J. H., & Campochiaro, P. A. (1990). Growth factor responsiveness of human retinal pigment epithelial cells. *Investigative Ophthalmology* & *Visual Science*, 31(5), 839–846. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2186011
- Li, B., Wang, X., Wang, Y., Gou, W., Yuan, X., Peng, J., ... Lu, S. (2015). Past, present, and future of microcarrier-based tissue engineering. *Journal of Orthopaedic Translation*, 3(2), 51–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jot.2015.02.003
- Li, N., & Clevers, H. (2010). Coexistence of quiescent and active adult stem cells in mammals. *Science*, 327(5965), 542–545. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1180794
- Li, S., Harrison, D., Carbonetto, S., Fässler, R., Smyth, N., Edgar, D., & Yurchenco, P. D. (2002). Matrix assembly, regulation, and survival functions of laminin and its receptors in embryonic stem cell differentiation. *Journal of Cell Biology*, *157*(7), 1279–1290. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200203073
- Lin, Y. P., Ouchi, Y., Satoh, S., & Watanabe, S. (2009). Sox2 plays a role in the induction of amacrine and müller glial cells in mouse retinal progenitor cells. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science*, 50(1), 68–74. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.07-1619
- Liu, H., Xu, S., Wang, Y., Mazerolle, C., Thurig, S., Coles, B. L. K., ... Wallace, V. A. (2007). Ciliary margin transdifferentiation from neural retina is controlled by canonical Wnt signaling. *Developmental Biology*, *308*(1), 54–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2007.04.052
- Liu, I. S. C., Chen, J., Ploder, L., Vidgen, D., van der Kooy, D., Kalnins, V. I., & McInnes, R. R. (1994). Developmental expression of a novel murine homeobox gene (Chx10): Evidence for roles in determination of the neuroretina and inner nuclear layer. *Neuron*, *13*(2), 377–393. https://doi.org/10.1016/0896-6273(94)90354-9
- Liu, I. S., Chen, J. D., Ploder, L., Vidgen, D., van der Kooy, D., Kalnins, V. I., & McInnes, R. R. (1994). Developmental expression of a novel murine homeobox gene (Chx10): evidence for roles in determination of the neuroretina and inner nuclear layer. *Neuron*, *13*(2), 377–393. https://doi.org/10.1016/0896-6273(94)90354-9
- Liu, M. (2013). Engineering stem cell niches in bioreactors. *World Journal of Stem Cells*, 5(4), 124. https://doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v5.i4.124
- Liu, Z. J., Zhuge, Y., & Velazquez, O. C. (2009). Trafficking and differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 106(6), 984–991. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.22091

- Llonch, S., Carido, M., & Ader, M. (2018). Organoid technology for retinal repair. Developmental Biology, 433(2), 132–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2017.09.028
- Locker, M., Agathocleous, M., Amato, M. A., Parain, K., Harris, W. A., & Perron, M. (2006). Hedgehog signaling and the retina: insights into the mechanisms controlling the proliferative properties of neural precursors. *Genes Dev*, 20(21), 3036–3048. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.391106
- Locker, M., El Yakoubi, W., Mazurier, N., Dullin, J. P., & Perron, M. (2010a). A decade of mammalian retinal stem cell research. *Archives Italiennes de Biologie*, 148(2), 59–72. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20830969
- Locker, M., El Yakoubi, W., Mazurier, N., Dullin, J. P., & Perron, M. (2010b). A decade of mammalian retinal stem cell research. *Archives Italiennes de Biologie*, *148*(2), 59–72.
- Lohnes, D., Mark, M., Mendelsohn, C., Dolle, P., Dierich, A., Gorry, P., ... Chambon, P. (1994). Function of the retinoic acid receptors (RARs) during development. *Development*, 120(10), 2723–2748.
- Loosli, F., Köster, R. W., Carl, M., Krone, A., & Wittbrodt, J. (1998). Six3, a medaka homologue of the Drosophila homeobox gene sine oculis is expressed in the anterior embryonic shield and the developing eye. *Mechanisms of Development*, 74(1–2), 159– 164. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-4773(98)00055-0
- Loosli, F., Staub, W., Finger-Baier, K. C., Ober, E. A., Verkade, H., Wittbrodt, J., & Baier, H. (2003). Loss of eyes in zebrafish caused by mutation of chokh/rx3. *EMBO Reports*, 4(9), 894–899. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.embor.embor919
- Luo, F., Sun, H., Geng, T., & Qi, N. (2008). Application of Taguchi's method in the optimization of bridging efficiency between confluent and fresh microcarriers in beadto-bead transfer of Vero cells. *Biotechnology Letters*, 30(4), 645–649. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10529-007-9604-2
- Lutolf, M. P., & Hubbell, J. A. (2005). Synthetic biomaterials as instructive extracellular microenvironments for morphogenesis in tissue engineering. *Nature Biotechnology*, 23(1), 47–55. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1055
- Macdonald, R., Barth, K. A., Xu, Q., Holder, N., Mikkola, I., & Wilson, S. W. (1995). Midline signalling is required for Pax gene regulation and patterning of the eyes. *Development*, 121(10), 3267–3278.
- MacLaren, R. E., Pearson, R. A., MacNeil, A., Douglas, R. H., Salt, T. E., Akimoto, M., ... Ali, R. R. (2006). Retinal repair by transplantation of photoreceptor precursors. *Nature*, 444(7116), 203–207. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05161

- MacNeil, A., Pearson, R. A., MacLaren, R. E., Smith, A. J., Sowden, J. C., & Ali, R. R. (2007). Comparative Analysis of Progenitor Cells Isolated from the Iris, Pars Plana, and Ciliary Body of the Adult Porcine Eye. *Stem Cells*, 25(10), 2430–2438. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2007-0035
- Malicki, J. (2004). Cell fate decisions and patterning in the vertebrate retina: The importance of timing, asymmetry, polarity and waves. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 14(1), 15–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2004.01.015
- Maltepe, E., & Simon, M. C. (1998). Oxygen, genes, and development: An analysis of the role of hypoxic gene regulation during murine vascular development. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*, Vol. 76, pp. 391–401. https://doi.org/10.1007/s001090050231
- Mano, J. F., Silva, G. A., Azevedo, H. S., Malafaya, P. B., Sousa, R. A., Silva, S. S., ... Reis, R. L. (2007). Natural origin biodegradable systems in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine: Present status and some moving trends. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface*, 4(17), 999–1030. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2007.0220
- Marmorstein, A. D. (2001). The polarity of the retinal pigment epithelium. *Traffic*, 2(12), 867–872. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0854.2001.21202.x
- Marmorstein, A. D., Finnemann, S. C., Bonilha, V. L., & Rodriguez-Boulan, E. (1998a). Morphogenesis of the retinal pigment epithelium: Toward understanding retinal degenerative diseases. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 857, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1998.tb10102.x
- Marmorstein, A. D., Finnemann, S. C., Bonilha, V. L., & Rodriguez-Boulan, E. (1998b). Morphogenesis of the retinal pigment epithelium: Toward understanding retinal degenerative diseases. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 857, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1998.tb10102.x
- Marquardt, T., & Gruss, P. (2002). Generating neuronal diversity in theretina: one for nearly all. *TRENDS in Neurosciences*, 25(1), 32–38. Retrieved from http://tins.trends.com
- Martínez-Morales, J. R., Dolez, V., Rodrigo, I., Zaccarini, R., Leconte, L., Bovolenta, P., & Saule, S. (2003). OTX2 activates the molecular network underlying retina pigment epithelium differentiation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(24), 21721–21731. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M301708200
- Martínez-Morales, J. R., Rodrigo, I., & Bovolenta, P. (2004). Eye development: a view from the retina pigmented epithelium. *BioEssays : News and Reviews in Molecular, Cellular* and Developmental Biology, 26(7), 766–777. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.20064

- Martinez-Morales, J. R., Signore, M., Acampora, D., Simeone, A., & Bovolenta, P. (2001).
  Otx genes are required for tissue specification in the developing eye. *Development*, *128*(11), 2019–2030. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11493524
- Mathers, P. H., Grinberg, A., Mahon, K. A., & Jamrich, M. (1997a). The Rx homeobox gene is essential for vertebrate eye development. *Nature*, 387, 603–607. Retrieved from http://www.wormbase.org/db/misc/paper?name=WBPaper00013587
- Mathers, P. H., Grinberg, A., Mahon, K. A., & Jamrich, M. (1997b). The Rx homeobox gene is essential for vertebrate eye development. *Nature*, 387(6633), 603–607. https://doi.org/10.1038/42475
- Matsushima, D., Heavner, W., & Pevny, L. (2011). Combinatorial regulation of optic cup progenitor cell fate by SOX2 and PAX6. *Development*, 138(3), 443–454. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.055178
- Matt, N., Ghyselinck, N. B., Pellerin, I., & Dupé, V. (2008). Impairing retinoic acid signalling in the neural crest cells is sufficient to alter entire eye morphogenesis. *Developmental Biology*, 320(1), 140–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2008.04.039
- Mattar, P., & Cayouette, M. (2015). Mechanisms of temporal identity regulation in mouse retinal progenitor cells. *Neurogenesis*, 2(1), e1125409-. https://doi.org/10.1080/23262133.2015.1125409
- Maurus, D., Héligon, C., Bürger-Schwärzler, A., Brändli, A. W., & Kühl, M. (2005).
  Noncanonical Wnt-4 signaling and EAF2 are required for eye development in Xenopus laevis. *EMBO Journal*, 24(6), 1181–1191. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7600603
- Mazerik, J. N., Becker, S., & Sieving, P. A. (2018). 3-D retina organoids. *Cell Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1177/2155179018773758
- McFarlane, S., Zuber, M. E., & Holt, C. E. (1998). A role for the fibroblast growth factor receptor in cell fate decisions in the developing vertebrate retina. *Development*, 125(20), 3967–3975.
- McNeil, E., Capaldo, C. T., & Macara, I. G. (2006). Zonula occludens-1 function in the assembly of tight junctions in Madin-Darby canine kidney epithelial cells. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 17(4), 1922–1932. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E05-07-0650
- Meissner, P., Schröder, B., Herfurth, C., & Biselli, M. (1999). Development of a fixed bed bioreactor for the expansion of human hematopoietic progenitor cells. In *Cytotechnology* (Vol. 30).

- Mellough, C. B., Bauer, R., Collin, J., Dorgau, B., Zerti, D., Dolan, D. W. P., ... Lako, M. (2019). An integrated transcriptional analysis of the developing human retina. *Development*, 146(2), dev169474-. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.169474
- Merhi-Soussi, F., Angénieux, B., Canola, K., Kostic, C., Tekaya, M., Hornfeld, D., & Arsenijevic, Y. (2006). High Yield of Cells Committed to the Photoreceptor Fate from Expanded Mouse Retinal Stem Cells. *Stem Cells*, *24*(9), 2060–2070. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2005-0311
- Merten, O. W. (2015). Advances in cell culture: Anchorage dependence. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 370(1661), 20140040-. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2014.0040
- Messina, A., Casarosa, S., & Murenu, E. (2012). Stem Cells and the Retina Challenges for Regenerative Medicine. In Prof. Craig Atwood (Ed.), *Embryonic Stem Cells - Recent Advances in Pluripotent Stem Cell-Based Regenerative Medicine* (pp. 211–235). https://doi.org/10.5772/14780
- Meyers, J. R., Hu, L., Moses, A., Kaboli, K., Papandrea, A., & Raymond, P. A. (2012a). βcatenin/Wnt signaling controls progenitor fate in the developing and regenerating zebrafish retina. *Neural Development*, 7(30). https://doi.org/10.1186/1749-8104-7-30
- Meyers, J. R., Hu, L., Moses, A., Kaboli, K., Papandrea, A., & Raymond, P. A. (2012b). βcatenin/Wnt signaling controls progenitor fate in the developing and regenerating zebrafish retina. *Neural Development*, 7(30), 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/1749-8104-7-30
- Miller, J. W., Bagheri, S., & Vavvas, D. G. (2017). Advances in Age-related Macular Degeneration Understanding and Therapy. US Ophthalmic Review, 10(02), 119. https://doi.org/10.17925/usor.2017.10.02.119
- Ming, G. I., & Song, H. (2011). Adult Neurogenesis in the Mammalian Brain: Significant Answers and Significant Questions. *Neuron*, 70(4), 687–702. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.05.001
- Mitrousis, N., Hacibekiroglu, S., Ho, M. T., Sauvé, Y., Nagy, A., van der Kooy, D., & Shoichet, M. S. (2020). Hydrogel-mediated co-transplantation of retinal pigmented epithelium and photoreceptors restores vision in an animal model of advanced retinal degeneration. *Biomaterials*, 257, 120233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2020.120233
- Moe, M. C., Kolberg, R. S., Sandberg, C., Vik-Mo, E., Olstorn, H., Varghese, M., ... Nicolaissen, B. (2009). A comparison of epithelial and neural properties in progenitor cells derived from the adult human ciliary body and brain. *Experimental Eye Research*, 88(1), 30–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exer.2008.09.020

- Mohyeldin, A., Garzón-Muvdi, T., & Quiñones-Hinojosa, A. (2010). Oxygen in stem cell biology: A critical component of the stem cell niche. *Cell Stem Cell*, 7(2), 150–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2010.07.007
- Molotkov, A., Molotkova, N., & Duester, G. (2006). Retinoic acid guides eye morphogenetic movements via paracrine signaling but is unnecessary for retinal dorsoventral patterning. *Development*, 133(10), 1901–1910. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.02328
- Moore, K. A., & Lemischka, I. R. (2006). Stem cells and their niches. *Science*, *311*(5769), 1880–1885. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1110542
- Moore, K. B., Mood, K., Daar, I. O., & Moody, S. A. (2004). Morphogenetic movements underlying eye field formation require interactions between the FGF and ephrinB1 signaling pathways. *Developmental Cell*, 6(1), 55–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1534-5807(03)00395-2
- Morcillo, J., Martínez-Morales, J. R., Trousse, F., Fermin, Y., Sowden, J. C., & Bovolenta,
  P. (2006). Proper patterning of the optic fissure requires the sequential activity of
  BMP7 and SHH. *Development*, 133(16), 3179–3190. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.02493
- Morrow, E. M., Belliveau, M. J., & Cepko, C. L. (1998). Two phases of rod photoreceptor differentiation during rat retinal development. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 18(10), 3738–3748. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9570804
- Moshiri, A., & Reh, T. A. (2004). Persistent Progenitors at the Retinal Margin of ptc+/-Mice. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(1), 229–237. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2980-03.2004
- Müller, F., Rohrer, H., & Vogel-Höpker, A. (2007). Bone morphogenetic proteins specify the retinal pigment epithelium in the chick embryo. *Development*, 134(19), 3483–3493. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.02884
- Muranishi, Y., Terada, K., Inoue, T., Katoh, K., Tsujii, T., Sanuki, R., ... Furukawa, T. (2011). An essential role for RAX homeoprotein and NOTCH-HES signaling in Otx2 expression in embryonic retinal photoreceptor cell fate determination. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(46), 16792–16807. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3109-11.2011
- Nandrot, E. F., Anand, M., Sircar, M., & Finnemann, S. C. (2006). Novel role for αvβ5integrin in retinal adhesion and its diurnal peak. *American Journal of Physiology - Cell Physiology*, 290(4), 1256–1262. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00480.2005

- Nashun, B., Hill, P. W., & Hajkova, P. (2015). Reprogramming of cell fate: epigenetic memory and the erasure of memories past. *The EMBO Journal*, 34(10), 1296–1308. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.201490649
- Nava, M. M., Raimondi, M. T., & Pietrabissa, R. (2012). Controlling self-renewal and differentiation of stem cells via mechanical cues. *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology*, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/797410
- Neumann, C. J., & Nuesslein-Volhard, C. (2000). Patterning of the zebrafish retina by a wave of sonic Hedgehog activity. *Science*, 289(5487), 2137–2139. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.289.5487.2137
- Ng, Y. C., Berry, J. M., & Butler, M. (1996). Optimization of physical parameters for cell attachment and growth on macroporous microcarriers. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 50(6), 627–635. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0290(19960620)50:6<627::AID-BIT3>3.0.CO;2-M
- Nguyen, M., & Arnheiter, H. (2000). Signaling and transcriptional regulation in early mammalian eye development: a link between FGF and MITF. *Development*, 127(16), 3581–3591. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10903182
- Nie, Y., Bergendahl, V., Hei, D. J., Jones, J. M., & Palecek, S. P. (2009). Scalable culture and cryopreservation of human embryonic stem cells on microcarriers. *Biotechnology Progress*, 25(1), 20–31. https://doi.org/10.1002/btpr.110
- Nilsson, K., Buzsaky, F., & Mosbach, K. (1986). Growth of anchorage-dependent ceils on macroporous microcarriers. *Bio/Technology*, 4(11), 989–990. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1186-989
- Nishida, A., Furukawa, A., Koike, C., Tano, Y., Aizawa, S., Matsuo, I., & Furukawa, T. (2003). Otx2 homeobox gene controls retinal photoreceptor cell fate and pineal gland development. *Nature Neuroscience*, 6(12), 1255–1263. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1155
- Noguchi, H., Miyagi-Shiohira, C., & Nakashima, Y. (2018). Induced tissue-specific stem cells and epigenetic memory in induced pluripotent stem cells. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 19(4), 930-. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19040930
- Nornes, H. O., Dressler, G. R., Knapik, E. W., Deutsch, U., & Gruss, P. (1990). Spatially and temporally restricted expression of Pax2 during murine neurogenesis. *Development*, *109*(4), 797–809.
- Nose, a, & Takeichi, M. (1986). A Novel Cadherin Cell Adhesion Molecule : *Journal of Cell Biology*, *103*(6), 2649–2658.

- Nuno, G., Fonte, B., Alexandra, C., Lobato Da Silva, M., & Rafiq, A. (2014). The effect of key process parameters on human mesenchymal stem cell expansion and harvest. University of Lisbon.
- Obana, A. (2010). Macular pigment and age-related macular degeneration. *Japanese Journal* of Clinical Ophthalmology, 64(4), 409–415.
- Ogata, N., Wang, L., Jo, N., Tombran-Tink, J., Takahashi, K., Mrazek, D., & Matsumura, M. (2001). Pigment epithelium derived factor as a neuroprotective agent against ischemic retinal injury. *Current Eye Research*, 22(4), 245–252. https://doi.org/10.1076/ceyr.22.4.245.5506
- Ohkubo, Y., Chiang, C., & Rubenstein, J. L. R. (2002). Coordinate regulation and synergistic actions of BMP4, SHH and FGF8 in the rostral prosencephalon regulate morphogenesis of the telencephalic and optic vesicles. *Neuroscience*, 111(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(01)00616-9
- Ohlemacher, S. K., Langer, K. B., Fligor, C. M., Feder, E. M., Edler, M. C., & Meyer, J. S. (2019). Advances in the Differentiation of Retinal Ganglion Cells from Human Pluripotent Stem Cells. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, *1186*, 121– 140. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-28471-8\_5
- Ohlson, S., Branscomb, J., & Nilsson, K. (1994). Bead-to-bead transfer of chinese hamster ovary cells using macroporous microcarriers. *Cytotechnology*, 14(1), 67–80. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00772197
- Ohnuma, S. I., Philpott, A., Wang, K., Holt, C. E., & Harris, W. A. (1999). p27Xic1, a Cdk inhibitor, promotes the determination of glial cells in Xenopus retina. *Cell*, 99(5), 499– 510. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81538-X
- Okada, T., Ernst, O. P., Palczewski, K., & Hofmann, K. P. (2001). Activation of rhodopsin: new insights from structural and biochemical studies. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 26(5), 318–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0968-0004(01)01799-6
- Ooto, S., Akagi, T., Kageyama, R., Akita, J., Mandai, M., Honda, Y., & Takahashi, M. (2004). Potential for neural regeneration after neurotoxic injury in the adult mammalian retina. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(37), 13654–13659. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0402129101
- Osakada, F., Ooto, S., Akagi, T., Mandai, M., Akaike, A., & Takahashi, M. (2007). Wnt signaling promotes regeneration in the retina of adult mammals. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27(15), 4210–4219. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4193-06.2007

- Osiecki, M. J., Michl, T. D., Kul Babur, B., Kabiri, M., Atkinson, K., Lott, W. B., ... Doran, M. R. (2015). Packed Bed Bioreactor for the Isolation and Expansion of Placental-Derived Mesenchymal Stromal Cells. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(12), e0144941. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0144941
- Otteson, D. C., D'Costa, A. R., & Hitchcock, P. F. (2001). Putative stem cells and the lineage of rod photoreceptors in the mature retina of the goldfish. *Developmental Biology*, 232(1), 62–76. https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.2001.0163
- Otteson, D. C., & Hitchcock, P. F. (2003). Stem cells in the teleost retina: persistent neurogenesis and injury-induced regeneration. *Vision Research*, *43*(8), 927–936. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0042-6989(02)00400-5
- Ovando-Roche, P., West, E. L., Branch, M. J., Sampson, R. D., Fernando, M., Munro, P., ... Ali, R. R. (2018). Use of bioreactors for culturing human retinal organoids improves photoreceptor yields. *Stem Cell Research and Therapy*, 9(1), 156. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-018-0907-0
- Page-McCaw, A., Ewald, A. J., & Werb, Z. (2007). Matrix metalloproteinases and the regulation of tissue remodelling. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 8(3), 221– 233. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2125
- Panchalingam, K. M., Jung, S., Rosenberg, L., & Behie, L. A. (2015). Bioprocessing strategies for the large-scale production of human mesenchymal stem cells: A review Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cells - An update. *Stem Cell Research and Therapy*, 6(1), 225-. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-015-0228-5
- Panchision, D. M. (2009). He role of oxygen in regulating neural stem cells in development and disease. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 220(3), 565–568. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.21812
- Park, C. M., & Hollenberg, M. J. (1989). Basic fibroblast growth factor induces retinal regeneration in vivo. *Developmental Biology*, 134(1), 201–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/0012-1606(89)90089-4
- Patel, A., & McFarlane, S. (2000). Overexpression of FGF-2 alters cell fate specification in the developing retina of Xenopus laevis. *Developmental Biology*, 222(1), 170–180. https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.2000.9695
- Pellegrini, G., De Luca, M., & Arsenijevic, Y. (2007, December). Towards therapeutic application of ocular stem cells. *Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology*, Vol. 18, pp. 805–818. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2007.09.011

- Perron, M., Boy, S., Amato, M. A., Viczian, A., Koebernick, K., Pieler, T., & Harris, W. A. (2003). A novel function for Hedgehog signalling in retinal pigment epithelium differentiation. *Development*, 130(8), 1565–1577. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.00391
- Perron, M., & Harris, W. A. (2000). Retinal stem cells in vertebrates. *BioEssays*, 22(8), 685–688. https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-1878(200008)22:8<685::AID-BIES1>3.0.CO;2-C
- Perron, M., Kanekar, S., Vetter, M. L., & Harris, W. A. (1998). The genetic sequence of retinal development in the ciliary margin of the Xenopus eye. *Developmental Biology*, *199*(2), 185–200. https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.1998.8939
- Pevny, L., & Placzek, M. (2005). SOX genes and neural progenitor identity. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 15(1), 7–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2005.01.016
- Phillips, B. W., Horne, R., Lay, T. S., Rust, W. L., Teck, T. T., & Crook, J. M. (2008). Attachment and growth of human embryonic stem cells on microcarriers. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 138(1–2), 24–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2008.07.1997
- Pittack, C., Grunwald, G. B., & Reh, T. A. (1997). Fibroblast growth factors are necessary for neural retina but not pigmented epithelium differentiation in chick embryos. *Development*, 124(4), 805–816.
- Placzek, M. R., Chung, I. M., Macedo, H. M., Ismail, S., Blanco, T. M., Lim, M., ... Mantalaris, A. (2009). Stem cell bioprocessing: Fundamentals and principles. *Journal* of the Royal Society Interface, 6(32), 209–232. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2008.0442
- Plunkett, N., & O'Brien, F. J. (2011). Bioreactors in tissue engineering. *Technology and Health Care*, 19(1), 55–69. https://doi.org/10.3233/THC-2011-0605
- Porter, F. D., Drago, J., Xu, Y., Cheema, S. S., Wassif, C., Huang, S. P., ... Westphal, H. (1997). Lhx2, a LIM homeobox gene, is required for eye, forebrain, and definitive erythrocyte development. *Development*, 124, 2935–2944.
- Prada, C., Puga, J., Pérez-Méndez, L., López, R., & Ramírez, G. (1991). Spatial and Temporal Patterns of Neurogenesis in the Chick Retina. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 3(6), 559–569. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.1991.tb00843.x
- Quinn, P. M., Buck, T. M., Ohonin, C., Mikkers, H. M. M., & Wijnholds, J. (2018).
  Production of iPS-Derived Human Retinal Organoids for Use in Transgene Expression
  Assays. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, *1715*, 261–273. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-14939-7522-8 19
- Rafiq, Q. A., Coopman, K., Nienow, A. W., & Hewitt, C. J. (2016). Systematic microcarrier screening and agitated culture conditions improves human mesenchymal stem cell yield in bioreactors. *Biotechnology Journal*, 11(4), 473–486. https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.201400862

- Ragge, N. K., Lorenz, B., Schneider, A., Bushby, K., De Sanctis, L., De Sanctis, U., ... FitzPatrick, D. R. (2005). SOX2 anophthalmia syndrome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics*, 135 A(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.30642
- Rahner, C., Fukuhara, M., Peng, S., Kojima, S., & Rizzolo, L. J. (2004). The apical and basal environments of the retinal pigment epithelium regulate the maturation of tight junctions during development. *Journal of Cell Science*, *117*(15), 3307–3318. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.01181
- Ramlogan, A. S. (2010). Stem Cell Expansion and Bioreactor Development. University of London.
- Ramsden, C. M., Powner, M. B., Carr, A.-J. F., Smart, M. J. K., da Cruz, L., & Coffey, P. J. (2013). Stem cells in retinal regeneration: past, present and future. *Development*, 140(12), 2576–2585. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.092270
- Regent, F., Morizur, L., Lesueur, L., Habeler, W., Plancheron, A., Ben M'Barek, K., & Monville, C. (2019). Automation of human pluripotent stem cell differentiation toward retinal pigment epithelial cells for large-scale productions. *Scientific Reports*, 9, 10646-. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-47123-6
- Reh, T. A., & Levine, E. M. (1998). Multipotential stem cells and progenitors in the vertebrate retina. *Journal of Neurobiology*, *36*(2), 206–220. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-4695(199808)36:2<206::AID-NEU8>3.0.CO;2-5
- Reh, T. A., & Nagy, T. (1987). A possible role for the vascular membrane in retinal regeneration in Rana catesbienna tadpoles. *Developmental Biology*, 122(2), 471–482. https://doi.org/10.1016/0012-1606(87)90311-3
- Reichardt, A., Polchow, B., Shakibaei, M., Henrich, W., Hetzer, R., & Lueders, C. (2013).
  Large Scale Expansion of Human Umbilical Cord Cells in a Rotating Bed System
  Bioreactor for Cardiovascular Tissue Engineering Applications. *The Open Biomedical Engineering Journal*, 7(1), 50–61. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874120701307010050
- Rizzolo, L. J. (1997). Polarity and the development of the outer blood-retinal barrier. *Histology and Histopathology*, *12*(4), 1057–1067.
- Rizzolo, L. J. (2007). Development and Role of Tight Junctions in the Retinal Pigment Epithelium. *International Review of Cytology*, 258, 195–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0074-7696(07)58004-6
- Rizzolo, L. J., Peng, S., Luo, Y., & Xiao, W. (2011). Integration of tight junctions and claudins with the barrier functions of the retinal pigment epithelium. *Progress in Retinal and Eye Research*, 30(5), 196–323.

- Rodrigues, C. A. V., Fernandes, T. G., Diogo, M. M., Lobato Da Silva, C., & Cabral, J. M. S. (2011). Stem cell cultivation in bioreactors. *Biotechnology Advances*, 29, 815–829. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2011.06.009
- Roesch, K., Jadhav, A. P., Trimarchi, J. M., Stadler, M. B., Roska, B., Sun, B. B., & Cepko,
  C. L. (2008). The transcriptome of retinal Müller glial cells. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 509(2), 225–238. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.21730
- Rompani, S. B., & Cepko, C. L. (2008). Retinal progenitor cells can produce restricted subsets of horizontal cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(1), 192–197. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0709979104
- Rourou, S., van der Ark, A., van der Velden, T., & Kallel, H. (2007). A microcarrier cell culture process for propagating rabies virus in Vero cells grown in a stirred bioreactor under fully animal component free conditions. *Vaccine*, 25(19), 3879–3889. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.01.086
- Rowan, S., Chen, C. M., Young, T. L., Fisher, D. E., & Cepko, C. L. (2004).
  Transdifferentiation of the retina into pigmented cells in ocular retardation mice defines a new function of the homeodomain gene Chx10. *Development*, *131*(20), 5139–5152.
  https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.01300
- Roy, A., de Melo, J., Chaturvedi, D., Thein, T., Cabrera-Socorro, A., Houart, C., ... Tole, S. (2013). LHX2 is necessary for the maintenance of optic identity and for the progression of optic morphogenesis. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *33*(16), 6877–6884. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4216-12.2013
- Safinia, L., Panoskaltsis, N., & Mantalaris, A. (2005). Haematopoietic culture systems. In Bioreactors for Tissue Engineering: Principles, Design and Operation (pp. 309–334). https://doi.org/10.1007/1-4020-3741-4\_14
- Saito, K., Kawaguchi, A., Kashiwagi, S., Yasugi, S., Ogawa, M., & Miyata, T. (2003). Morphological asymmetry in dividing retinal progenitor cells. *Development Growth* and Differentiation, 45(3), 219–229. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1524-4725.2003.690.x
- Santos, F. D., Andrade, P. Z., Abecasis, M. M., Gimble, J. M., Chase, L. G., Campbell, A. M., ... Cabral, J. M. S. (2011). Toward a clinical-grade expansion of mesenchymal stem cells from human sources: A microcarrier-based culture system under xeno-free conditions. *Tissue Engineering Part C: Methods*, 17(12), 1201–1210. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.tec.2011.0255
- Sato, S., Inoue, T., Terada, K., Matsuo, I., Aizawa, S., Tano, Y., ... Furukawa, T. (2007). Dkk3-Cre BAC transgenic mouse line: a tool for highly efficient gene deletion in retinal progenitor cells. *Genesis*, 45(8), 502–507. https://doi.org/10.1002/dvg.20318

- Satou, Y., Minami, K., Hosono, E., Okada, H., Yasuoka, Y., Shibano, T., ... Taira, M. (2018). Phosphorylation states change Otx2 activity for cell proliferation and patterning in the Xenopus embryo. *Development*, 145, dev159640-. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.159640
- Scheer, N., Groth, A., Hans, S., & Campos-Ortega, J. A. (2001). An instructive function for Notch in promoting gliogenesis in the zebrafish. *Development*, 128(7), 1099–1107.
- Schick, E., McCaffery, S. D., Keblish, E. E., Thakurdin, C., & Emerson, M. M. (2019). Lineage tracing analysis of cone photoreceptor associated cis-regulatory elements in the developing chicken retina. *Scientific Reports*, 9, 9358-. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-45750-7
- Schlaeppi, J. M., Henke, M., Mahnke, M., Hartmann, S., Schmitz, R., Pouliquen, Y., ... Kocher, H. P. (2006). A semi-automated large-scale process for the production of recombinant tagged proteins in the Baculovirus expression system. *Protein Expression* and Purification, 50(2), 185–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pep.2006.06.021
- Schmitt, S., Aftab, U., Jiang, C., Redenti, S., Klassen, H., Miljan, E., ... Young, M. (2009).
  Molecular characterization of human retinal progenitor cells. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science*, 50, 5901–5908. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.08-3067
- Schofield R. (1978). The relationship between the spleen colony-forming cell and the haemopoietic stem cell. *Blood Cells*, 4(1–2), 7–25. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/?term=Schofield+R+The+relationship+between+the+spleen+colony-

 $forming+cell+and+the+haemopoietic+stem+cell.+Blood+Cells+1978\%\,3B4\%\,3A7-25$ 

- Schönfeld, C. L. (2000). Inhibition of proliferation of retinal pigment epithelium in vitro: vitamin A pharmacodynamics. *Ophthalmologe.*, 97(1), 5–11.
- Schop, D., an Dijkhuizen-Radersma, R., Borgart, E., Janssen, F. W., Rozemuller, H., Prins, H. J., & de Bruijn, J. D. (2010). Growth and metabolism of mesenchymal stem cells cultivated on microcarriers (University of Twente; Vol. 4). https://doi.org/10.3990/1.9789036530187
- Schop, D., Janssen, F. W., Borgart, E., De Bruijn, J. D., & Van Dijkhuizen-Radersma, R. (2010a). Expansion of mesenchymal stem cells using a microcarrier-based cultivation system: Growth and metabolism. *J Tissue Eng Regen Med*, 4(2), 131–140. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.73

- Schop, D., Janssen, F. W., Borgart, E., De Bruijn, J. D., & Van Dijkhuizen-Radersma, R. (2010b). Expansion of mesenchymal stem cells using a microcarrier-based cultivation system: Growth and metabolism. *J Tissue Eng Regen Med*, 4(2), 131–140. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.73
- Schop, D., Janssen, F. W., Van Rijn, L. D. S., Fernandes, H., Bloem, R. M., De Bruijn, J. D., & Van Dijkhuizen-Radersma, R. (2009). Growth, metabolism, and growth inhibitors of mesenchymal stem cells. *Tissue Engineering Part A*, 15(8), 1877–1886. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.tea.2008.0345
- Schroeder, M., Niebruegge, S., Werner, A., Willbold, E., Burg, M., Ruediger, M., ... Zweigerdt, R. (2005). Differentiation and lineage selection of mouse embryonic stem cells in a stirred bench scale bioreactor with automated process control. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 92(7), 920–933. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.20668
- Schwartz, S. D., Hubschman, J. P., Heilwell, G., Franco-Cardenas, V., Pan, C. K., Ostrick, R. M., ... Lanza, R. (2012). Embryonic stem cell trials for macular degeneration: A preliminary report. *The Lancet*, 379(9817), 713–720. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60028-2
- Schwartz, S. D., Tan, G., Hosseini, H., & Nagiel, A. (2016). Subretinal transplantation of embryonic stem cell–derived retinal pigment epithelium for the treatment of macular degeneration: An assessment at 4 years. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science*, 57(5), ORSFc1–ORSFc9. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.15-18681
- Schwarz, M., Cecconi, F., Bernier, G., Andrejewski, N., Kammandel, B., Wagner, M., & Gruss, P. (2000). Spatial specification of mammalian eye territories by reciprocal transcriptional repression of Pax2 and Pax6. *Development*, *127*(20), 4325–4334.
- Sen, A., Kallos, M. S., & Behie, L. A. (2001). Effects of hydrodynamics on cultures of mammalian neural stem cell aggregates in suspension bioreactors. *Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research*, 40(23), 5350–5357. https://doi.org/10.1021/ie001107y
- Sen, A., Kallos, M. S., & Behie, L. A. (2002). Passaging protocols for mammalian neural stem cells in suspension bioreactors. *Biotechnology Progress*, 18(2), 337–345. https://doi.org/10.1021/bp010150t
- Sevel, D. (1981). A Reappraisal of the Origin of Human Extraocular Muscles. *Ophthalmology*, 88(12), 1330–1338. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0161-6420(81)34856-8
- Shah, K. (2016). Stem cell-based therapies for tumors in the brain: Are we there yet? *Neuro-Oncology*, 18(8), 1066–1078. https://doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/now096

- Shin, K., & Margolis, B. (2006). ZOning out Tight Junctions. *Cell*, *126*(4), 647–649. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.08.005
- Silva, A. O., Ercole, C. E., & McLoon, S. C. (2003). Regulation of ganglion cell production by notch signaling during retinal development. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 54(3), 511– 524. https://doi.org/10.1002/neu.10156
- Simaõ, D., Arez, F., Terasso, A. P., Pinto, C., Sousa, M. F. Q., Brito, C., & Alves, P. M. (2016). Perfusion stirred-tank bioreactors for 3D differentiation of human neural stem cells. In *Methods in Molecular Biology* (Vol. 1502, pp. 129–142). https://doi.org/10.1007/7651\_2016\_333
- Sinn, R., & Wittbrodt, J. (2013). An eye on eye development. *Mechanisms of Development*, 130(6–8), 347–358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mod.2013.05.001
- Slembrouck-Brec, A., Rodrigues, A., Rabesandratana, O., Gagliardi, G., Nanteau, C., Fouquet, S., ... Goureau, O. (2019). Reprogramming of adult retinal müller glial cells into human-induced pluripotent stem cells as an efficient source of retinal cells. *Stem Cells International*, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/7858796
- Sowden, J. C. (2014). ESC-derived retinal pigmented epithelial cell transplants in patients: So far, so good. *Cell Stem Cell*, *15*(5), 537–538. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2014.10.008
- Sparrrow, J. R., Hicks, D., & Hamel, C. P. (2010). The Retinal Pigment Epithelium in Health and Disease. *Current Molecular Medicine*, 10(9), 802–823. https://doi.org/10.2174/156652410793937813
- Spraul, C. W., Kaven, C., Lang, G. K., & Lang, G. E. (2004). Effect of growth factors on bovine retinal pigment epithelial cell migration and proliferation. *Ophthalmic Research*, 36(3), 166–171. https://doi.org/10.1159/000077330
- Steinberg, R. H. (1985). Interactions between the retinal pigment epithelium and the neural retina. *Documenta Ophthalmologica*, 60(4), 327–346. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00158922
- Steinfeld, J., Steinfeld, I., Bausch, A., Coronato, N., Hampel, M. L., Depner, H., ... Vogel-Höpker, A. (2017). BMP-induced reprogramming of the neural retina into retinal pigment epithelium requires Wnt signalling. *Biology Open*, 6(7), 979–992. https://doi.org/10.1242/bio.018739
- Stenkamp, D. L. (2007). Neurogenesis in the Fish Retina. International Review of Cytology, 259, 224–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0074-7696(06)59005-9

- Storm, M. P., Orchard, C. B., Bone, H. K., Chaudhuri, J. B., & Welham, M. J. (2010). Three-dimensional culture systems for the expansion of pluripotent embryonic stem cells. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 107(4), 683–695. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.22850
- Strauss, O. (2005). The retinal pigment epithelium in visual function. *Physiological Reviews*, 85(3), 845–881. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00021.2004
- Strauss, O. (2009). The role of retinal pigment epithelium in visual functions. *Ophthalmologe*, *106*(4), 299–304. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00347-008-1869-x
- Strauss, O. (2011). The Retinal Pigment Epithelium (H. Kolb, E. Fernandez, & R. Nelson, Eds.). Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK11530/
- Straznicky, K., & Gaze, R. M. (1971). The growth of the retina in Xenopus laevis: an autoradiographic study. *Embryol. Exp. Morph*, 26, 67–79.
- Streit, A. (2007). The preplacodal region: An ectodermal domain with multipotential progenitors that contribute to sense organs and cranial sensory ganglia. *International Journal of Developmental Biology*, 51(6–7), 447–461. https://doi.org/10.1387/ijdb.072327as
- Takahashi, K., Tanabe, K., Ohnuki, M., Narita, M., Ichisaka, T., Tomoda, K., & Yamanaka, S. (2007). Induction of Pluripotent Stem Cells from Adult Human Fibroblasts by Defined Factors. *Cell*, 131(5), 861–872. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.11.019
- Takahashi, K., & Yamanaka, S. (2006). Induction of Pluripotent Stem Cells from Mouse Embryonic and Adult Fibroblast Cultures by Defined Factors. *Cell*, 126(4), 663–676. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.024
- Takebe, T., & Wells, J. M. (2019). Organoids by design. *Science*, *364*(6444), 956–959. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaw7567
- Tanaka, T., Yokoi, T., Tamalu, F., Watanabe, S. I., Nishina, S., & Azuma, N. (2015). Generation of retinal ganglion cells with functional axons from human induced pluripotent stem cells. *Scientific Reports*, 5. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep08344
- Taranova, O. V., Magness, S. T., Fagan, B. M., Wu, Y., Surzenko, N., Hutton, S. R., & Pevny, L. H. (2006). SOX2 is a dose-dependent regulator of retinal neural progenitor competence. *Genes and Development*, 20(9), 1187–1202. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1407906
- Tétreault, N., Champagne, M. P., & Bernier, G. (2009). The LIM homeobox transcription factor Lhx2 is required to specify the retina field and synergistically cooperates with Pax6 for Six6 trans-activation. *Developmental Biology*, 327(2), 541–550. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2008.12.022

- Thomson, J. A. (1998). Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. *Science*, 282(5391), 1145–1147. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.282.5391.1145
- Travis, G. H., Golczak, M., Moise, A. R., & Palczewski, K. (2007). Diseases Caused by Defects in the Visual Cycle: Retinoids as Potential Therapeutic Agents. *Annual Review* of Pharmacology and Toxicology, 47(1), 469–512. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.47.120505.105225
- Trimarchi, J. M., Stadler, M. B., & Cepko, C. L. (2008). Individual retinal progenitor cells display extensive heterogeneity of gene expression. *PLoS ONE*. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0001588
- Tropepe, V., Coles, B. L. K., Chiasson, B. J., Horsford, D. J., Elia, A. J., McInnes, R. R., & van der Kooy, D. (2000). Retinal stem cells in the adult mammalian eye. *Science*, 287(5460), 2032–2036. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.287.5460.2032
- Tucker, P., Laemle, L., Munson, A., Kanekar, S., Oliver, E. R., Brown, N., ... Glaser, T. (2001). The eyeless mouse mutation (ey1Tucker, P., Laemle, L., Munson, A., Kanekar, S., Oliver, E.R., Brown, N., Schlecht, H., Vetter, M., Glaser, T., 2001. The eyeless mouse mutation (ey1) removes an alternative start codon from the Rx/rax homeobox gene. Genesis. *Genesis*, *31*(1), 43–53. https://doi.org/10.1002/gene.10003
- Turner, D. L., & Cepko, C. L. (1988). A common progenitor for neurons and glia persists in rat retina late in development. *Nature*, 328(6126), 131–136. https://doi.org/10.1038/328131a0
- Ulloa-Montoya, F., Verfaillie, C. M., & Hu, W. S. (2005). Culture systems for pluripotent stem cells. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, 100(1), 12–27. https://doi.org/10.1263/jbb.100.12
- Unger, D. R., Muzzio, F. J., Aunins, J. G., & Singhvi, R. (2000). Computational and experimental investigation of flow and fluid mixing in the roller bottle bioreactor. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 70(2), 117–130. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0290(20001020)70:2<117::aid-bit1>3.0.co;2-8
- Uygun, B. E., Sharma, N., & Yarmush, M. (2009). Retinal pigment epithelium differentiation of stem cells: current status and challenges. *Critical Reviews in Biomedical Engineering*, 37(4–5), 355–375.
  https://doi.org/10.1615/critrevbiomedeng.v37.i4-5.30
- Van Raay, T. J., Moore, K. B., Iordanova, I., Steele, M., Jamrich, M., Harris, W. A., & Vetter, M. L. (2005). Frizzled 5 signaling governs the neural potential of progenitors in the developing Xenopus retina. *Neuron*, 46(1), 23–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2005.02.023

- Van Wezel, A. L. (1967). Growth of cell-strains and primary cells on micro-carriers in homogeneous culture. *Nature*, 216(5110), 64–65. https://doi.org/10.1038/216064a0
- Venters, S. J., Mikawa, T., & Hyer, J. (2015). Early divergence of central and peripheral neural retina precursors during vertebrate eye development. *Developmental Dynamics*, Vol. 244, pp. 266–276. https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.24218
- Völkner, M., Kurth, T., & Karl, M. O. (2019). The Mouse Retinal Organoid Trisection Recipe: Efficient Generation of 3D Retinal Tissue from Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 1834, 119–141. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-8669-9\_9
- Völkner, Manuela, Zschätzsch, M., Rostovskaya, M., Overall, R. W., Busskamp, V., Anastassiadis, K., & Karl, M. O. (2016). Retinal Organoids from Pluripotent Stem Cells Efficiently Recapitulate Retinogenesis. *Stem Cell Reports*, 6(4), 525–538. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2016.03.001
- Voronina, V. A., Kozhemyakina, E. A., O'Kernick, C. M., Kahn, N. D., Wenger, S. L., Linberg, J. V., ... Mathers, P. H. (2004). Mutations in the human RAX homeobox gene in a patient with anophthalmia and sclerocornea. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 13(3), 315–322. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddh025
- Walker, M., Patel, K., & Stappenbeck, T. (2009). The stem cell niche. *The Journal of Pathology*, 217(2), 169–180. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.2474
- Wan, J., Zheng, H., Xiao, H. L., She, Z. J., & Zhou, G. M. (2007). Sonic hedgehog promotes stem-cell potential of Müller glia in the mammalian retina. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 363(2), 347–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2007.08.178
- Wang, N., Tytell, J. D., & Ingber, D. E. (2009). Mechanotransduction at a distance: Mechanically coupling the extracellular matrix with the nucleus. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 10(1), 75–82. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2594
- Wang, Y., Dakubo, G. D., Thurig, S., Mazerolle, C. J., & Wallace, V. A. (2005). Retinal ganglion cell-derived sonic hedgehog locally controls proliferation and the timing of RGC development in the embryonic mouse retina. *Development*, 132(22), 5103–5113. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.02096
- Warre-Cornish, K., Barber, A. C., Sowden, J. C., Ali, R. R., & Pearson, R. A. (2014). Migration, Integration and Maturation of Photoreceptor Precursors Following Transplantation in the Mouse Retina. *Stem Cells and Development*, 23(9), 941–954. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2013.0471

- Watanabe, T., & Raff, M. C. (1992). Diffusible rod-promoting signals in the developing rat retina. *Development*, 114(4), 899–906.
- Weber, C., Freimark, D., Pörtner, R., Pino-Grace, P., Pohl, S., Wallrapp, C., ... Czermak, P. (2010). Expansion of human mesenchymal stem cells in a fixed-bed bioreactor system based on non-porous glass carrier--part A: inoculation, cultivation, and cell harvest procedures. *The International Journal of Artificial Organs*, 33(8), 512–525. https://doi.org/10.1177/039139881003300802
- Weinberg, R. A. (1995). The retinoblastoma protein and cell cycle control. *Cell*, *81*(3), 323–330. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(95)90385-2
- West, E. L., Pearson, R. A., MacLaren, R. E., Sowden, J. C., & Ali, R. R. (2009). Cell transplantation strategies for retinal repair. *Progress in Brain Research*, 175, 3–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(09)17501-5
- Westenskow, P., McKean, J. B., Kubo, F., Nakagawa, S., & Fuhrmann, S. (2010). Ectopic mitf in the embryonic chick retina by co-transfection of β-catenin and Otx2. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science*, *51*(10), 5328–5335.
  https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.09-5015
- Westenskow, P., Piccolo, S., & Fuhrmann, S. (2009). β-catenin controls differentiation of the retinal pigment epithelium in the mouse optic cup by regulating Mitf and Otx2 expression. *Development*, *136*(15), 2505–2510. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.032136
- Wetts, R., & Fraser, S. E. (1988). Multipotent precursors can give rise to all major cell types of the frog retina. *Science*, 239(4844), 1142–1145. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.2449732
- Witmer, A. N., Vrensen, G. F. J. M., Van Noorden, C. J. F., & Schlingemann, R. O. (2003).
  Vascular endothelial growth factors and angiogenesis in eye disease. *Progress in Retinal and Eye Research*, 22(1), 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1350-9462(02)00043-5
- Wong, L. L., & Rapaport, D. H. (2009). Defining retinal progenitor cell competence in Xenopus laevis by clonal analysis. *Development*, 136(10), 1707–1715. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.027607
- Wu, N., Doorenbos, M., & Chen, D. F. (2016). Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells: Development in the Ophthalmologic Field. *Stem Cells International*, 2016, 2361763undefined. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/2361763

- Wu, S., Chang, K. C., Nahmou, M., & Goldberg, J. L. (2018). Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells Promote Retinal Ganglion Cell Survival After Transplant. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 59(3), 1571–1576. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.17-23648
- Xu, L., Overbeek, P. A., & Reneker, L. W. (2002). Systematic analysis of E-, N- and Pcadherin expression in mouse eye development. *Experimental Eye Research*, 74(6), 753–760. https://doi.org/10.1006/exer.2002.1175
- Xu, S., Sunderland, M. E., Coles, B. L. K., Kam, A., Holowacz, T., Ashery-Padan, R., ... van der Kooy, D. (2007). The proliferation and expansion of retinal stem cells require functional Pax6. *Developmental Biology*, 304(2), 713–721. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2007.01.021
- Yamaguchi, M., Tonou-Fujimori, N., Komori, A., Maeda, R., Nojima, Y., Li, H., ... Masai, I. (2005). Histone deacetylase 1 regulates retinal neurogenesis in zebrafish by suppressing Wnt ad Notch signaling pathways. *Development*, 132(13), 3027–3043. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.01881
- Yanagi, Y., Inoue, Y., Kawase, Y., Uchida, S., Tamaki, Y., Araie, M., & Okochi, H. (2006). Properties of growth and molecular profiles of rat progenitor cells from ciliary epithelium. *Experimental Eye Research*, 82(3), 471–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exer.2005.08.005
- Yang, P., Seiler, M. J., Aramant, R. B., & Whittemore, S. R. (2002). In vitro isolation and expansion of human retinal progenitor cells. *Experimental Neurology*, 177(1), 326–331. https://doi.org/10.1006/exnr.2002.7955
- Yang, X., Chung, J. Y., Rai, U., & Esumi, N. (2018). Cadherins in the retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) revisited: P-cadherin is the highly dominant cadherin expressed in human and mouse RPE in vivo. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(1), e0191279-. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0191279
- Yeo, D., Kiparissides, A., Cha, J. M., Aguilar-Gallardo, C., Polak, J. M., Tsiridis, E., ... Mantalaris, A. (2013). Improving Embryonic Stem Cell Expansion through the Combination of Perfusion and Bioprocess Model Design. *PLoS ONE*, 8(12), e81728. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0081728
- Yoshii, C., Ueda, Y., Okamoto, M., & Araki, M. (2007). Neural retinal regeneration in the anuran amphibian Xenopus laevis post-metamorphosis: Transdifferentiation of retinal pigmented epithelium regenerates the neural retina. *Developmental Biology*, 303(1), 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2006.11.024

- Youn, B. S., Sen, A., Kallos, M. S., Behie, L. A., Girgis-Gabardo, A., Kurpios, N., ... Hassell, J. A. (2005). Large-scale expansion of mammary epithelial stem cell aggregates in suspension bioreactors. *Biotechnology Progress*, 21(3), 984–993. https://doi.org/10.1021/bp050059f
- Youn, Benjamin S., Sen, A., Behie, L. A., Girgis-Gabardo, A., & Hassell, J. A. (2006).
   Scale-up of breast cancer stem cell aggregate cultures to suspension bioreactors.
   *Biotechnology Progress*, 22(3), 801–810. https://doi.org/10.1021/bp050430z
- Young, R. W. (1985a). Cell differentiation in the retina of the mouse. *The Anatomical Record*, 212, 199–205. https://doi.org/10.1002/ar.1092120215
- Young, R. W. (1985b). Cell Proliferation During Postnatal Development of the Retina in the Mouse Preparation of autoradiograms Analysis of autoradiograms. *Dev Brain Res*, 21, 229–239. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-3806(85)90211-1
- Yu, J., Vodyanik, M. A., Smuga-Otto, K., Antosiewicz-Bourget, J., Frane, J. L., Tian, S., ... Thomson, J. A. (2007). Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. *Science*, *318*(5858), 1917–1920. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1151526
- Yuan, Y., Kallos, M. S., Hunter, C., & Sen, A. (2014). Improved expansion of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in microcarrier-based suspension culture. *Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine*, 8(3), 210–225. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.1515
- Yue, F., Johkura, K., Shirasawa, S., Yokoyama, T., Inoue, Y., Tomotsune, D., & Sasaki, K. (2010). Differentiation of primate ES cells into retinal cells induced by ES cell-derived pigmented cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 394(4), 877– 883. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.03.008
- Yun, S., Saijoh, Y., Hirokawa, K. E., Kopinke, D., Murtaugh, L. C., Monuki, E. S., & Levine, E. M. (2009). Lhx2 links the intrinsic and extrinsic factors that control optic cup formation. *Development*. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.041202
- Yun, Sanghee, Saijoh, Y., Hirokawa, K. E., Kopinke, D., Murtaugh, L. C., Monukï, E. S., & Levine, E. M. (2009). Lhx2 links the intrinsic and extrinsic factors that control optic cup formation. *Development*, 136(23), 3895–3906. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.041202
- Yurchenco, P. D., & Wadsworth, W. G. (2004). Assembly and tissue functions of early embryonic laminins and netrins. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, 16(5), 572–579. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2004.07.013
- Zaghloul, N. A., Yan, B., & Moody, S. A. (2005). Step-wise specification of retinal stem cells during normal embryogenesis. *Biology of the Cell*, 97(5), 321–337. https://doi.org/10.1042/bc20040521

- Zagozewski, J. L., Zhang, Q., & Eisenstat, D. D. (2014). Genetic regulation of vertebrate eye development. *Clinical Genetics*, 86(5), 453–460. https://doi.org/10.1111/cge.12493
- Zahraoui, A., Louvard, D., & Galli, T. (2000). Tight junction, a platform for trafficking and signaling protein complexes. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 151(5), F31-6. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.151.5.F31
- Zhang, H., Dai, S., Bi, J., & Liu, K. K. (2011). Biomimetic three-dimensional microenvironment for controlling stem cell fate. *Interface Focus*, Vol. 1, pp. 792–803. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsfs.2011.0035
- Zhang, J., Gray, J., Wu, L., Leone, G., Rowan, S., Cepko, C. L., ... Dyer, M. A. (2004). Rb regulates proliferation and rod photoreceptor development in the mouse retina. *Nature Genetics*, 36(4), 351–360. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1318
- Zhang, X. M., & Yang, X. (2001). Temporal and spatial effects of Sonic hedgehog signaling in chick eye morphogenesis. *Developmental Biology*, 233(2), 271–290. https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.2000.0195
- Zhang, Z. Y., Teoh, S. H., Chong, W. S., Foo, T. T., Chng, Y. C., Choolani, M., & Chan, J. (2009). A biaxial rotating bioreactor for the culture of fetal mesenchymal stem cells for bone tissue engineering. *Biomaterials*, 30(14), 2694–2704. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009.01.028
- Zhao, F., & Ma, T. (2005). Perfusion bioreactor system for human mesenchymal stem cell tissue engineering: Dynamic cell seeding and construct development. *Biotechnology* and Bioengineering, 91(4), 482–493. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.20532
- Zhao, S., Chen, Q., Hung, F. C., & Overbeek, P. A. (2002). BMP signaling is required for development of the ciliary body. *Development*, 129(19), 4435–4442.
- Zhao, Shulei, Thornquist, S. C., & Barnstable, C. J. (1995). In vitro transdifferentiation of embryonic rat retinal pigment epithelium to neural retina. *Brain Research*, 677(2), 300– 310. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(95)00163-K
- Zhao, X., Das, A. V., Soto-Leon, F., & Ahmad, I. (2005). Growth factor-responsive progenitors in the postnatal mammalian retina. *Developmental Dynamics*, 232(2), 349– 358. https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.20290
- Zhou, L., Kong, J., Zhuang, Y., Chu, J., Zhang, S., & Guo, M. (2013). Ex vivo expansion of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells using microcarrier beads in a stirred bioreactor. *Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering*, 18(1), 173–184. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12257-012-0512-5

- Zhou, S., Flamier, A., Abdouh, M., Tétreault, N., Barabino, A., Wadhwa, S., & Bernier, G. (2015). Differentiation of human embryonic stem cells into cone photoreceptors through simultaneous inhibition of BMP, TGFβ and Wnt signaling. *Development*, *142*(19), 3294–3306. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.125385
- Zhu, J., Reynolds, J., Garcia, T., Cifuentes, H., Chew, S., Zeng, X., & Lamba, D. (2018).
  Generation of Transplantable Retinal Photoreceptors from a Current Good
  Manufacturing Practice-Manufactured Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell Line. *Stem Cells Translational Medicine*, 7(2), 210–219. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.17-0205
- Zhu, Jie, Luz-Madrigal, A., Haynes, T., Zavada, J., Burke, A. K., & Rio-Tsonis, K. Del. (2014). β-Catenin Inactivation Is a Pre-Requisite for Chick Retina Regeneration. *PLoS ONE*, 9(7), e101748. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0101748
- Zuber, M. E., Gestri, G., Viczian, A. S., Barsacchi, G., & Harris, W. A. (2003). Specification of the vertebrate eye by a network of eye field transcription factors. *Development*, *130*(21), 5155–5167. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.00723